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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-5300 i-800.852-3345 Ext 5300

Fax:603.271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov

March 2, 2023

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital to
amend an existing contract, which was originally competitively bid. with Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital (VC#177160), Lebanon, NH, for the provision of Neuropsychology Services at New
Hampshire Hospital (NHH) and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH) by
exercising a contract renewal option by increasing the price limitation by $239,869 from $442 505
to $682,374 and extending the completion date from June 30. 2023 to June 30, 2025. effedive
July 1. 2023 or upon Govemor and Council approval, whichever is later. 40% General Funds
60% Other Funds (Provider Fees).

#32.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, item

Funds are anticipated to be available in the following account for State Fiscal Years 2024
and 2025 upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget
with the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget OfRce, if needed and justified.

05-95-94-940010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT
OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, ACUTE PSYCHIATRIC
SERVICES

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number
Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 102-500731
Contracts for
Program Svc 94068000 $108,192 $0 $108,192

2023 102-500731
Contracts for

Program Svc 94058000 $334,313 $0 $334,313

2024 102-500731
Contracts for
Program Svc 94058000 $0 $117,009 $117,009

2025 102-500731
Contracts for
Program Svc 94058000 $0 $122,860 $122,860

1  Total $442,505 $239,869 $682,374



His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
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EXPLANATION

The purpose^ of this request is for the Contractor to continue to deliver neuropsychology
services to New Hampshire Hospital and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital by
providing highly qualified personnel to meet staffing needs and working with the Department to
continue developing and refining an integrated mental health care system by applying principles
of managed care for clinical treatment. The Contractor will continue to provide a 0.5 full-time
equivalent (PTE) neuropsychologist who Is physically present at New Hampshire Hospital Monday
through Friday during normal business hours, unless othenwise approved by the Department. The
neuropsychologist will continue to meet with various inpatient psychiatric and/or forensic patients,
primarily adults, to conduct neuropsychological assessments and testing, analyze results of
neuropsychology assessments, and complete neuropsychology reports. The Contractor will also
provide neuropsychology senrlces at the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital, which Is a
25-bed Inpatient forensic psychiatry facility that is anticipated to be built by June 2025.

Approximately 4300 Individuals will be served during State Fiscal Years 2024, and 2025.
The Department will monitor services by reviewing patient neuropsychology progress and

summary reports, and monthly staff reports provided by the Contractor.

As referenced In Exhibit A, Revisions to Standard Agreenient Provisions, Section 1
Revisions to Form P-37. General Provisions, Subsection 1.1 of the original agreement, the parties
have the option to extend the agreement for up to six (6) additional years, contingent upon
satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties and Governor and
Council approval. The Department Is exercising. Its option to renew services for two (2) of the six
(6) years available.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the State's ability to provide
essential neuropsychology services to adults at NHH and the planned NHFH will be severely
limited, putting those individuals at serious risk.

Area served: Statewide.

In the event that the Other Funds become no longer available, additional General Funds
will not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted.

Lori A. Weaver'

Interim Commissioner

The Deparlmenl of Heallh ond Human Servicee'Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1

This Amendment to the Neuropsychology Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire. Department of Health-and Human. Services {"State" or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (#32), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms arid
conditions specified in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums specified; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 17 and Exhibit A, Revisions to
Standard Agreement Provisions, Section 1, Revisions to Form P-37. General Provisions, Subsection 1.1,
the Contract may be amended upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and
Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows;

1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30, 2025.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$682,374

3. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read:
Robert W. Moore, Director.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services by replacing it in .its entirety with Exhibit B Amendment #1
Scope of Services.

5. Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1 to read:

1. This Agreement is funded by:

1.1 40% General funds.

1.2 60% Other Funds (Provider Fees).

6. Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 3, to read:

3. The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the Budget
below per applicable State Fiscal Year. The Contractor shall be compensated to provide
and deliver the services described In Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis of this
Budget.

Budget
Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year

SPY 2022 3/1/2022-6/30/2022

$108,192

SFY 2023 7/1/2022-6/30/2023

$334,313

SFY 2024 7/1/2023-6/30/2024

$117,009

SFY 2025 7/1/2024-6/30/2025

$122,860

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01

A-S-1.2
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All terms and conditions of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and effect
Tte Amendment shall be effective July 1, 2023, or upon Governor and Council approval whichevert

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below.

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/2/2023

Date

-OocuSlgned by:

i9FTOFo6ilAen Marie Lapointe

Title: chief Executive officer

5/2/2023

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
-OocuSlgned by:

Chief Clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01

A-S-1.2

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form substance and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

5/4/2023 r
obui^ 64.

Guarino

Title. Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on; (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.2

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Page 3 of 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. The Contractor shall provide neuropsychology services at New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH) and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH).

1.2. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar
days.

1.3. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday from 8 AM to 4 PM, excluding state and federal
holidays.

1.4. No services in this agreement can be subcontracted by the Contractor.
1.5. The Department supports training and educational programs for unlicensed

staff and/or educational trainees, but does not intend to incur any expenses as
the result of unlicensed staff and/or educational trainees learning in istate
facilities. The Contractor shall provide all supervision of unlicensed
staff/educational trainees, including coverage during the primary supervisor's
leave time.

1.6. Neuropsvcholoov Services

1.6.1. The Contractor shall provide a one half (0.5) full-time equivalent (FTE)
neuropsychologist who is physically present at NHH and/or NHFH,
Monday through Friday during normal business hours, unless
otherwise approved by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure

*  the neuropsychologist:

1.6.1.1. Has attained a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree in
Psychology or a Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) degree;

1.6.1.2. Has a minimum of two (2) years of post-fellowship
experience in:

1.6.1.2.1. Neurocognitive screening;

1.6.1.2.2. Comprehensive neuropsychological assessment
protocols; and

1.6.1.2.3. Comprehensive neuropsychological report
writing; and

.1.6.1.3. Has experience in the integration of cognitive test results
with data from structural and functional brain imaging;,and

1.6.1.4. Has, at all times, an active Psychologist license issued by
the NH Board of Psychologists.

1.6.2. At the request of the Contractor, the NHH Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) or their designee, may, at their discretion, waiv^^ the

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Inlllals

Page! of 11 Date5/2/2023
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

requirement regarding two (2) years of post-fellowship experience,
referenced in Subparagraph 1.6.1.2. above.

1.6.3. The Contractor shall ensure the onsite neuropsychology services are
provided by a single individual, except when the Contractor is
providing staff coverage due to the individual being on leave, in
accordance with 1.6.15 below.

1.6.4. At the request of the Contractor, the NHH CEO or their designee, may,
at their discretion, modify the requirement for a single
neuropsychologist described in Paragraph 1.6.2 above.

1.6.5. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist rheels with various
inpatient psychiatric and/or forensic patients, primarily adults, to
conduct neuropsychological assessments and testing.

1.6.6. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist analyzes results of
neuropsychology assessments, and completes neuropsychology
reports, in the format requested by the Department, within five (5)
business days of completing patient testing, which includes but is not-
limited to:

1.6.6.1. Reviewing all past psychiatric, medical records,
neuropsychological testing and behavioral incidents; and

1.6.6.2. Providing recommendations for treatment.

1.6.7. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist participates in a
team-based care model, which includes but is not limited to:

1.6.7.1. Actively contributing to patient treatment plans and
discussions.

1.6.7.2. Developing and maintaining positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families; advocates, community
providers and other interest groups vital to the functioning
of the Department's system of care, including for the
purpose of transition planning, by adhering to the
Department's policies and standards.

1.6.8. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist has the capacity to
act as an internal consultant to other providers, as identified by the
Department, relative to neuropsychology and its potential applications
and uses in the context of patient populations.

1.6.9. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist has the ability to
.  appear and testify in all court and administrative hearings, as required

by the Department.

1.6.1 d. The Contractor shall deliver neuropsychology services to NHH and the
planned NHFH by: ds

6JH
RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractorlnitials

B-1.0 Page2of1l Oa{eV2/2023
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

1.6.10.1. Providing highly qualified personnel; and

1.6.10.2. Working with the New Hampshire Department of Health
and Human Services ("Department") to continue
developing and refining an integrated mental health care
system by applying principles of managed care for clinical
treatment.

1.6.11. The Contractor shall recruit and retain a qualified individual
("Contractor Personnel") to fulfill the requirements described herein
within six (6) months of the contract effective date. The Contractor
shall ensure:

1.6.11.1. All Contractor personnel are employees of the Contractor.

1.6.11.2. No Contractor personnel are considered employees of the
_  State of New Hampshire.

1.6.12. The Contractor agrees that one half (0.5) PTE is equal to one half (0.5)
full-time employee who works twenty (20) hours per week.

1.6.13. The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor personnel meet and adhere
to:

1.6.13.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license
category; .

1.6.13.2. Behavioral policies of the Department;

1.6.13.3. Department information security and privacy policies and
use agreements, which have been provided to the
Contractor; and

1.6.13.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, and NHFH, as well as New Hampshire
Department of Information Technology (DolT) security
policies.

1.6.14. The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are
continuously filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall:

1.6.14.1. Provide the appropriate Department designee with monthly
updates on the recruitment process for all unfilled positions.

1.6.15. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing, at no
additional cost to and subject to approval by the Department, qualified,
credentialed, sufficient staff coverage to fill any gap in coverage during
any anticipated leave time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing
medical education leave lasting more than three (3) consecutive days
unless otherwise agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the NHH
CEO, and for providing appropriate transition between staff covering

>  DS

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initiala^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

for those on leave. Qualified sufficient staff coverage means personnel
who meet or exceed the qualifications of the vacating staff member
who have current credentials to work at NHH.

1.6.16. The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by FIE units on a
monthly basis to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required
to provide hourly timecards for clinical staff.

1.6.17. The Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully
addressed by modifying the number of hours per week worked by Part-,
Time staff, as requested by the Department. The Contractor shall
ensure Part-Time staff work the appropriate number of hours in
accordance with PTE allocation.

1.7. Additional Requirements

1.7.1. In the event of a healthcare system emergency, including but not
limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility closures, or mass-
quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are required due

,  to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may also be
required to adjust the total number of staff to fully address the care
needs of patients.

1.7.2. All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval
by the Department. The Department will inform the Contractor of any
applicable Department designee for this purpose per position.

1.7.3. The Department, at its sole discretion, may rescind, either
permanently or temporarily, its approval of any Contractor personnel
providing any services for any of the following reasons:

1.7.3.1. . Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license,
certification or other contractual requirement to perform
such services under the contract;

1.7.3.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily
provide required services;

1.7.3.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or
alcohol related offense;

1.7.3.4. Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational
structure, lack of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

1.7.3.5: Any other reason that includes, but is not limited to:
misconduct; violation of Department policy; violation of
state or federal laws and regulations pertaining to the
applicable Department service area; or a determination
made by the Department that the individual presents a risk

J  OS

CjjU
RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initial;
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

^to the health and safety of any staff member or any
individual served by the Department.

1.7.4. In the event of such rescission, the Department will, to the extent
possible, provide the Contractor with reasonable advance notice and
the applicable reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff
member(s) are prohibited from providing services for the period of time
that the Department exercises this right. No additional payments will
be paid by the State of New Hampshire for any staff removed from
duty by the Department for any reason. The Contractor;

1.7.4.1. Shall, unless the Contractor personnel was removed from
providing services under Section 1.7.3.4., provide
replacement personnel who meet all of the applicable
requirements under the contract, including but not limited
to being subject to Department approval;

1.7.4.2. Shall furnish within ten (10) business days replacement
staff who meet all of the requirements for the applicable
position if the duration of a temporarily rescinded approval
is greater than seven (7) calendar days. The Contractor
shall be Jnformed by the Department the anticipated
duration for which approval will remain rescinded. The
Contractor shall be responsible for providing, at no
additional cost to the Department, transition services to the
Department to avoid service interruption;

1.7.4.3. May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any
internal personnel actions against its own employees
Nothing herein prohibits the Contractor from seeking
information ̂  from the Department regarding the
Departments decision, unless such information is
otherwise restricted from disclosure by the Department
based on internal Department policies or rules. State of
New Hampshire personnel policies, rules, collective
bargaining agreements, or other state or federal laws.

1.7.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all
required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
contract.^The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all such documents. The Contractor shall not
hold the Department financially liable for any fees or costs for any
licenses, certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs
incurred for providing copies of said licenses or certifications^os

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor InltialJ
Page 5 of 11 Date5/2/20^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

1.7.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for employees,
the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the
applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and policies of the Contractor. However, the
Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday schedule'.

1.7.7. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are
completed for all Contractor personnel. The Contractor shall
incorporate feedback from the applicable Department designee for
such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure that goal development and
performance monitoring is responsive to the evolving needs of the
Department over the course of the contract period.

1.7.8. The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee
relations and performance management issues for the staff provided,
in accordance with the Contractor's policies and applicable NHH^
NHFH, and/or State of New Hampshire policies.

1.7.9. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel
provided undergo the following criminal background, registry,
screening and medical examinations:

1.7.9.1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal
background):

1.7.9.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;
1.7.9.3. Division for Children. Youth and Families Central Registry

and.

1.7.9.4. Physical capacity examination.

1.7.10. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor personnel assigned to perform
services under the Agreement comply with all Department
requirements, policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention,
mitigation, and control to mitigate the risks of disease transmission
prior .to the commencement of services.

1.7.11. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry,
screening and medical examinations above are kept current as
required .and in accordance with the Department's confidentiality
policy; the Department receives copies of all required documentation-
prior to the commencement of services; and the Department is not be
responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining the documentation.

1.7.12. The Contractor shall not utilize any personnel, including
Subcontractors, to fulfill the obligations of the contract, who have>foeen

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initial
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

convicted of any crime of dishonesty, including but not limited to
criminal fraud, or othen/vise convicted of any felony or misdemeanor
offense for which incarceration for up to one (1) year is an authorized
penalty. The Contractor,shall initiate a criminal background check re-
investigation of all personnel provided every five (5) years. The
Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date of
the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor or
their agents.

1-8. State-Owned Devices. Svstems and Network Usage

1.8.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not
limited to computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in fulfilling' the
requirements of the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all
Contractor personnel:

1.8.1.1. Use the information that they have permission to access
solely for the provision of services hereunder, or conducting
official State business. All other use or access is strictly
forbidden including, but not limited, to personal or other
private and non-State use, and that at no time shall, except
as necessary to provide services hereunder, Contractor
workforce or agents access or attempt to access

^  information without having the express authority of the
Department to do so;

1.8.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner
inconsistent with the approved policies, procedures, and/or
agreement relating to system entry/access;

1.8.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse
engineer, rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or
being evaluated by the State. At all times the Contractor
must use utmost care to protect and keep such software
strictly confidential in accordance with the license or any
other agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State
of New Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-
standard sof^are shall not be installed on any equiprfient
unless authorized by the Department's Information Security
Office:

1.8.1.4. Agree that email and other electronic communication
messages created, sent, and received on a State-issued
email system are the property of the State of New
Hampshire and to be used for business purposes only.
Email is defined as "internal email systems" or "State-C—DS

Page7of11 Date5/2/2023



DocuSign Envelope ID; C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

funded email systems." The Contractor understands and
agrees that use of email shall follow Department and State
of New Hampshire standard policies; and

1.8.1.5. Use the internet and/or Intranet for access to and
distribution of information in direct support of the business
of the State of New Hampshire according to policy of the
Department. At no time.should the internet be used for
personal use.

1.9. Kev Performance Indicators

1.9.1. The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologist complies with the
following Key Performance Indicators:

1.9.1.1. Neuropsychology Reports

1.9.1.1.1. Completed, as noted in an Individual Progress
Note in the patient's medical record, and hard
copy of the'report submitted for filing with the
Medical Records Technician, within five (5)
business days of completing patient testing.

1.9.1.1.2. Contents within assessment summary reports are
compliant with all Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (CMS) and Department
documentation requirements.

1.9.1.2. . Standardized Process

1.9.1.2.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

1.9.1.3. Annual Reviews

1.9.1.3.1. Annual reviews are documented on all staff
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall
ensure performance evaluations are in
compliance with professional standards for
evaluations per CMS and The Joint Commission
guidelines.

1.9.1.4. NHH and NHFH Policies

1.9.1.4.1. Adherence to NHH and NHFH policies including,
,  but not limited to policies on Medical Records

Documentation and Progress Notes.

2. Exhibits Incorporated

2.1. . The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Inforrnalian in

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-0.1-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initial:
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability. Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

2.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K. DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

2.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

3. Reporting Requirements

3.1. The Contractor shall provide monthly staff reports to the Department to
sufficiently document actual staffing levels and services rendered. Monthly staff
reports shall include the following:

3.1.1. Monthly staffing schedule:

3.1.2. Actual hours worked within the monthly reporting period; and
3.1.3. Actual hours allocated to sick time, leave time, or any other non-clinicai

time within the monthly reporting period.

4. Performance Measures

4.1.' The Department will' monitor Contractor performance by reviewing the
Contractors compliance with the key performance indicators described above,
and the monthly staff reports provided by the Contractor.

4.2. The Contractor shall actively and regularly collaborate with the Department to
enhance contract management, improve results, and adjust program delivery
and policy based on successful outcomes.

4.3. The Contractor may be required to provide other key data and metrics to the
Department, including client-level demographic, performance, and service
data.

4.4. Where applicable, the Contractor shall collect and share data with the
Department in a format specified by the Department.

5. Additional Terms

5.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes
5.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal

legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State of New Hampshire has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirehients under this Agreement
so as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
state or federal legislation or court order impacts the ̂ ?Vices

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 . Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor lnitial|^
B-1,0 ' Page 9 of 11 Date5/2/2023
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

described herein, the. Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such modification
and the Department shall consider Contractor's reasonable requests
with respect to such modifications. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Department shall retain the final right to modify Service priorities and
expenditure requirements under this.Agreement so as to achieve
compliance with any future state or federal legislation or court orders
that have an impact on the Services described herein.

5.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

5.2.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the performance of the services
of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State' of New
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human
Services."

5.2.2. All materials purchased under the Agreement shall have prior approval
,  from the Department before printing, production, distribution or use.

5.2.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original materials produced, including, but not limited to:

5.2.3.1. Brochures.

5.2.3.2. Resource directories.

5.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.

5.2.3.4. Posters.

5.2.3.5. Reports:

5.2.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

5.3. Eligibility Determinations

5.3.1. If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals such eligibility determination
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Mospital Contractor Initials
eiH

B-1.0 Page10of11 DateV2/2023
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B Amendment #1

I

5.3.2. Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such
times as are prescribed by the Department.

5.3.3. In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder. which file shall include all information necessary to support
an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department reasonably requests in writing. The Contractor shall
furnish the Department with all forms and documentation regarding
eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

5.3.4. The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder,
as well as individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing
regarding that determination! The Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out an
application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be
informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in accordance with
Department regulations.

6. Records

6.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

6.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidericing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received or collected by the Contractor.

6.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all
such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the
Department, and to include, without lirnitation, all ledgers, books,
records, and original evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions
and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials, inventories,'
valuations of in-kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other
records requested or required by the Department.

7. Continuity of^ervices and Liquidated Damages
7.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with.

Exhibit 0, Payment Terms, Section 14.

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01-A01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractorinitiaii
B-1-0 Page 11 of 11 Date5/2/2023



DocuSign Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-D8FDDFDE587C

state of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of Slate of the Slate of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL

HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889. 1
further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is in good standing as
far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number: 0005760740

%

©

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 18th day of April A.D.'2022.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State
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Dartmouth
Health DsirtmouthTHitciicock [ Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I,- Roberta L. l-liiies. MD. of Dartriiouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do
hereby certify that;

1. lam the duly elected,Chair of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock.Cllnic and Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital;

2. The following is ;a true and accurate excerpt from the June 22'^, 2017 Bylaws of partmouth-
Hitchcock Clinic and .Mary I-fitchcock Memorial Hospital:
ARTICtE I - Section A. Eiduciai*y Duty. SteWnrdship oVcr Corporate Assets
"In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board may, consistenfwith the Goiporation's.Aiticies of
Agreement aiid these Bylaws, delegate authority to the Board of Governors, Board Committees

and various officers thetight to giye input with respect to issues arid strategies, incur
indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contracts and agreements and take such otiier binding
actions on behalf of the-Corporation aa may be, necessary Or desirable in furtherance of its
charitable purposes."

3. Article j - Section A, as rcfefchccd above, provides authority for the chief officers, including the
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Clinical Pfficer; and other oncers, of Partmouth-Hitchcocjc
Clinic and :Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital to sign and deliver, either individually or
collectively, on behalf of'Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4. Edward J. Merrens, MD, is the Chief Clinical Officer of Dartnioutii-Hitchcock Clinic and Maiy
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and therefore has the authority to enter into Contracts and agreements
on behajfof partmo.uth-Hjtchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock .Memorial Hospital,

5.. The foregoitYg authority .sh.all.reniain in,full force andoffect as of the d.ateof the-
agreement executed or action taken in reliance iipon this Certificate. This, authority shall
remain valid for thirty (30) daysfrom the date of this Certificate and, the State of New

-Hampshire shall be entitled to rely iippri same, until written notice of modification,
rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the. State of
New Hampshire.

IN WIThlES.S WHERE.OF, 1 have hefeunto setmy hahd:as theiChairofthe Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-^

Hitchcock Clinic and Maiv Hitchcock Memorial Hospitalithis day of D03

Rdberta.L. Hihes, MD, B.oaid Chair

STATE.OFNH

COUNTY

The^i^*cd5g,jJj^mii6^^ acknowledged before me this dav of 3.Q3l3. by Roberta
L Mines, Mg. •. : 1

Noto-y Public / /.
My Commission Expires: Y/y 03 if
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE
Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington. VT 05401
INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive Lebanon,
NH 03756

(603)653-6850

DATE: November 16,
2022

This cenificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVER>\GES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document witli respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE

GENERAL

LIABILITY

CLAIMS MADE

POLICY NUMBER

0002022-A

OCCURRENCE

OTHER

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

CIvAIMSMADE

OCCURENCE

OTHER

0002022-A

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

7/1/2022

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

7/1/2023

7/1/2022 7/1/2023

LIMITS

EACH

OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

MEDICAL

EXPENSES

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY

GENERAL

AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS-

COMP/OP AGG

EACH CLAIM

ANNUAL

AGGREGATE

$2,000,000

$1,000,000

N/A

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)
Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health & Human Services

129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION ^
Should any of ihc above described policies be cancelled before the expirallon dale
thereof, the Issuing company will endeavor to mall 30 DAYS written notice to the
ceriincate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shaii Impose no
obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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DARTHIT-01

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
/\C:OKD'

CSMITH10

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURERfS) AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement ori
this cortlficats does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsemontls)

PRODUCER License w 1760862

HUB International New England
100 Central Street
Suite 201

Holllston, MA 01746

Lauren Stiles

PHONE FAX
(A/C.No.ExH: (/UC.Not:

l(^?)MbssLauren.Stile80>hubinternatlonai.com

INSURERfSl AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICK

INSURER A Safety Nationai Casualtv CorDoration 15105
(NSUREO

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
1 Medical Center Dr.

Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER a

INSURER C

INSURER 0

INSIIRFR P

INSURER F

T

IN

C

E

POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOWHAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
DICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECTTO WHICH THIS
ERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECTTO ALL THE TERMS
KCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY P^D CUMMS I lO ALL THE TERMS,

LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE
AUOL

INSD
SUBR

WVD POUCYNUMBER
POLICY EFF

(MM/DOf/YYYI
POLICY EXP

UMITS

COMMERCIAL G£NERAL LIABILITY

3E P] OCCUR EACH OCCURRFNOF $
CLAIMS-MA DAMAGE TO RENTED

S

PERSONAL & ADV IN.II IRY

GE•TL AGGREGATE UMIT APPLIES PER;

POLICY 1 1 Pi LOO
OTHER:

GENERAL AGGRFGATF

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGO $

AUT OMOBILE LIABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
fFa ecrirtenll s

ANY AUTO

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

aIj^ ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS

BODILY INJURY fPer oersonl s

BODILY INJURY IPer erdrlenll s

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per BrrJdentl $

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRFNOF $

AGGREGATE

DED RETENTIONS'

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABIUTY ^ ̂ ̂
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/ExeCUTIVE 1 1

■  1—1
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPFRATIONR below

N/A

AGC4066562 7/1/2022 7/1/2023

Y PER OTH-
^ STATUTF FR

E.l, FAOHACCIOFNT J  1,000,000

E.L DISEARF - FA FMPIOYFF j  1,000,000

5  1,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS 1 VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schaduls, may ba sttachad If mort spaea Is rsqulrad)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for ■ k- »

Cheshire Medical Center

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health Center

NH DHHS

129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

<

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth
Hitchcock Clinics

/

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health

(https://wv/w.dartmouth-heaith.org)—include Dartmouth Hltchcock Medical Center, the state's

only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary
and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont.

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and

faculty as welt as other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the

cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient. ■

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock

Clinics?

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

HT

a
u

7 ; A I

v..

L_!m ii.'

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center, and the

only Level I Adult and Level II Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth

Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART). based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides

ground and air medical transportation to communities throughout northern New England.

In 2022, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named the #1 hospital in New

Hampshire by U.S. News & World Report {https://health.usnews.com/best-hospitals/area/nh), and

recognized as high performing in 2 adult specialties. Cancer and Neurology/Neurosurgery.

as well as in 12 common adult procedures and conditions.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout New
Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices In Lebanon, Concord,
Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New Hampshire, and Bennington, Vermont.

ChUdren's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is New Hampshire's only
children's hospital and a member of the Children's Hospital Association, providing
advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock
Medical Center.

.1

VC'

m

z

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon (hitps://cancer.dartmouth.edu/), one of only 53
NCI-deslgnated Comprehensive Cancer Centers In the nation, is one of the premier
facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every
time.
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Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our
region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

.• Community i

About Dartmouth Health (https;//www,dartmouth-health.org/)

Copyright © 2025 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics. All rights reserved.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and
Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
JufTe 30, 2022 aiid 2021
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of

•  cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe'that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
■P: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, u'ww.pwc.com/us



DocuSign Envelope ID; C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

pwc

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

•  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental lT\formation

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating information as of and for the years ended June 30,
2022 and 2021 is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves and other additional

procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for
purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the individual companies and is not a required
part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the individual companies.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 16, 2022
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022 and 2021

Uabillties and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16)
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 16)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11)
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3,4, 6, 7,10,13, and 16)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9)
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021
Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7)
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6)
Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16)
Other assets

Total assets

$  191,929 $  374,928
251,250 232,161

169,133 157,318

612,312 764,407

,  1,181,094 1,378,479
.175,116 168,035

.  764,840 680,433
58,925 58,410

172,163 177,098

$  2,964,450 $  3,226,862

$  6,596 $  ■ 9,407
11,319 11,289

3,500 3,468

156,572 131,224

190,560 182,070

134,898 252,543

503,445 590,001

1,117,288 1,126,357

48,824 48,167

78,391 79,974

228,606 224,752

154,096 214,714

2,130,650 2,283,965

634,297 758,627

199,503 .  184,270

833,800 942,897

$  2,.964,450 $1  3,226,862

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021
Operating revenue and other support
Net patient service revenue {Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue (Note 4) •
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest (Note 10)

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income

Non-operating (losses) gains
Investment (loss) income, net (Note 5)
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14)
Other losses, net (Note 10)

Total non-operating (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

$  2.243.237 $  .2,138,287
77,666 85.263

534,031 424,958
. 15,894 15,201

2,870,828 2,663,709

1,315,407 1,185,910

322.570 302,142
649,272 545,523
403,862 383,949
82,725 72,941
86,958 88,921
32,113 30,787

2,892,907 . 2,610,173

(22,079) 53,536

(78,744) 203,776

13,910 13,559
(6,658) (4,233)

(71.492) 213,102

J  (93,571) $  266,638

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30. 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dollars) 2022
Net assets without donor restrictions
{Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11}
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions
Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment (loss) income, net
Net assets released from restrictions

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

$  (93,

2021

571) $ 266,638
1.573 2,017

(32,309) 59,132
(23) (186)

(124.3301 327,601

39,710 30,107
(7,010) 19,153

(17.4671 (17,2181

15,233 32,042

(109,097) 359,643

942.897 583,254

$  833,800 $ 942,897

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands of dc^lars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

V Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net
Amortization of right-of-use asset
Payments on rightof-use lease obligations - operating
Change in funded status of pension artd other postreliremenl benefits
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments
Restricted contributions and investment earnings
Proceeds from sales of donated securities
Changes in assets and liabilities

Patient accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other poslretirement benefits
Other liabilities

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Purchases of investments

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit

Payments on line of credit
Repayment of long-term debt
Repayment of finance leases
Payment of debt issu^ce costs
Restricted contributions and investment earnings

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid
Constnjction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Donated securities

restricted cash on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets limited as to use
Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows

2022 2021

$  (109,097) $ 359,643

87,006 88,904
(2,764) (2,820)
9,270 10,034
(9,190) (9,'844)
32,309 (59,132)
(523) 592

86,652 (228,489)
(20,151) (3.445)
10,665

-

(19,089) (48,342)
(9,915) 4,588
2,517 (39,760)

17,104 1,223
8,490 39,079

(120,117) 9,787

(1,583) 2,828
(28,422) (40,373)
(56.687) 11,267

(123,525) 95,740

(160,855) (122,347)
613 316

(65,286) (95,943)
137.781 75,071

(87.747) (142,903)

30,000

(30,000) .

(9,116) (9,183)
(3.253) (3.117)

- (230) •
20,151 3,445

7,782 (9,085)

(203,490) (56,248)

396,975 453,223

$  193,485 $ 396,975

$  42,867 $ 41,819

9,407 16,192
10,665

•

1 cash, cash equivalents and

2022 2021

S  191,929 $ 374,928
1,350 18,500
206 3,547

$  193,485 $ 396,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries {the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System's mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time. The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries. Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries. (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse and Hospice for
Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (vt). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the
principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College.

D-HH, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On September 30, 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health (GOH) entered into an agreement (The
Combination Agreement) to combine their respective healthcare systems. The parties submitted
filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's Office,
seeking regulatory clearance of the proposed transaction. On May 13, 2022, D-HH and GOH
ended their pursuit of regulatory approval of the transaction and terminated the Combination
Agreement.

Community Benefits
Consistent with its mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an integrated
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the cornmunity and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Improvement Services Include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

•  Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses Incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,

.  leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

•  The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2021 was approximately $198,859,000. The 2022 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2023.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2021:

(in thousands of dollars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $ 198,859
Health professional education 41,554
Subsidized health services 16,785
Charity care 12,678

Community health improvement services. 13,589
Research . , 4,839

Cash and In-Kind Contributions 4,741
Community building activities 2.885

Total community benefit value $ 295.930

In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $452,000 and $848,000, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled $105,460,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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(Deficiency) Exciess of Revenue over Expenses
The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment (loss) income on investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, Including realized gains/losses on sales of investment securities and changes
in unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating (losses) gains.

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess
of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. • Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions Is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indidators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System" expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as -
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have beer) classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
Includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities. Act (CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)

10
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from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), operating agreements, grant revenue,
cafeteria sales, and other support service revenue (Note 3 and 4).

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investnients (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment (Loss) Income
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity, funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master Investment program'of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
ail of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments
The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below;

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

11



DocuSign Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable; prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment
■ Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,885,000 and $9,403,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation of the London inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAR to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation's healthcare system. In response to COVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds j

The Health System received $100,346,000 and $65,600,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Health System will continue to
pursue Provider Relief Funds as available, and as needed, to support the Health System.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic.' If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief Funds
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awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
by another source plus losses incurred, due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 2022.

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000.
Repayment of funds commenced in April 2021. The balances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at June 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are Included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the C0\/ID-19 pandemic
including protecting the health and safety of employees and patients as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies to be better positioned for
potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the.impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health System cannot accurately predict
the full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the Health System's future finances and
operations.

4. Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which It expects to be entitled In exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point In time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are, typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC). subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education,. direct graduate .medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health Systems cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement Is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audjt.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill Is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts

. qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2022 and 2021, home health provider taxes paid were
$627,000 and $623,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on -
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collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and. Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must, be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
Investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or Investigations. As of June 30, 2022
and 2021, the Health System had reserves of $134,898,000 and $252,543,000, respectively,
recorded in estimated third-party settlements. As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, estimated third-party
settlements includes $54,880,000 and $179,382,000 respectively, of Medicare accelerated and
advanced payments, received as working capital support during the novel coronavirus ("COVID-
19") outbreak.

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, additional increases in revenue of $19,743,000 and
$4,287,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied In prior years.

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients
.covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

2022

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital.
Medicare $ 542,292 $  99,976 $  642,268
Medlcald 158,121 15,739 173,860
Commercial 809,736 81,395 891,131
Self-pay 7,027 902 7,929

Subtotal 1,517,176 198,012 ■  1.715,188

Professional 470,559 40,186 510,745

Subtotal 1,987,735 238,198 2,225,933

Home based care 17,304

Subtotal 2,243,237

Other revenue 528,762
Provider Relief Funds 98,829

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,870,828

2021

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 526,114 $  81,979 $  608,093
Medicaid 144,434 11,278 155,712
Commercial 793,274 73,388 866,662
Self-pay 4.419 ■  (721) 3,698

Subtotal 1,468,241 165,924 1,634,165

Professional 446,181 37,935 484,116

Subtotal 1,914,422 203,859 2,118,281

Home based care 20,006

Subtotal 2,138,287

Other revenue 462,517
Provider Relief Funds 62,905

Total operating revenue and other support $  2,663,709

Medlcald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital
On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
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event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SPY) 2021 through SPY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $77,488,000 and $67,940,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $75,988,000 and approximately $61,602,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System recorded $82,725,000 and
$72,941,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets.

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payers into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30. 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Medicare 38% 34%

Medicaid 12% 13%

Commercial 38% 41%

Self Pay 12% m
Total 100% 100%
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5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments $  31,130 $  24,692
U.S. government securities .126,222 157,373
Domestic corporate debt securities ^ 234,490 322,616
Global debt securities . 68,610 74,292
Domestic equities 198,742 247.486
International equities 63,634 81,060
Emerging markets equities 34,636 -  52,636
Global equities 73,035 79,296
Real Estate Investment Trust 2 422

Private equity funds 138,605 110,968
Hedge funds 55,069 -

Subtotal 1,024,175 . 1,150,841

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 27,242 26,759
Domestic corporate debt securities 7,902 5,979
Global debt securities 7,595 6,617
Domestic equities 10,091 11,396
International equities 4,692 6,488

Subtotal 57,522 57,239

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 9)
Cash and short-term investments 99,397 ■  170,399

Total assets limited as to use 1,181,094 1,378,479

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 8,463 13,400
U.S. government securities 27,600 28,330
Domestic corporate debt securities 37,343 40,676
Global debt securities 10,059 8,953
Domestic equities 34,142 33,634
Intemational equities 10,698 9,497
Emerging markets equities 5,587 5,917
Global equities 11,153 8,755
Real Estate Investment Trust 19 21

Private equity funds 21,166 12,251
Hedge funds • 8,852 6,557
Other 34 44

Total other investments for restricted activities 175,116 168,035

• Total investments $ 1,356,210 $ 1,546.514
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Investments are accounted for using eittier the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in,
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized as of June 30.
2022 and 2021. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Global equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

Total investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities

Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Global equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

Total investments

FairValue Eaultv . Total

$  138,990 $ - $  138,990
181,064 - •  181,064
118,642 161,093 279,735
57,558 28,706 86,264

191,767 51,208 242,975
47,631 31,393 79,024

298 39,926 40,224
- 84,187 84.187

21 - 21

- 159,771 159,771
443 63,478 63,921
34 - 34

$  .736,448 $ 619,762 ;5  1,356,210

2021

FairValue Eauitv Total

$  208,491 $ -  $ 208,491
212,462 - 212,462
191,112 178,159 369,271
55,472 34,390 89,862

225,523 66,993 292,516
55,389 41,656 97,045
1,888 56,665 58,553

- 88,051 88,051
443 ■ - 443

.  - 123,219 123,219
446 6,111 6,557
44 ■ - 44

$  951,270 $ 595,244 $ 1,546,514
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For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, investment (loss) income Is reflected in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other
operating revenue of approximately $857,000 and $930,000, respectively, and as non-operating
(losses) gains of approximately ($78,744,000) and $203,776,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the Intent of the Health System to hold these, investments until the fund has fully
distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire.
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $75,070,000 and $47,419,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Land $  40,749 $  40,749
Construction in progress 163,145 80,231
Land improvements 44,834 43,927
Buildings and improvements 984,743 955.094
Equipment 1,042,582 993,899

Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,276,053 2,113,900

Less accumulated depreciation 1,511,213 1,433,467

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $  764,840 $  680,433

As of June 30, 2022. construction in progress primarily consists of three projects; an in-patient
tower, an emergency department (ED) expansion, and a central pharmacy/supply chain facility
renovation. The estimated cost to complete the in-patient tower is $52,400,000 with an anticipated
completion date occurring in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023. The estimated cost to complete the ED
expansion is $2,000,000 with an expected completion date occurring in the first quarter of fiscal
2023. The estimated cost to complete the central pharmacy/supply chain facility is $1,600,000 with
an expected completion date occurring in the first quarter of fiscal 2023.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2021, included the Manchester Ambulatory Surgical
Center (ASC) and the in-patient tower in Lebanon, NH. The ASC was fully operational in October
2021.

Capitalized interest of $6,853,000 and $5,127,000 is included in construction in progress as of June
30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

^ Depreciation expense included in operating and non-operating activities was $83,661,000 and
$86,011,000 for 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded {Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value {Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments In mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business In the respective active market {Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

2022

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2

Assets .
Investments

Cash and short term investments $  138,990 3
U.S. government securities 181,064
Domestic corporate debt securities 1,768 116,874
Global debt securities 24,745 32,813
Domestic equities 187,063 4,704
International equities 47,631
Emerging market equities 298 _

Real estate investment trust 21

Hedge funds 443 .

Other
- 34

Level 3 Total

Cash and short-term investments 8,053
U.S. government securities 36

Domestic corporate debt securities 10,874
Global debt securities 964

Domestic equities 33,742
International equities 4,911
Emerging market equities 19

Real estate 12

Multi strategy fund 57,964

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 116,575

138,990

181.064

118,642

57,558

191,767

47,631

298

21

443

34

Total fair value investments 582.023 154,425 - 736,448
Deferred compensation plan assets

8,053

36

10,874

964

33,742

4,911

19

12

-  - - 57,964

116,575

Beneficial interest in trusts ' - . , 16,051 16 051
Total assets $ 698,598 $ 154,425 $ 16,051 $ 869,074
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2021

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets ,

Investments

Cash and short term investments $  208,491 $ -  $ _ $  208,491
U.S. government securities 212,462 212,462
Domestic corporate debt securities 36,163 154,949 191,112
Global debt securities 27.410 28,062 55,472 ■
Domestic equities ■  220,434 5,089 225,523
International equities 55,389 • 55,389
Emerging market equities 1,888 . 1,888
Real estate investment trust 443 443
Hedge funds 446 446
Other 9 35 44

Total fair value investments 763,135 188,135 951,270

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 6,099 . 6,099
U.S. government securities 48 . 48
Domestic corporate debt securities 10,589 . 10,589
Global debt securities 1,234 _ 1,234
Domestic equities 37,362 . • 37,362

.  International equities 5,592 . 5,592
Emerging market equities 39 _ '  . 39
Real estate 15 . 15
Multi strategy fund 65,257 . 65,257
Guaranteed contract - . *

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 126,235 - • 126,235

Beneficial interest in trusts
- - 10,796 10,796

Total assets I 889,370 $ 188,135 $ 10,796 $  1,088,301

The following tables set forth the financial instruments classified by the Health System within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above as of June 30, 2022 and 2021.

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginning of year balance
Net realized/unrealized gains

End of year balance

2022

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual

Trust

10,796

5.255

16,051
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2021

Beneficial

Interest in

(in thousands of dollars)
Perpetuai

Trust

Guaranteed

Contract Totai

Beginning of year balance
Net realized/unrealized gains (losses)

$  9,202
1,594

$  92

(92)

$  9,294
1,502

End of year balance $  10,796 $ $  10,796

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30 2022 and
2021:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Investments held in perpetuity $  84,117 $ 64,498
Healthcare services 36,123 38,869
Health education 27,164 26,934
Research 27,477 24,464
Charity care 12,155 15,377
Other 8,639 7,215
Purchase of equipment 3,828 6,913

Total net assets with donor restrictions . $  199,503 $ 184,270

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
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accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation, of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total returri from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that, attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence.prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30. 2022 and 2021.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30 2022 and
2021: ' • . '

2022

Without . With

Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  107,590 :$  107,590
Board-designated endowment funds 41,344 - 41,344

Total endowed net assets $  . 41,344 $  107,590 ;$  148,934

1
2021

Without With

Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  108,213 :i  108,213
Board-designated endowment funds 41,728 - 41,728

Total endowed net assets $  41,728 $  108,213 :E  149,941

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as folio

2022

Without With '
Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $ 149,941
Net investment return {1.065) (3,998) (5,063)
Contributions

- 12,950 12,950
Transfers 795 (7,105) (6,310)
Release of appropriated funds (114) (2,470) (2,584)

End of year balances $  41,344 $  107,590 $ 148,934

End of year balances

/

107,590
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 14,903

Net assets with donor restrictions $  122,493
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2021
^ •

Without With

Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Beginning of year balances $  33.714 $  80,039 $ 113,753
Net investment return 7,192 17.288 24,480
Contributions 894 13,279 14,173
Transfers - 418 418
Release of appropriated funds (72) (2,811) (2,883)

End of year balances $  41,728 $  108,213 $ 149,941

End of year balances 108,213
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 9,721

Net assets with donor restrictions $  117,934
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds.

Series 2018A, principal maturing In varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 83.355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1)
Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2)
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3)
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3)
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4)
Series 20180. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5)
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6)
Series 2014B. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7)

Series 2016B. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8)
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7)

Note payable

Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125.000 125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1.044,722 $ 1,053,637

303.102 303,102

125,000 125,000

122.435 122,435

109,800 109,800

99.165 99,165

23,950 24.425

22,605 23,470

14.530 14,530

10,970 10,970

4,810 12,385
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046 $  2,417 $ 2,489
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2034; collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free 247 273
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through December 2024;
collateralized by associated equipment 55 147

Total nonobligated group debt 2,719 2,909

Total obligated group debt ' 1,044,722 1,053,637

Total long-term debt 1,047,441 1,056,546

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 83,249 86,399

Less: Current portion 6,596 9,407
Debt issuance costs, net 6,806 7,181

Total long-term debt, net $  1.117,288 $ 1,126,357

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2022

2023 $  6,596
2024 15,207
2025 19,362
2026 20,209
2027 20,915
Thereafter 965,152

Total $  1,047,441

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt -
MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
"Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH,
MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered In
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
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of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateraiized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 201BA and Series 201 SB, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 20188 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.
The interest on the Series 20188 revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.18% and
matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds. Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable .amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on, the Series 2020A revenue bonds Is fixed'
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2D17B, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is
fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 20178 revenue bonds is fixed
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

r

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A, in October 2019. The Series
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily-to
fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester. NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C, in August 2018. The Series 2018C
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
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the Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of
3.22%.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

(7) Series 2014A and Series 20148 Revenue Bonds '

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022. The Series 2014B revenue bonds mature at
various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the
Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 201 SB, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed
with an interest rate of 1.78%. - ̂  .

(9) Note payable to financial institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2022 and 2021 is $1,044,722
and $1,053,637, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $99,397,000 and $170,399,000 at
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $6,674,000 and $8,035,000 at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2022 and 2021.

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 interest expense on the Health System's long-term
debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $32,113,000 and $30,787,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.
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11. Employee Benefits

contribution^ptenr t additIon!'LSmembe^^^^^^^

participants earning benefits i" any^oMhrH'Tarh '^""^'"'"9

.o'retelslnl^'rfird fenefif i'la'': tougb^^urMu™"''' 'ffcontracts. Tlie annuity purctiases follow ouirio^injl m u °ff®aa9s or purchases of annuityThe Health System antidpates contlirrnnn h Departfhent of Labor (DOL)
settlements over the next several years. "sideration and/or implementation of additional
Defined Benefit Plans

expense, in the Consolidated

for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021- ' components
(in thousands of dollars)

2022 2021
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation « .jr 7,0 «
Expected return on plan assets 36,722 $ 36.616
Net loss amortization (65,917) (63,261)

Total net periodic pension expense siS
"et periodic pension expense as of June 30,

Discount rates
2m 2021

Rate of increase in compensation ^
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 7 5«

7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

(in thousands of dollars)

Change in benefit obiigation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year
Interest cost

Benefits paid
Actuarial loss

Settlements

Benefit obligation, end of year

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets .
Benefits paid
Employer contributions
Settlements

Fair value of plan assets, end of year

Funded status of the plans

Less! Current portion of liability for pension

Long-term portion of liability for pension
Liability for pension

2022 2021

$  1,140,221 $ 1,209,100
36,722 36,616

(54,864) (52,134)
(183.193) (22,411)

- (30,950)

938.886 1,140,221

958,864 929,453
(169,405) 87,446
(54,864) (52,134)
12,500 25,049

- (30,950)

747,095 958,864

(191,791) (181:357)

- (46)

(191,791) (181,311)

$  (191,791) $ (181,357)

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021. the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other-postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Arnounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included In the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include $519,946,000 and $481,073,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense In fiscal year 2022 for net actuarial losses is $13,139,000.

benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was $939 000 000 and
$1,140,000,000 at June 30. 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2022 and 2021;

2022 2021

Discount rates 4.40-5.10% 3.30%
Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A '

The primary investment objective for the defined benefit plans' assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan's liabilities. As of June 30,
2022, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2021, the expected LDI hedge was
approximately 75%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured ori a total return basis,which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows;

Range of
Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments . 0-5% 3%
U.S. government securities 0-10 5
Domestic debt securities 20-58 42
Global debt securities 6-26 4

Domestic equities 5-35 17
International equities 5-15 ■  7
Emerging market equities 3-13 4
Global Equities 0-10 6
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1

Private equity funds 0-5 0
Hedge funds ' 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.
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The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System's pension plans' assets, in accordance
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and more
specifically the following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
pension plans own interests, in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
underlying each fund and, therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3. even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable.

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans' investments and deferred
compensation plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30. 2022 and 2021:

(in thousands of dollars)

Investments

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities
international equities
Emerging market equities
Global equities
REIT funds

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Total investments

2022

Redemption Days'
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liauidation Notice

$ S  16,030 $ $  16,030 Daily 1

124,686
- - 124,686 Daily-Monthly ,  1-15

17,530 226,107
- 243,637 Daily-Monthly 1-15

•  - 24,136
- 24,136 Daily-Monthly 1-15

104,070 31,324
- 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10

15,558 20,406
- 35,964 Daily-Monthly 1-11

- 25,487
- 25,487 Daily-Monthly 1-17

- 54,787
- 54,787 Daily-Monthly 1-17

- -
• - Daily-Monthly ,1-17

- - 14 14 See Note 5 See Note 5
- -  , 86,960 86,960 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

$  261,844 $398,277 $ 86,974 $ 747,095
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(in thousands of dollars)

Investments
Cash and short-term investments
U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities
Global debt securities
Domestic equities
international equities
Emerging market equities
Global equities
REIT funds

Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Total investments

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

S $ 53,763 $
52,945

140,029 296,709 -
- 40,877 .

144,484 40,925
17,767 51,819 .

- 43,460 _

■ 57,230
- 3,329 •

-

■ 15
- - 15.512

$ 355,225 S 588,112 $  15,527

Total

$  53,763
52,945

436,738

40,877

185,409

69,586

43.460

57,230
3,329

15

15,512

$ 958,864

Redemption Days'
or Liauldatinn Notice

Daily 1

Daily-Monthly 1-15

Daily-Monthly 1-15

Daily-Monthly 1-15
Daily-Monthly 1-10
Daily-Monthly 1-11

Daily-Monthly 1-17

Daily-Monthly 1-17
Daily-Monthly 1-17

See Note 5 See Note 5
Quarterly-Annual 60-96

2022

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginrting of year balances
Purchases

Sales

Net unrealized losses

End of year balances

(in thousands of dollars)

Beginning of year balances
Sales

Net unrealized gains (losses)
End of year balances

Hedge Funds

>  15.512

81.400

(2.152)
(7.800)

86,960

Private

Eauitv Funds

>  15

(li

Total

15.527

81.400

(2.152)
(7.801)

14 $ 86.974

2021

Hedge Funds
Private

Eauitv Funds Total

$  47,351
(38.000)
6.161

$  17 $

(2)

47,368

(38.000)
6,159

$  15,512 $  15 $ 15.527

respectively. There were tr^sfe^s out of I ^ approximately ($543,000) and $7,635,000.
20.. ano /o.. TOe -e 30,

me~gie"s She 2022 anT.O.r""
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•M ¥

•y'm4<k

Cash and short-term investments
U.S. government securities /
Domestic debt securities ' "
Global debt securities
Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging market eqiai:
Global equities
Hedge funds

Total

ho:etttuarcl";hbutZ'm:y::ry';t^te^^ P'ans In 2023
to be paid for the years TchnTj "ne'sVan^thSer^ ®PP''°Priate, are expected

12

100 %

6%

A
19

100%

(in thousands of dollars)
2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028 ̂  2032

124,252

56.264

57,774

59,040

60,176

310.262
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Defined Contribution Plans

compensation and employee deferral amounts Percentages of
approximately $64,946,000 and $60,268,000 in and^^^ir

Cha^geTin Ss's:.'!'''"" Consolidated Statements'oi OpemOons'lnd

Plan specifications''vai^'by'membeTan'd p'an' No em'l''''' '^e Health System,
these plans in 2022 and 2021. employer contributions were made to any of

Th^M®'' '-''® '"surance.Benefits
.. «*» p.~ „b~r» ..A srs ~ "5 ;:sr*

2021
(in thousands of dollars) 2022

$ ~56 SInterest cost • 1-504
Net prior service income '.
Net loss amortization 7co ('5.582)

T . . -T 738Total $ 2,602 $
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"lunt «zed 1' ."TeairSySfr^l'dT h7'
30, 2022 and 2021: consolidated financial statements at June

(in thousands of dollars)

Change In benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid
Actuarial loss

Employer contributions

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year
Current portion of liability for postretiremen!
medical and life benefits
Long-term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

Funded status of the plans and liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits

2022 2021

$  46,863 $  48,078
456 533

1.394 1,340
(3,401) (3,439)
(4,964) f  383

(33) > ■  (32)

40,315 46,863

i  (3,500) $  (3,422)

(36,815) (43,441)

1  (40.315) $  (46,863)

benen.s is

Consolidated Balance Sheets. ""ement plan benefits in the accompanying

benXlaTs, inllutdlfthe
(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021
Net actuarial loss 4 445 ggg^

Total" $  4,445 $ 9,981
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12.

(in thousands of dollars)

"2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028-2032

3,500

3,721

3,725

3,720

3,700
16,820

lr««l.«. «7.00%, l„noin, do»n 10 S.00% in 2021 ih„S;, " • ™

Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H. along with Dartmouth College. Cheshire NLH APn MAwwr v/mlj

this risK .0 Hamden Ass^ranS Compa^L m fed (H^C)
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a oortion of ^ to . company domiciled in
majority ownershrp inures in bo™ a^d RRC^^ Thef '

2022

(In thousands of dollars)
Assets

Shareholders' equity

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Shareholders' equity

HAC RRG Total

. $ 79,831 $ 2,245 $ 82,076
13,620 50

)

13,670

2021

HAC RRG Total

$ 71,772 $  3,583 $ 75,355
13,620 50 13,670
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature

bmu^hrto Its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately beought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims
IS the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect

on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit
The Health System has entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using the Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime

Mnn!; I r agreement is due to expire March 29. 2023. There was no outstanding balance
■" sSfooo nm^ 1- ''r® 1°' approximately$91,000 and $28 000, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

and Changes in Net Assets. Hciauuns

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service niissions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays ail expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022;

2022

Program Management
(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Pundraisinq To^

Operating expenses
Salaries $ 1,129,572 $  184,533 $  1,302 $ 1,315,407
Employee benefits 281,455 40,887 228 322,570
Medical supplies and medications 645,437 3,835 - 649,272
Purchased services and other 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862
Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 42,227 44,675 56 86,958
Interest 9,116 22,987 10 32,113

Total operating expenses $ 2,446,171 $  439,158 $  7,578 $ 2,892,907

Program Management
Services and General Pundraisinq Total

Non-operating income
Employee benefits $  12,144 $  1,755 $  11 $  13,910

Total non-operating income $  12,144 $  1,755 $  n $  13,910-
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30. 2021:

2021

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medical supplies and medications
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization

Interest

Total operating expenses

Non-operating Income
Employee benefits

Total non-operating income

Program Management
■

Services and General Fundraistna Total

$ 1,019,272 $  164.937 $  1,701 $ 1,185,910
212,953 88,786 403 302,142
540,541 4,982 - 545,523
252,705 125,931 5,313 383,949
72,941 - - ■  72,941
38,945 49,943 .  33 88,921
8,657 22,123 7 30,787

$ 2.146,014 $  456,702 $. 7,457 $ 2,610,173

Program Management
Services and General Fundraisina Total

$  9,200 $  4,354 $  5 $  13,559
$  9,200 $  4,354 $  5 $  13,559

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

45



DocuSign Envelope ID; C25C7CB3-766CM900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2022 and 2021

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2022 and 2021 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2022 and 2021, are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 191,929 $ 374 928
Patient accounts receivable 251,250 232 161
Assets limited as to use ^ 094 1 378 479
Other investments for restricted activities 'l75'l16 168 035

Total financial assets $ 1.799.389 $ 2,153,603

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:
Investments held by captive insurance companies 57,522 57 239
Investments for restricted activities 175J16 168 035
Bond proceeds held for capital projects 99,397 178 434
Other investments with liquidity horizons
greater than one year 159,792 111,390

Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,307,562 ~$ 1,638,505

The Health System generated cash flow from operations of approximately ${123 525 000) and
$95,740,000 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and June 30. 2021, "respectively. In addition, the
Health System's liquidity.management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health'System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collatefalized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an ihitial term of 12
months or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense.

Operahng leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases may
include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to 5
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System's sole discretion. When
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determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
IS reasonably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses and/or rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
tease payments are recognized in other occupancy costs in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the rightK)f-use asset or liability

'? Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material.residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants.

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30. 2022 and 2021 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021
Operating lease cost $ 9 573 5 ^^33^
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 10 894
Total lease and rental expense

$  20

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease
Interest on debt of property under finance lease

Total finance lease cost

,467 $:  18,400

$  3.345 $ 3,408
448 533

$  3.793 $ 3,941

(a) Incluc/es equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to teases for the years ended June 30 2022 and 2021
are as follows: '

(in thousands of dollars) 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 9 952
Operating cash flows from finance leases '443
Financing cash flows from finance leases 3 255

Total 1

10,61

13

1

533

3,108

,655 $ 14.252

47



DocuSign Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E6CM900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2022 and 2021

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets - operating leases
Accumulated amortization

2022 2021

61,165 $ 51,410

Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net 39,943 36,230

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 8,314 8,038

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 32,207 28,686

Total operating lease liabilities 40,521 36,724

Finance Leases

Right-of-use assets - finance leases 27,963 27,940

Accumulated depreciation (8,981) (5,760)

Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net 18,982 22,180

Current portion of right-of-use obligations 3,005 3,251

Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 16,617 19,481

Total finance lease liabilities $ 19,622 $ 22,732

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases

Finance leases

7.73

19.77

6.75

18.73

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases

Finance leases

2.24%

2.17%

2.12%

2.14%

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.

The System obtained $7.6 million and $2.1 million of new and modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2021.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2022 are as follows;

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:

2023 $  9,121 $ 3,395

2024 7,971 2,297

2025 5,083 1,261

2026 3,750 882

2027 3,357 800

Thereafter 15,096 15,713

Total lease payments 44,378 24,348

Less: Imputed interest

Total lease obligations

3,857 4,726

$  40,521 $ 19,622

17. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 16, 2022,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited-consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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(It) {hou5$nds of dollars)

Assats

Cun«nt assets

Casti and cash e<iuva]ents
Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid ejq>ense$ end other current assets

Total current asseb

Assets imited as to use

Notes receivable, related party
OVrer investments for restricted activities

Property, ptant. end equipcnef^ net
Righl-of-use assets, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabSties

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of right-of-use obBgations
Current portion of labSty for pension and

other postretirement plan benefits
Accounts payable and accrued ei^enses
Accrued comperaation and related berwfits
Estimated trnrd-party settlemenb

Total current liabBities

Notes payable, related party
LOf>o-term debL excluding cwrent portion
Right-of-use obligatioru, exduding current portion
Insurance deposits and related Babllities
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, exdudino current portion
Other Uabntles

Total iiabilties

Commitments artd contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without dorwr restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total fiabifties and net assets

Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney DH Obligated Another Non- Health

Kitchcoek Dartmouth- Medleal Day Hospital Hospital and Group ObOg Group System

Heitth HKeheoclr Center Memorial Association Health Center Ellminatiom Subtotal AfTillates Fllmlnauons Consolidated

$ 2.056 S 66,627 % 20.165 S 38,416 8  28.467 S 11,327 8 167,258 $  24,671 $ . $ 191.929

206,400 18,106 9.817 9,175 5,360 . 248.858 2,392 -
251.250

23.561 161.262 19.580 3.522 4,452 1,472 (31.119) 182,730 (11.372) (2,225) 169,133

25,617 434,489 57.851 51,755 42,094 18,159 (31,119) 598.846 15,691 (2.225) 612,312

301.000 858.919 12,665 14,680 16.005 25,753 (98,848) 1.130.174 50,920 1,181,094

642,052 11,557 . 803 (853.609) 803 (303)
-

490 118,082 16.422 727 3.925 6,846 . 146.492 28,624 175,116

585,064 63,067 24,757 45.973 15.526 - 734.387 30,453 764,840

1,362 35,321 1.830 14,892 166 5,249 - 58.820 105 58.925

681 146.516 1.187 14.391 6,573 4,983 . 174.331 (2.168) 172.163

s 1,171.202 $ 2,189.948 S 153.022 S 122,005 S  114,736 8 76,516 8 (983,576) 8 2.843,853 $  122.822 $ (2.225) $ 2.964.450

$ $ 4,810 $ 865 $ 800 $  23 8 8 6.498 S  98 8 i 6.596

559 8.514 689 852 172 473
•

11.259 60 ■
11,310

3.500
. . . 3.500 . . 3.500

147.626 100.110 16.607 4,883 4.843 8,693 (129,967) 152.795 6.002 (2,225) 156,572

169.194 6,817 4,431 4.507 4,434 - 189,363 1.177
-

190,560

3,002 68.876 22,999 17.488 21.886 647 • 134.898
- •

134,898

151.187 355.004 47,977 28.454 31.431 14,247 (129.967) 498,333 -7.337 (2,225) 503,445

. 608.602 . . 27.437 17.570 (853.609) . - • -

1,044,845 25.084 21.867 23.060 32 010) - 1.114.778 2,510 -
1.117,288

803 27,359 1.233 14.499 . 4,885 - 48.779 45 -
48.824

76.678 623 373 401 250
•

78,325 66
-

78.391

220.350 7,774 . . 481 . 228.605 1 . 228,606

. 129.092 1.109 300 1.749 . . 132.250 21.846 •
154.096

1,198,835 1.^2,169 80.583 66.686 61.050 37,323 (983.578) 2.101.070 31.805 (2.225) 2,130.650

(25.638) 418.255 53.646 54,590 48,974 31,078 580,905 53,352 40 634.297

5 129.524 18.793 729 4.712 8,115 - 161.878 37,665 (40) 199.503

(25,633) 547.779 72.439 55,319 53,686 39.193 . 742.783 91,017 - 833.800

$ 1,171.202 s 2,189,948 i 153.022 % 122.005 $  114,736 8 76,516 8 (983.576) 8 2,843,853 $  122,822 S (2.225) 8 2,964.450

51



DocuSign Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E6(M900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets

C>4tH Health
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(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiary Sutrsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 2,056 $ 68.075 $ 32.500 s 28,467 $  11,631 $ 47,894 $ 1,306 S ■ $ 191.929

Patient accounts receivable, net - 206.400 18,106 9,175 5,431 9.817 2,321 •
251.250

Prepaid expenses and other cuaent assets 23,561 161,508 8,296 4.452 1,499 2.678 483 (33.344) 169,133

Total current assets 25,617 435,983 58,902 42.094 18,561 60.389 4,110 (33.344) 612,312

Assets limited as to use 301,000 884.007 13,183 16.005 26,979 14.680 24,088 (98,848) 1.181.094

Notes receivable, related party 842,052 11.557 - - - - -
(853,609) -

Other investments for restricted activities 490 125.614 37,124 3,925 6,846 1,031 86 -
175,116

Property, plant, and equipment, net - 587.739 66,385 45,973 16,947 42,436 5.360 •
764,840

Right-of-use assets, net 1,362 :35.321 1.830 166 5,248 14.892 106 -
58,925

681 146.699 8.316 6,573 2,526 7,292 76 - 172,163

Total assets- s 1.171.202 $ 2.226.920 $ 185,740 s 114,736 S  77,107 S 140.720 S 33.826 $ (985.801) $ 2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current EabiCties
6.596Current portion of long-term debt $ - $ 4,810 i 865 i 23 S  26 $ 800 $ 72 % - S

Ciinent portion of right-of-use obligations 559 8,514 689 172 472 852 61 - 11.319

Current portion of liabiGty for pension and
3,500other postretirement plan benefits - 3.500 - - - -

- -

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 147,626 100.617 16.726 4.843 8.831 5,481 4.640 (132,192) 156,572

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 169,194, 6,817 4,507 4.490 i  4.735 817 -
190,560

Estimated third-party settlements 3.002 68,876 22,999 21.886 647 17.488 - - 134.898

Total cunent liabilities 151.187 355,511 48,096 31.431 14.466 29.356 5,590 (132,192) 503.445

Notes payable, related party 808,602 - 27.437 17,570 - -
(853,609)

-

Long-term debt, exduding current portion 1,044,845 25,084 21.867 32 110 23,005 2.345
•

1,117,288

Right-of-use obligations, exduding current portion 803 27,359 1.233 -
4,885 14,499 45 -

48.824

Insurance deposits arKl related liabilities - 76,678 623 401 250 373 66 - 78,391

Liability for pension and other postretirement
228,606plan ben^ts, exduding current portion - 220,350 7,774 -

482 -
-

-

Other lial^lities . 129,092 1,109 1.749 - 22.146 - - 154,096

1,196,835 1,642,676 80,702 61.050 37,763 89.379 8.046 (985.801) 2.130,650

Corrvnitments and contingendes

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (25,638) 447.013 56.674 48.974 31,231 50,308 25,695 40 634,297

Net assets with donor restrictions 5 137.231 48.364 4,712 8,113 1,033 85 (40) 199,503

Total net assets (25.633) 584,244 - 105.038 53.686 39,344 51,341 25.780 - 833,800

Total liabilities and net assets s 1,171.202 S 2.226,920 $ 185,740 s 114.736 S  77,107 s • 140.720 S 33,826 i (985,801) S 2,964,450
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Osrtmeuth- Cheshire Alice Peek New London ML Ascutney DH ObOgated AO Other Non- Health

Hiteheock Dartmouth- Medletl Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
(In thouands ofdebars) Health Htteheoek Senter. MerrMrial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal AffiTiates Eliminations Consolidated

Ass*ts

Cufrent assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 1.S26 $ 226,779 $ 35,146 $ 41,371 $  26,814 $  18,350 $ - $ 350.286 S  24,642 S . $ •  374,928

Pattern accounts receivat>le. net - 196,350 13,238 6,779 6,699 6,522 . 229,588 2,573 - 232,161

Prepaid e^^ertses and ottwr current assets 23.267 151,336 20,932 2,012 4,771 1,793 135,942) 168,169 (10.634) (217) 157,318

Total aarenl assets 25,093 574,465 69,316 50.162 38,284 26,665 (35,942) 748,043 16,581 (217) 764,407

Assets limited as to use 380.020 1,039,327 19,016 15,480 16,725 20,195 (169,849)' 1,320,914 57,565 1,378,479

Notes receivattle, related party 845,157 11,769 . 1,010 . (856,926) 1,010 (1,010) -

Other Investments for restricted activities 248 111,209 12,212 1,128 4,266 7,699 . 136,762 31,273 188,035

Property, plant, and equipment. r>et - 501,640 64,101 22,623 . 47,232 15.403 - 650,999 29,434 880,433

Right^f-use assets 1,233 32,343 2,396 16,104 360 5,819 . 58,255 155 58,410

Other assets 2,431 146,226 1,315 14,380 7,282 5,172 - 176,806 292 177,098

Total assets i 1,254,182 $ 2,416,979 S 168,356 S 120,887 S  114,149 i  80,953 $ (1,062,717) S 3,092,789 i  134,290 5 (217) $ 3,226,862

UabQItlts and Net Assets

Current liaNities

Current portion of long-term debt $ - $ 7,575 $ 885 $ 777 $  91 S $ - i 9,308 S  99 S . $ 9,407

Current portion of righl-ofHJse obligations 354 8,369 856 1,078 197 550 - 11,204 85 - 11,289

Current portion of Eability for pension artd -

other postretirement plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - - 3,466 - - 3,468

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 207,566 99.374 11,911 2,455 4,968 5,858 (205,791) 126,341 5,100 (217) 131,224

Accrued compertsation artd related benefits - 156,073 8,848 5,706 4,407 5,343 - 180,177 1,693 . 182,070

Estimated third-party settlements - 160,410 31,228 27,006 26,902 8,230 - 251,774 769 . 252,543

Total current liabilities 207,920 435,269 53,306 37,022 36,565 17,981 (205,791) 582,272 7,946 (217) 590,001

Notes payable, related party . 811,563 . . 27,793 17,570 (856,926) . . . .

Long-term debL exdudirrg current portion 1,047.659 29,846 22,753 23,558 55 015) - 1,123,756 2,601 - 1,126,357

Right-ofHJse obligations, exducfing current portion 879 24,463 1,878 15,351 172 5,357 ■- 48,098 69 . 48,167
Insurance deports and related SabBlties - 78,528 475 325 388 218 - 79,934 40 . 79,974
Uabiity for pension and other postretirement -

plan berteflts. excluding current portion • 218,955 5,286 - - 511 - 224,752 - . 224,752
Other liabilities - 179,497 4,224 4,534 4,142 . . 192,397 22,317 . 214,714

Total liabities 1.256,458 1,778,121 87,920 80,790 69,115 41,522 (1,062,717) 2,251,209 32,973 (217) 2,283.965

Commitments end contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictiorts (2,524) 526,153 85,224 38,969 39,557 29,838 . 697,217 61,370 40 758,627
Net assets with donor restrictions 248 112.705 15,212 1.128 5,477 9,593 . 144,363 39,947 (40) 184,270

Total net assets 12,276) 638,858 80,436 40,097 45,034 39.431 . 841,580 101,317 942,897
Total liabilities ar>d net assets $ 1,254,182 8 2,416,979 S 168,356 5 120,887 S  114,149 $  80,953 $ (1,062,717) 3,092,789 $  134,290 S (217) 5 3,226,862
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(in thouMrxis of doBars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 1.826 $ 227.402 %  44.165 $ 26,814 %  18,609 S 50,451 i 5.661 S • $ 374.926

Patient accounts receivable, net . 196.350 13.238 6.696 6.620 6.779 2,475 ■
232.161

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23.267 151.677 10.195 4.771 1,808 1.418- 341 (36.159) 157.318

Total current assets 25.063 575.429 67.598 38,284 27,037 58,648 8,477 (36.159) 764.407

Assets iimited as to use 380.020 1,066.781 20.459 16.725 21,533 15.480 27.330 (169.849) 1.378.479

Notes receivable, related party 845.157 11.769 - - - - •
(856.926)

■

Other investments for restricted activities 248 119.371 34,921 4.266 7.698 1.501 30
-

168,035

Pr^>erty. plant, and equipment, net - 504.315 67.543 47.232 16.932 41.218 3.193 •
680,433

Right-of-use assets, net 1.233 32,343 2.396 360 5.820 16.104 154
•

58.410

Other assets 2.431 146.408 10.286 7.282 2.715 7,534 442 - 177.098

Total assets S 1,254.182 S 2.456.416 S  203.203 % 114.149 $  81,735 % 140,485 % 39,626 S (1,062.934) $ 3,226.862

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabSties

Current portion of long-term debt s - % 7,575 6  865 $ 91 S  26 % 777 $ 73 i -
S 9,407

Current portion of righl-of-use otrfgations 354 8,369 656 197 550 .  1.078 85
-

11,289

Current portion of KabHity for pension and
3,488other postretiremenl plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - •

-

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 207,566 99.682 12,032 4.968 5.983 2,920 4,081 (206.008) 131.224

Accrued compensation and related benefits - 156.073 8,648 4.407 5.385 6,116 1,441
-

182,070

Estimated third-party settlements ' 160.410 31,226 26,902 6.231 27.006 768 -
252.543

Total current liabilities 207.920 • 435.577 53.427 36.565 18,175 37,897 6,448 (206.008) 590,001

Notes payable, related party . 611.563 . 27.793 17.570 - (856.926) -

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,047.659 . 26.846 22.753 55 131 23,496 2.417
•

1,126.357

Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 879 24.463 1.876 172 5,357 15.351 69
•

48.167

Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 78.528 476 388 218 325 39 -
79,974

Liability for pension and other postretiremenl
224.752plan benefits, excluding current portion - 218.955 5.286 •

511
- •

Other liabities - 179.497 4,223 4.142 - 26.852 - - 214.714

Total tiabilities 1.256,458 1.778,429 88,041 69.115 .41.962 103.921 8.973 (1,062.934) 2.283.965

Comntitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions {2,524) 557.101 68.586 39.557 30.181 35.063 30.623 40 758.627

Net assets witir donor restrictions 248 120.886 46.575 5,477 9.592 1.501 30 (40) 184.270

Total net assets (2.276) 677.987 115.162 45,034 39.773 36.564 30.653 - 942.897

Total liatxlities and net assets $ 1,254.182 i 2,456.416 S  203.203 % 114.149 $  81.735 s 140,485 s 39.626 t (1,062.934) $ 3.226.882
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(In thciisands otdoOan)

OiMnting nwnu* and other tupport
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue

Net assets released {rom restrictions

Total operating revenua and other tupport

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications and metfical supptes
Purchased services and other

Medici enhancement tax

Depredation and anwlization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) margin

Non-operating (lossts) gaiits
Investment losses, net

Other components o< net periotfic pension and posi
ratirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, rtel

Total nor>-^>arat>ng Oosses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenua over expanses

Net assets without donor restrictioru

Net assets released fiom restrictions for capital
Chattge In funded status of pension and other
posiretiremenl benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affiates
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor
restrictions

Dartmeuth-

Kitchcock

HaaHh

Oartmouth-

Hiteheoek

Cheshire

Medical

Center

Alice Peck

Day

Memorial

New London

Hospital

Asseeltllon

MLAaeutney
Hospital and

Health Center Fliminatlens

OH Obligated
Group

Subtotal

Ad Other Non-

Oblig Group

AffiTlates Ftimlnatlons

Health

System

Consolidated

$

209

38,568

3  1.7S1.093
133.928

492.455
13,299

$  238,645

165

23,736

779

$  99.403

21

4,146

435

S  79.754
22

7,527

190

i  59,040
3,521
2,754

204

$

(60,573)
(50,711)

S  2,225.935
77.293

518.475

15.15$

i  17.302
458

16.731

738

S

(85)
(1.175)

$  2,243,237
77,666

534,031
15,894

39,026 2.390,775 261.325 104.005 87,493 65.519 (111.284) 2.836.859 35,229 (1,260) 2.870.828

25.636

32.536

1.091.601

266.795
578,581

312,373
64.036
64.643

25.365

135,083

31.761
43,203

42,723
9,468

8,771

914

43.266

10.302
12.266

15,951
3,980

3.519
876

40,219
7,537

9.946
13.068
2,834

4,819
1,073

26,960
8,240
4,127

17,383

2.407
2.359
493

(45.229)
(5,842)

(32.682)

(29.530)

1,293,900

318,793

648,123
394.274

82,725
84,111

31,727

20,422
3.514

1,149
11.398

2,847

386

1,085

263

(1.810)

1,315,407
322,570

649,272

403.882

82,725
86.958
32.113

58.17< 2,403.394 271.923 90.160 79.496 63.969 (113.463). 2,853.653 39.716 (462) 2,892.907

f19.t48) (12.6191 (10.598) 13.845 7.997 1,550 2,179 (16.794) (4.487) (798) (22.079)

(8.026) (58.973) (2,068) (795) (1,114) (1.555) (210) (72.741) (6.003) (78.744)

(3.540)

11.902
(1.641)

2,008

(542)

•

1 169 (1,969)

13,910
(7.522) 66 798

13,910
(6.658)

(11.566)

(30,714)

(48,712)

(61,331)

(602)

(11,200)

(795)

13,050

(1.113) (1.386) (2.179) (66.353) (5.937) 798 (71,492)

6,884 164 (83.147) (10.424)
-

(93.571)

- 678 52 • 460 233
-

1,423 150 1.573

7,600

(27.860)
(19.385)

(4.496)
4,066 2,571 2.096

(23)

48

795

(32.308)
(2.257)

(23)

.(1)
2.257

•
(32.309)

(23)

$  (23.114) $  (107.898) S  (11,578) $  15,621 i  9,417 $  1.240 S S  (116,312) i  (8.018) $ •
6  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-HitcTicock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2022

Dartmouth- Health

HItchcocK D-H and Cheshire and MAHHC and APDand VNH and System

(in thousands of doBars) Health Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH . Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $ $  1.751.093 S  236,645 $ 79.754 $  59.041 S  . 99,403 S  17,301 $ S  2.243.237

Contracted revenue 209 134.388 165 21 3.521 21 • (60,659) 77.666

Other operating revenue 36,568 494.363 23,794 7.527 4.370 14,587 2,708 (51.886) 534.031

Net assets released from restrictions 249 13,873 821 190 204 548 9 - 15.894

Total operating revenue and other support 39,026 2,393.717 261,425 87.492 67.136 114,559 20.018 (112,545) 2.870.828

Operating expenses

Salaries - 1,091.601 135.116 40.219 29.729 47,352 15,534 (44.144) 1.315.407

Employee benefits - 266.795 31.770 7.537 8.381 11,169 2,517 (5.579) 322.570

Medications and medical supplies - 578.581 43.203 9.946 4.126 12,297 1,123 (■*) 649.272
Purchased services and ^er 25,638 315.589 42.938 13.067 18.072 18,915 4.313 (34.670) 403.862
Medicaid enhancement tax . 64.036 9,469 2.834 2.406 3,980 • - 82.725
Depredation and amortization . 64.643 8,895 4.819 2.483 5,595 523 - 86.958
Interest 32,536 25.365 914 1.073 493 1.204 58 (29.530) 32.113

Total operating expenses 58,174 2.406.610 272,305 79.495 65.670 100,512 24.068 (113,927) 2.892.907

Operating (loss) margin (19,148) (12.893) (10,880) 7.997 1.466 14,047 (4.050) 1.382 (22.079)

Non-operating (losses) gains
Investment losses, net (6,026) (61.039) (2.163) (1.114) (1.663) (1,373) (3.155) (211) (78.744)
Other components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income - 11.902 2.008 - - • - 13.910
Other (losses) income, net (3,540) (1,641) (542) 1 179 - 56 (1.171) (6.658)

Total non-operating losses, net (11.566) (50.778) (697) (1.113) (1,484) (1.373) (3.099) (1.382) (71.492)

(Defrdency) excess of revenue over expenses (30,714) (63.671) (11.577) 6.884 (18) 12,674 (7.149)
•

(93.571)

Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 834 53 460 226 - - - 1,573
Change in frjnded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits - (27,860) (4.496) - 47 - - - (32,309)

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 7,600 (19,391) 4.108 2,096 795 2.571 2.221 ■ -

Other changes in net assets - - - (23) - - - - (23)

(Decrease) increase In net assets Mthoul donor
restrictions $  (23,114) S  (110,088) S  (11.912) S 9.417 $  1,050 $  15,245 $  (4.928) S $  (124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021 ^ :

Cm thwjsanCs o/doBan)

Op«rating rtvtnu* and ottMr support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue
Net assets refeased trom restrictions

Totai operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries

Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medtcaid enhancement tax

Depreciation artd armrtization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) margin

NoiMperetino gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net

Other components o( net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses] income, nai

Total nort-opereting (losses) gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor rastrtetlons

Net assets released bom restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretiremenl benefits

Net assets itensfetred to (from) affifales
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets viithout donor
restiictiorks

Cheshire Allee Peck New London Mt Ascutney OH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and (Voup Obllg Group System

Health Hiteheoek Center Memorial Assoeiatfon Health Center FDmlnatlons fUibtotal Afntlites Eliminations' Consolidated

s 5  1,683,612 5  230,810 S  82,373 i  61,814. 5  59,686 J 5  2,118,295 i  19,992 S - $  2,138,287

7,266 129,880 379 . 162 • 2,963 (55,753) 84,897 380 (14) 85,263

29,784 404,547 6,775 1,905 4,370 1,175 (37,287) 411,269 15,490 (1.801) 424,958

197 12,631 1,182 61 200 201 14,472 729
-

15,201

37,247 2,230,670 239,146 84,339 66,546 64,025 (93,040) 2,628,933 " 36,591 (1,815) 2,663,709

988,595 118,678 40,567 33,611 29.119 (42.565) 1,168,005 16,800 1,105 1,185,910

. 251,774 29,984 7,141 . 6,550 7,668 (5,159) 297,956 3,877 307 302,142

.  481,863 41,669 9,776 7.604 3,275 (05) 544,102 1,421 •
545,523

19,503 291,364 33,737 12,396 16,591 14,884 (18,065) 370,410 15,395 (1.856) 383,949

. 57,312 8,315 3,075 2,523 1,716 -
72.941

- -

to 67,666 8,623 3,366 4,364 2,617 -
86,648 2,275

-

32,324 24,158 936 875 1,077 510 (29,495) 30,385 402
-

30,787

51,837 2,162,732 241,942 77,196 72,320 59.789 (95.369) 2.570.447 40,170 (444) 2,610,173

(14,590) 67,938 (2,7961 7,143 (5.774) 4,236 • .  2.329 58,486 (3.579) (1.371) 53,536

1,223 172,461 3,546 2.495 4,506 3,875 (137) 187.969 15,807
-

203,776

13,028 547 . (16) . 13,559 13,559

(3.540) (6531 (332) . 2 194 (2,192) (6,521) 917 1,371 (4,233)

(2,317) 184.836 3,761 2,495 4,508 4,053 (2,329) '195,007 16,724 1,371 213.102

(16,907) 252,774 965 9,638 (1.266) 8,289
-

253,493 13,145
•

266,638

- 1,076 6O0 108 224 2,008 9
-

2,017

43,047 16,007 78 . 59,132 -
59,132

8,859 (13,548) (42) - 4,557 . •
(174) 174

•

. (201 (35) (120) • - (175) (11) (186)

5  ' (8,048) S  283.329 $  17,495 S  9,518 $  3,399 S  8,591 J $  314,284 $  13,317 $ . S  -327,601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2021 ^

(in thousands ot (k^ars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

D-HH

and Other

Subsidiaries

D-H and

Subsidiaries

1.683.612

Cheshire and

Subsidiaries

S  230.810

NLH and

Subsidiaries

friAKHC and

Subsidiaries

61.814 $ 59.672 S

APOand

Subsidiary

82.373

VNHand

Subsidiaries

20.006

Eliminations

Heatth

System
Consoildated

2.138.287

Contracted revenue 7,266 130.261 379 161 2.963 . - (55.767) 85.263

Other operating revenue 29,784 406.911 6,862 4.370 2,839 11,997 1.283 (39,088) 424.958

197 13.290 1.196 199 201 118 - •
15.201

Total ooeratino revenue and other support 37.247 2.234.074 239.247 66,544 65.675 94.488 21,289 (94,855) 2.663,709

Operating expenses
(41.460) 1.185.910Salaries . 988.595 118.711 33.611 29.986 44.240 12.227

Employee t>enefit$ . 251.774 29.994 6.550 7,820 7,884 2,972 (4.852) 302.142

Medications and medical suppSes . 481.863 41.669 7.604 3,270 9,784 1.418 (85) 545.523

Purchased services and other 19,505 294.228 33,912 16,589 15,395 15,455 8.786 (19,921) 383.949

Medicaid enhancement tax - 57.312 8,315 2.523 1.716 3.075 • ■
72,941

Depredation and amortization 10 67.666 8:752 4,364 2.741 5.003 385 -
88.921

32.324 24.158 936 1.077 510 1.217 60 (29.495) 30.787

Total ooeratino expenses 51.839 2.165,596 242.289 72.318 61.438 86.658 25.848 ■  (95.813) 2.610.173

Operadno (iossl maroin (14.592) 68,478 (3.042) (5.774) 4.237 7.830 (4.559) 958 53.536

Non-operating gains (losses)
(137) 203.776Investment income (losses), net 1.223 179.357 6,317 4.506 4,066 2,472 5.972

Other components of net periodic pension and post
13.559

■  retirement twnefit income . 13.028 547 • (16) - •

(3.540) (653) (346) 2 207 - 918 (821) (4.233)

Total non-operadno (losses) oains. net (2.317) 191,732 6,518 4,508 4.257 2.472 6,890 (958) 213.102

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (16.909) 260.210 3,476 (1.266) 8.494 10.302 2,331 266.638

Net assets without donor restrictions
2.017Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 1.085 600 108 224

-
■ -

Change in funded status of pension and other
59,132postretirement t>enefits • 43.047 16,007

-

78 - • •

Net assets transfened to (from) affiliates 8,859 (13,548) • • 4,557 „ • -
132

• -

. (20) (46) - - (120) - -
(186)

(Decrease) irrcrease in net assets \Mdtout donor
restrictions $ (8.050) $  290.774 $ 20.037 S 3,399 S 8.796 S 10.182 S 2.463 $ 8 327.601
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/
DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC (DHC)

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: lanuarv 1.2023

Geraldine "Folly" Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN .
MHMH/DHC/Dartmouth Health Trustee
Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic University

Mark W. Begor, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Equifax

Laura M. Chiang, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Assistant Professor of Anesthesiology and Critical
Care; Vice Chairfor Education, Dep.t of
Anesthesiology and Co-Medical Director, Surgical
Intensive Care Unit

Duane A. Comptbn, PhD
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at
Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH
One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

Gary V. Desir, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee '

Yale School of Medicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor
of Medicine, Chair, Internal Medicine at Yale School
of Medicine and Yale New Haven Hospital: Vice
Provost for Faculty De\>eldpment and Diversity, Yale
University

Carl "Trey" Dobson, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
ChiefMedical Officer, Southwestern Vermont
Medical Center & Medical Directorfor the D-H
Practice, Bennington, Vermont

Tina Dooley-Jones, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Retired Senior Foreign Service Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Medical Director, Blood Bank
Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine_

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and
Chief Medical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies,
LLC

Gary L. Freed, MD, PharmD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Medical Director of the Comprehensive Wound
Clinic at D-H & Assistant Professor of Surgery,
Geisel School ofMedicine at Dartmouth

Thomas P. Glyhn, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Adjust Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of
Government

Roberta L. Mines, MD

MHMH/DHC Boards' Chair | Dartmouth
Health Trustee

Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains
Insurance Group, Ltd

Sherri C. Oberg, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity,
PBC

David P. Paul, MBA
MHMH/DHC Board Secretary | Dartmouth
Health Trustee

Retired President 6* COO, JBG SMITH

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee
MHMH/DHC Boards' Treasurer
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary

Retired Investment Banker

Page 1 of 2



DocuSign Envelope ID; C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI

MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Mark S. Speers, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Dartmouth Health Trustee & Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director,
of Bank of America/Merrill Lynch

Paul A. Taheri, MD, MBA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Clinical Partner - Welsh Carson Anderson and

Stowe

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP,
FAAN

MHMH/DHC/ Dartmouth Health Trustee

Chief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Sandra L. Wong, MD, MS
MHMH/DHC Trustee
William N. and Bessie Allyn Pro^ssor of Surgery,
Chair of the Department of Surgery at Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC) and the Ceisel

School of Medicine at Dartmouth, and senior vice
president of the Surgical Service Line at D-HH

Member of Dartmouth Health, not a member of MHMH & DHC:

Richard J. Powell, MD

Dartmouth Health Trustee

Section Oiief, Vascular Surgeiy; Professor of Surgery
and Radiology
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CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME: Grant G. Moncrlef, PsyD

Date Prepared: January 1, 2021

I. EDUCATION

DATES

2015-2019

2013-2015

2004-2008

INSTITUTION

Pacific University, Portland, OR

Pacific University, Portland, OR
Portland State University. Portland, OR

PRE-DOCTORAL TRAINjNG

Dates INSTITUTION

2018-2019 VA Portland Healthcare System, .
Portland, OR

2017-2018 Samaritan Neuropsychology, Portland,
OR

2016-2017 Native American Rehabilitation

Association, Portland, OR

2016-2017 Markee and Moore Psychologists, Inc.,
Vancouver, WA

2015-2016 Oregon Health & Science University,
Portland. OR

2014-2016 Pacific University Comprehensive Health
Clinic, Portland, OR

II. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

DATES

2019-2021

INSTITUTION

DEGREE

PsyD, Clinical Psychology;
Neuropsychology Track
MS, Clinical Psychology
BS, Psychology, with honors;
Biology Minor

SPECIALTY

Clinical Psychology Intern
{major rotation in
neuropsychology
Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Intern (psychotherapy)

Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Practicum Student

(neuropsychology)
Practicum Student

(psychotherapy)

SPECIALTY

Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School Postdoctoral Fellowship in
of Medicine Dartmouth College, Clinical Neuropsychology and
Hanover, NH ' Brain Imaging Research
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

III. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS

DATES INSTITUTION ACADEMIC TITLE

9/202-1- Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Assistant Professor of
Hanover, NH Psychiatry

IV. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES:

DATE INSTITUTION TITLE

2021- New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH Director of Neuropsychology

V. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION (IF APPLICABLE):

DATES LICENSURE/CERTIFICATION

8/2021- Licensed Psychologist, New Hampshire (# 1542)

VI. HOSPITAL OR HEATH SYSTEM APPOINTMENTS OF APPLICABLE):

DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE

9/2021- Department of Psychiatry, DHMG/Geisel Clinical Neuropsychologist
School of Medicine, Hanover, NH .

9/2021- New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH Director of Neuropsychology

VII. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS:

DATES INSTITUTION POSITION/TITLE
2015-2018 School of Graduate Psychology, Graduate Teaching Assistant

Pacific University, Hillsboro, OR Neuropsychological Assessment
2013-2014 VA Portland Healthcare System Research Associate

Epilepsy Center of Excellence,
Portland, OR

2010-2013 VA Portland Healthcare System Research Assistant
Neuropsychology Service, Portland,
OR

2012 Department of Psychology, Portland Teaching Assistant, Behavioral
State University, Portland, OR Neuroscience

2008-2010 Department of Psychology, Portland Research Assistant
State University, Portland, OR

2009 VA Portland Healthcare System Mental Research Assistant
Health Clinic, Portland, OR

2016 Department of Psychology, Portland Teaching Assistant
State University, Portland, OR

VIII. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
DATES INSTITUTION • POSITION/TITLE
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IX. TEACHING ACTIVITIES:

A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION
DATES

2012

2006

INSTITUTION

Portland State

University
Portland State

University

B. GRADUATE EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION

2018

2017-2018

2015-2017

Pacific University

Pacific University

Pacific University

COURSE TITLE

Behavioral

Neuroscience

Medical Psychology

COURSE TITLE

Neuropsychological
Assessment Lab

Neuropsychological
Assessment

Brain & Behavior

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION:

I. CLASSROOM TEACHING:

II. CLERKSHIP OR OTHER CLINICAL UME TEACHING

Name: Grant G. Moncrief

ROLE HOURS/YR

Teaching 40 hrs/yr
Assistant

Teaching 40 hrs/yr
Assistant

ROLE HOURS/YR

Instructor 80 hrs/yr

Teaching 50 hrs/yr
Assistant

Teaching 50 hrs/yr
Assistant

D. GRADUATE

DATES

10/1/2021

9/2021-

9/2021-

12/11/2020

1/4/2020

3/6/2020

8/2016-

10/2016

MEDICAL EDUCATION

INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/YR

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

DHMC

Oregon Health
& Science

University

Applying for postdoc,
licensing, & EPPP
Cultural, Diversity, &
Neuropsychology Seminar
Series

Supervisor of clinical
neuropsychology evaluation
Late Life Psychosis
(Neurology Grand Rounds)
Neuropsychological
Assessment of Epilepsy
Advanced Age and
Cognitive Function in
Schizophrenia: Implications
for Clinical Practice

Nervous System & Function

Presenter 1 hr

Organizer 12 hrs/yr

Supervisor 600 hr/yr

Presenter 1 hr

Presenter 1 hr

Presenter 1 hr

Student 320 hr/yr

E. OTHER CLINICAL EDUCATION

Clinical Training of Predoctoral Interns (Neuropsychology track) and Practicum Students
in Neuropsychology:
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

DATES Student's Name

9/2021- Hannah Dan/vazah

9/2021- Murphy Harrell

Program Name Degree

Ferkauf Graduate School of Psychology PhD
(internship)
University of South Alabama (internship) PhD

Clinical Training of Postdoctoral Fellows in Neuropsychology:

Dates

9/2021-

9/2021-

9/2021-

9/2021-

Student's Name

Christi Trask, PhD
Stephen Aita, PhD
Bryce Jacobson, PsyD
Jennifer Lee, PhD

Specialty
Clinical Neuropsychology
Clinical Neuropsychology
Clinical Neuropsychology
Clinical Neuropsychology

X. PRIMARY RESEARCH ADVISING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS (e.g., certificate programs, post-baccalaureate
programs)

D. MEDICAL STUDENTS

Not applicable

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

9/2021- Bryce Jacobson, PsyD

F. FACULTY

G. Additional Information

XI. ADVISING/MENTORING

A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS

D. MEDICAL STUDENTS

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE'S NAME

Clinical Neuropsychology

SPECIALTY
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

F. FACULTY

DATES MENTEE'S NAME SPECIALTY

XII. ENGAGEMENT, COMMUNITY SERVICE/EDUCATION:

Not applicable

XIII. RESEARCH ACTIVITIES:

A. SPONSORED ACTIVITY

1UG3NS112826-01 (Blumenfeld) 9/15/2019-8/31/2022
NIH

"Thalamic Stimulation to Prevent Impaired Consciousness In Epilepsy (START)"
To investigate the feasibility and safety of thalamic CL stimulation in restoring consciousness for
temporal lobe epilepsy patients when focal impaired awareness seizures cannot be stopped by
medications, surgical or laser ablation, or by neurostimulation.
Role: Co-investigator (Neuropsychologist)

G150255 (Sperling. Gross) 12/1/2016-5/1/2022
Medtrohic

"Stereotactic Laser Ablation for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy (SLATE)"
To evaluate the safety and efficacy of the Visualase System for necrotization or coagulation of
epileptogenic foci in patients with intractable mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE)
Role: Other researcher (Neuropsychologist)

B. PENDING SUBMISSIONS

C. UNFUNDED

XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

Educational

Neuropsychology, Culture, and Diversity Seminar: Developed monthly seminar series for
neuropsychology staff and trainees in order to discuss culture, diversity, equity, and inclusion in
the practice of clinical neuropsychology as well as research and neuroscience more broadly.
Seminar topics are broad and include guest speakers, journal club,- case presentations, group
discussion/reflection on current events, and learning of practical clinical skills, etc. The primary
objective is to facilitate greater cultural awareness and skills for ethically working with diverse
populations^

XV. ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES

XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS:

National/International:
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Regional

Institutional

DATES

2020-

2018-2019

2015

ORGANIZATION/COMMITTEE

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
'Committee

Department of Psychiatry
Multicultural Diversity Committee
Graduate Admissions Committee

ROLE INSTITUTION

Member • DHMC

Member VA Portland Healthcare System
Member Pacific University

XVII. MEMBERSHIPS, OFFICE AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN PROFESSIONAL
SOCIETIES:

Memberships:

DATES

2021-

2018-

2016-

2011-

2011-

SOCIETY ROLE

Hispanic Neuropsychological Society . Member
National Academy of Neuropsychology Member
Society of Indian Psychologists Member
International Neuropsychological Society Member
APA Division 40: Clinical Neuropsychology Member

XVIII. INSTITUTIONAL CENTER OR PROGRAM AFFILIATIONS

DATES , ORGANIZATION
2020- HOBSCOTCH Institute ,

XIX. EDITORIAL BOARDS:

DATES SOCIETY/JOURNAL

ROLE

Team Member

ROLE

XX. JOURNAL REFEREE ACTIVITY:

DATES JOURNAL NAME . ANNUAL FREQUENCY OF REVIEW

XXI. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD NAME

2019 Professional Student Senate Research Development Fund Award
2013-2018 Graduate Assistantship Award, Pacific University School of Graduate

Psychology
2016 Student Senate Research Grant. Pacific University
2015 Student Senate Research Grant, Pacific University

National/International committees:
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Regional Committees:

Institutional Committees:

XXII. INVITED PRESENTATIONS:

A. International:

B. National:

C. Regional/Local:

Date TOPIC ORGANIZATION LOCATION
12/11/2020 Late Life Psychosis Department of Neurology Lebanon, NH

Grand Rounds, DHMG

3/6/2020 Advanced Age and Department of Psychiatry, Lebanon, NH
Cognitive Function in DHMG
Schizophrenia

1/4/2020 Neuropsychological Department of Neurology, Lebanon, NH
Assessment of DHMG

Epilepsy

XXIII. BIBLIOGRAPHY:

A. Peer-reviewed publications in print or other media

1. Most significant oublications (no more than 15):
1. Moncrief, G. G., Aita, S. L., Tyson, B. T,, Abecassis, M.. Roth, R. M.. Caller, T. A., Schmidt,

S. S., & Jobst, B. G. (2021). Self-rated executive dysfunction in adults with epilepsy and
effects of a cognitive-behavioral intervention (HOBSGOTGH). Epilepsy & Behavior, 21(A).

2. Huckans, M., Boyd, S.. Moncrief, G., Hantke, N. G., Winters, B., Shirly K., Sano, E., & Loftis,
J. (2021). Cognition in active methamphetamine use versus remission. Journal of Clinical
and Experimental Neuropsychology, 43(6).

3. Aita, S. L., Moncrief, G. G., Greene, J., Trujillo, S., Garrillo, A., Iwanicki, S., Champ Morea.
G., Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., & Roth, R. M. (2021). Univariate and multivariate base rates of
score elevations, reliable change, and inter-rater discrepancies in the BRIEF-A
standardization samples. Assessment.

4. Aita, S. L., Zolding, E. Z., Greene, J., Garrillo, A.. Moncrief, G. G., Trujillo, S., Gioia, G. A.,
Isquith, P. K., & Roth, R. M. (2021). Enhanced interpretation of the BRIEF2: Multivariate
base rates of elevated scores in the standardization samples. Child Neuropsychology.

5. Borgogna, N. G., Aita, S. A., Trask, G. L., & Moncrief, G. G. (under review). Psychotic
Disorders in College Students: Demographic and Care Considerations. Psychosis.

2. Other publications fexcludinq any listed in part 1)

a. Original articles:

Not applicable

b. Reviews:

Not applicable
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d. Books/ book chapters/monographs:
Not applicable

B. Other scholarly work In print or other media
Not applicable

C. Abstracts: Include both oral, exhibit and poster presentations.

1. Suresh, A.. Wishart. H. A., Chan, A. M.. Jacobson, 8., Moncrief, G. M.. McKenna, D..
Lowrey, C H.. Hayes, 0. A., Caldon, K.. Meehan, K. R., & Hill, J. M. (2021). An Early
Neurotoxicity Assessment Tool to Optimize Management After CAR T-cell Therapy
[Poster presentation]. Northern New England Clinical Oncology Society, Burlington, VT.

2. Lee, J., Waszkiewicz, A., Moncrief, G. G., & Roth, R. M. (2022, February).
Psychometric Properties of the NAB Naming Test in Persons with Epilepsy. [Poster
presentation]. International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

3. Jacobson, B., Moncrief, G. G., Alta, S., Waszkiewicz, A., Roth, R. (2022, February).
Executive Function Associated with Integrity of the Non-Epileptogenic Hemisphere-
Based on Intracarotid Amobarbital Test in Persons with Epilepsy. [Poster presentation].
International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

4. Aita, 8. L., Randolph, J. J., Moncrief, G.G., Fisk, J. D., Wishart, H. A. (2022, February).
Comparison of Factor Structure of Self- and Informant-Reported Fatigue on the Fatigue
Impact Scale in a Multiple Sclerosis Sample [Poster presentation]. International
Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

5. Aita, S. L., Moncrief, G. G., Carrillo, A., Greene. J., Trujillo, S., Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P.
K., & Roth, R. M. (2022, February). Clinical Multi-Group Examination and Comparison
of Multjvariate Base Rates of Score Elevations on the BRIEF2 [Poster presentation].
International Neuropsychological Society, New Orleans, LA.

6. Moncrief, G. G., Aita, S. L., Roth, R. M. (2021). Self-Rated Executive Dysfunction in
Adults with Epilepsy and Effects of a Cognitive-Behavioral Intervention. Poster
presented at the 2021 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,
eConference.

7. Moncrief, G., Watts, A., Fallows, R., Mullane, A. (2019). Preliminary assessment of
judgment in neuropsychological testing with older adults: Associations with education
attainment and performance-based functional measures. Journal of the International
Neuropsychological Society, 26(S1). Poster presented" at the 2019 annual meeting of
the International Neuropsychological Society, New York, NY.

8. Rindge, M., Moncrief, G., Daniel, M. (2017). Predictors of conversion from mild
cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's dementia confirmed by autopsy: A pilot study.
Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 24(S1), 73. Poster presented
at the.2D18 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,
Washington, DC.

9. Moncrief, G., O'Neil, M., Tun, S., Storzbach, D. (2016). Cognitive reserve and
postconcussive symptoms reported by blast exposed Operation Enduring
Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) Veterans. Journal of the International
Neuropsychological Society. 22(S1), 306. Poster presented at the 2016 annual meeting
of the International Neuropsychological Society, Boston, MA. •
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10. Moncrief, G., Scott, BJ., Tun, 8., Storzbach, D., O'Neil, M. (2015) Cognitive reserve
and neuropsychological test performance in blast exposed Operation Enduring
Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF) Veterans. Journal of the International
Neuropsychological Society, 21(81), 42. Poster presented at the 2015 annual meeting
of the International Neuropsychological Society, Denver, CO.

11. O'Neil, M., Tun, S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2013). Cognitive impairment in blast
exposed Veterans with a history of mTBI: A comparison of cutoffs for impaired scores.
Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 20(S1), 40. Poster presented
at the 2014 annual meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society, Seattle,
WA.

12. O'Neil, M., Hutson, L, Tun, S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2011). Psychometric
properties and factor structure of the British Columbia Postconcussion Symptom
Inventory (BC-PSI) in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom (OEF/OIF)
Veterans. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 17(S1), 142. Poster
presented at the annual .meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society,
Boston, MA.

13. O'Neil, M., Hutson, L., Tun, S., Moncrief, G., Storzbach, D. (2011). Postconcussive
symptoms reported by Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom
(OEF/OIF) veterans: Effects of blast-exposure and PTSD diagnosis. Journal of the
International Neuropsychological Society, 17{S1), 143. Poster presented at the annual
meeting of the International Neuropsychological Society, Boston, MA.

14..O'Neil, M.E., Hutson, L., Tun, S., Moncrief, G. &Storzbach, D. (2011). British Columbia
Postconcussion Symptom Inventory (BC-PSI) factors associated with blast exposure
and PTSD diagnosis in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom
(OEF/OIF) Veterans. Poster presented at the OHSU Department of Psychiatry
Research Forum, Portland, OR.
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Key Personnel

.

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from

this Contract

Amount Paid from

this Contract

Gran Moncrlef Neuropsychologist 140,000 50% 70,000

'
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■Ceimmiiiioow

•eOn LiPel^c
iBtcrtnCM^

EzMidvc Officer

StATO OF NEW

DEPARTMEip.OFjHEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET. CONCORD, NH 03301
603-2?i.S3iOO .i-m4151--334S ExL 5300

:Fu:,603-a7]-S95; IpD Acdnr/l^
www.dlilu.ah.80V

February 18,2022

Hio Exp^lCTcy. GpvemqrChristopher T.'Suhun^
and HpnoraMe ^unidl

State.House
Concord. New Hampshire 03361

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the,Department of: Health and Human Services, Nw Hampshire Hospital; ito
enter into a contrart with, Ma^ Hitdicodt Memorial Hospital (yc#177l60), Lebanon, KlH, In ttre
amount of $442.505'fbr tSno provision off Neuropsycholcgy Services at New Hampshire Hospl^
(NHH) arid the fanned :New Hampshire Fdrerisic Hospital (NHFH). with the option:to renew fbr
up to six (6) additional yearSi rpffectiye upon Governor and Cburicil approval thfotigh June;30,
2023. 'Generai Funds! 64%. Other Funds !(Pro>rider Fees).

This request represents brie (1) 6fthree;-{3yborTe8Fk)ridln^ Mary HFtchcock
Mernprial Hospital for the fbllowing services: 1) Neurppsycholbigy Se^rvices; 2) Psychiatric and
Medical SerylcM; iand 3) Clinical and Adrnlnlstr^e Ser^ces. This request Is cpntingerit upon
(Soyernor and Goundlapprovalof ailthr^ {3).reque8t8.

Fur^s are available iri the foliowlrig^accounts'for State FIscarYears 2022 and 2023, with,
tte auttipri^ 'to adjurt^ line Iterris within the price liriiitatlon and encumbrarices betvimen:
'^.le fisCTi y^^^ Budget O^re, if needed and justified.
05T95-94-946bl0^66d06b SERVICES, HEALTH AND HU^N SVPS
DEPT OF, HHS: NW HAMPSHiRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, ACUTE;
PSVCHIATRIC SERVICES

State;
Fiscal Year

Claaa/
Account

Class Title Job Nuniber, Total Amount

2022 162-566731 Cohtracte for Prgm Syc ■ 94058000 $108,192

;2023 162-500731 .Cpritra^ for Prgm Svc; i s4P^Q6Q! $334,313

to^ $442,565

EXPLANATION

The Departrrierit currently has an ^reement with the Mary Hitchcock Mernpriai Hospital,
whjch was cqmpetitiyely bid In 2016, to pi^de physldari, clinical, arid adrriinistrative si^ces in
8^erit7) 8e^O0 areas: Hampshire Hospital; Glencilff Home;' Medicald; Childreri, Youth,
and Fariiiiies: Behaviorai'HMilh- iElderiy and Ad^^
eidsting agreemerrt iridudes an.c^iontb renew services.through June 30.2025;. However. HouseBill?, of the 2021 R^ulariLeglstatiyeSewiori.appi^ Departriientfbrthe'
purpose iof Wridru^ng a 24rt^~fprerj8ic psycW hpspitel.

in providing opporiunititt fdr-eUiienM. tb.oofugvc, AcdrA wfqw/ulcnct
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Hi* E^liency, Governor Ch^toph^ T, Swuhu
;6Sd the HonbraWe.Cound):

P8g6:2of3

Consequently, the'Pepartment need^ to reassess the easting contracted services to
in^nwrate the: new clinical needs :aiislng from, the planhed^New^Hampshire Forensic. Hospital
and released cbmpetitiye bids for 1) Psychiatric arid Medlcar'Sery^ and 2) Neurppsychplr^y
Services. The^Sole Spui^ rec|U6^^ ^|ow Is to corUinue the other frye (5) seryiceereas that
.would hayebwn co^riu^ under the ex^ agreement. Jheeontractorisiuniquely experienced
and qualified to .provide the complex array of clinical and administrative services, to the:
Depar^ent lii these fiye^S) 8eiviceVreas, .which.enable the Depaftmeht to rrieet a wide, range of
specialized health and dinjcal needs of New Hampshire residents.

The fotlqwing table outlines the bepartmeht'e reprocurement strategy, whidi .indud^
threeftd) dlstind actions. The pepartmeht'will teiminate the cuirerit agreement upon eppfbval of
cbntr^s specified In the table.,As noted below, the rieurot:»ychdlogy, psychiatric, and medical
services comppnehts^of the existliig .cont^ract have toen.ibid put to incor^^ new fdtBnsic
psychla^c hospital needs rather than.incprpprating.them irito an existing agreerheni

Reprdcurement Strategy
.. .. . ' •

pescriptlori of
Service Araa.

Pfocurernent DHHS Areas Served.

.NeUropsychology RFP issued November 2021 NHH

Ppr;en8lc HospitaJ*

Psychiatric and
Medical Services

RFP Issued July 2021 NHH

Glehcliff

Fbrerisic Hospital*

Clinical ' ̂and
Administrative

Services

New Sole Source, Mpdicaid

Children, Youth, and Farnilies

Behavioral Health

Elderly and Adutt^Seiyices

bevelppmental Services

* The Departnient antcipates.the Forensic Hospital will! open in State Fiscal Year 2024.

Approximately 4500 individuals will be seryed during'Statp Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023.
The, purpose of this' r^uest Is for the Contractor to defiyer, neuropsychology sen/lces tp

NHH and ;the planned NHFH.bV providlng highly quaiifi^ persorinel to meet staffing needs,^ and
working witH the Departmeht.tb continue developing artd refining ari integrate merital heajth care
system by appjyirig pHncjples.of manag^ (»re for dlriical tn^

;The pepartiTient wll rponitpr services by reviewing patierit rwuropsychology prp^ss ah
summary reports, Viid morithly staff repqfts provided'by the Coritrectpr.^

The Department ..select^ ,the-.eohtractor through a edrtipetitive bid rprocess ■ using ,'a
Request fdr.Prpposal8.(RI:P);that'W^ posted on the Dep'artrhehl'e ̂ bsite frdrh November 24,
202ithrough'l^cember-22,2621.The rev'ewed
and scdred by a tearh of qualified lndividua|s; the ̂cprirTg SheetJs^^^^

As-lefenehced IrtjExhibil A, Revlsiohs-tp Standard ̂ r^emeht Provisibris of the attached
agreement; the^partjes have the pptibn to extend the agreerherit fbr^ up to six.(6) addltlorial years.
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His Excetiency. Goyembr Chrtetp^er T: Sunynu
and thd HonorableiCoundl

Page 3 of 3 '

co'ntingfentupon satisfartbry delivery,^ available funding, agre.ement of the;pai;t]e8, and
Gdvemdf arid Couhcll appfovai:-, ■

Should the GoyoiTibr and Council not authorize this request.'the State's ability to provide
essenlialineuropsychplpgy'sefvic^ adults at-NHH and the planned NHFH;will be severely
limited, piiwhg'those individuals at.senous risk.

Area served: Statewide

Respectfully subrhltted,'

Lbri A. Shibinette

■Comrhlssibner



Hampshire Department of Health' arid Human Services
Division,of.Fihahce and Procurement

Bureau of.Cpntracte and Procuremerrt
•  . Scoring Sheet.,.

Project ID #'

ProJectTIt!©, «Nbu"r"opsycholoqy.^fvlc^>V^''--'';

s  . '

Maximum-
Points"

Available^

}rr*'=5"-5^i'\

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital^: >

.TecHiiicall ""'-it'/'-t

t \ ■?• '> vt
Experience.(Q1),':^:"'v," v;. ■:30..'"< 30"

QInical:Rra'ctice"XQ2)/ '':'.- 'a ' :? V^l-' .? 35

Pefeanance'Moni^nq (Q'3)^.'C
'vyf.'''^^\A' 1

.  ':i2 . . . .

rS"-'
ReaTJitii^'.(Q4) 'u7:Jii':CP^ -A,".-A0. ."i- 40 . ,

LeaveiRdiaes:(Q5)^. j3 30

Retention ,"i>40,<.,i'-r 35

0

.-,i.';v-''ii^' 0

0' .

-  0. - , . .

0

0:

V- ;Subtotal-technical '260 182

Cbsti"":^*r"'^';:;-Tr it:-""-
...

Rfoqrim: §^ffliist'(A'p"c>^^ix B)i
r>H-i/?''H''-'
-"-i ' 33.

£lz:.' ja. r-V-«i4»-::-;t-»AJ .. 0 .

Subtotel • Cost 50 33
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DpcuSIgn Eriyelope ID: 28FBp250-AC09-42CA-9C7D-.985907B5A5A9'
FORAl NUMBER F-37(verslon;i2/l 1^019)

>Subjcct:_Neuropsycholpgy Services (^P-2022-NHH-02rNEURO-01.)

Nolicc:' Th[s;agreement and all of its-atlachmcnts s^^^ becoinc public upon'submi^ipn iq Gpycmor and
Excculivc Council.fprapprpyalr <Any.irifprmatidn;thaH private, cbnfidentiai or prppricta^ must
:bc clcarlyidcQtified.tp the and agreed to In \vrit[n'g'pribr to sighing'thc cpnt.ract.,

AGREEMENT

Thc'Statc pf.Ncw^HatTipshirc ahd the CorilractOr hereby mutually agreCas follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

,i. fbENflFIGAtiON. " L
1.1 State Agency-Name

Ncw!Hampshire;P^arttf!cht of HcaU.h.and Human Scryicw

1.2 State Agency Address"

129"Plcasahi;Strcct
Concord, Nhl 0330,1:3857

1,3; GphtractPf Name-

Mary Hitchcbck Memorial: Hospital

1.4 Gphtractof ,Address

One^jMed ical Gent ef Drive

L'ebanpn, NH:P,3756

1.5 'Cpnfractpr'Phphc
•Number

(603) 656-7549

1.6 Account Nurnbcr

'05.-95-.94^9400i0-
.87500000

1.1. Cpmp.leti.oh Date;

■•Junc36,2023

1.8 "Price Ijmilatmn

$.442,505:

1.9, Contracting Officer.for;S.talc Agency

.Nathan p.. White, Director-

1.10 Stale. Agency 'I elcphonc Nuthbcr

(603)27,1-9631

1.11 Contractor SignatureRDmSlgMd by:
^®'f/2/2022

1.12 Name and Title of Cpnlraclbr'Signaipry'

Edward j. Merrens, -mo, chief-Clihlcal Offfi cer

, V—wA9eF&ii9ee<M_.
1.13 State,Agency Signature

DotuMpftbd by:.

^^■/2/2022

1.14 Name and Tilleof State Agency Signatory

,3ds.eph T". caris.ti chief Finatfcial 'Of|f-fcer,
1,15' Appro.'^T'By.'fhc;N^ Department of Admihistratioh, DivMsidh of Persdnhcj (ifapplicable)

•By; -Director, On:

116 Approval by the.Attorney .General (Form,'Substance;and E\cc\x\\on) Of appliccible)
b'y:'

By."] P-"': 3/2/2022
icDHaiceatcmr.

1.17 Apprp.vnl by the Goycrhdr.ahd J^'TCutivcGouhcil ,(if:appjicnbje)

.G&C ltem-mirh^rr P&C Meeting Date:

Page l:6f 4
Contractor Initials

08

Dale 3/2/2022:
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2: SERVICES to BE performed: Thc^Statc of. New
tHarnpshi.re, .'acting thrpugliflhe agency identified in block; 1.1
("Stale"), engages cbntractor Idqitifled 'in block, l:;3
("Contractor") to perform, and the'Contraclor shall.perform, the
work or sale:of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described; in the -attached .EXHIBIT B. which is incorporated
herein by reference ("Services"): .

;3.- effectiWdat^^^ services.
3.1 NolwitHstanding any Iproyision 'Of this Agrecrn^t to the
contraiy,' <and'!subjcct to the approyal of the Gpycrndr and
Executive Council of thc.Statc of Ncw.Hampshirc,'if-applicablc,
-this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hefeunder^ shall
;becofne cfTwtivei ,on' the. -date, the Govemor and -Executive
^COunciUapprdvc- this Agfccmcni- as. indicated, in block 1.17,
unle^^ho^such appYpy^l is required, in which c^eJh.e'Ag'fcemeni
shall bcc'prhe cfrccti.yc bnjhc datethe.A'^cemcntJs'^^
iheSiatc Agency as shown ih block 1.13 ("EfTective Date").
'3.2 .If .the Cohtractor commences, the Services prior to the
:EfTectiye.:Date,,all.Services performed by the Contractor prior 10
the Effective Date shall bc -pcrformed at .the sole t^isk of the
Gphtractpr,.ahd in the eychfihaljhis Agreement docs not.bccomc
icficctiye, ;.the State ;sh_all have- no ii.abiiily tp. the ̂ Cpntractor,
iincludihg without limitatibn; any obligation to pay "the.
dontracior for any costs incur'rcd or IScivices' pe^prmcd,
'.Contractor-miisl compictdali "Services by thc.;Gpmplction Date
ispecifiedin block 1.7.

4. COI^JpiTIONAL,NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Nptwithstahdihg, jany prpyisipn, of this lAgrcerhcnt to "the
contrary,, all pbligatipns rpf the Stale hcreundcf, including,
wiihout.limiiation;.lhCicpntinjiancc:ofipaymcnts hcrcundcr, are
contingent upon the availability, and continued appropriation of
funds affected by-any statCor fcdcrai- legislative or e.xccutive
action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the
ap'pfopnai.iph or availability, of funding for this Agreement and
ithc.ScppcTor Services proyided;in EXHIBIT Bvln^wholeorln
part; In hp event shall jhc; .State be liable" for any paymchts
hcreundcf in excess pfisuch hyaijable apprppri fAlhC;
event of a rcductjpn or .tcmiinatiph' of appfoprialcd fundsi the
Slate shall have!the:nght to:witiihold payment uriUl such .funds
becomc;availabic,.if:cvcri and shall havc'thc right to reduce or
.tcfrfiinatc the Services undcrutiis Agreement immediately, upon:
giying the ,Cphl'ractor';n6ticc of such reduction or 'termination.
The St^c shall hpt.be'rcquircd IP traiisfcf fu'h'ds^from
account or source tonhe Account'identi fied-in' block iv6:ih4h'e
event funds:in thai Account nrc:rcduccd or.unavailablc.

Si CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.
5.1 Thccpnlraci price, method ,pfRay,meht,mid;^tcfmsd
arc idchlificd ;and .more;p/rticuiafly;ri«cn^^
which is incorporated herein by reference. -
5.2 Thc'.paymenf by Ihc Statc of the contract price shall be .the
only and the complcte:rcimbiirscmcritifo thCiConi'ractor for all
expanses, of whatever nature'incurred by the Contractor ;ih the.
pcrfofmahcc hercbf, arid ̂ shall: be (he only arid 'ihc complele.

cdriipcnsation .to the Contractor for ihc Services. The Siatc'shal)
Wye rio.liabilily to the Contractor other than-ihcicontract price.
5:3 The, Statc.fwcrves^thc right-lb-offset from any. amounts
otherwise payable lo. theCpntrDctpr; under this Agrecfricht-thPsc
liquidated amobnts ,rcqiiircd of permitted by N.H. "RSA -80:7
through'RSA'80:7rC or-any other prpyisiPri of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any, provision in this Agrccfncnt to the
contrary, and notwithslanding unexpccted circumstanceSjrin no
event.sHajl the total of all payments authorized,;o.r actually made
hcfcliridefi exceed the Price Lirriitation set forth^n block 1.8;

A GOiVlPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/E^UAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.
6.1 .In-connection with the performance of the Sciviccs, the
Contractor .shall comply with.'all-applicable statutes, laws,
fegulatioris,; and ..orders of ifederali; state, county lor- municipal
authprincs which jrhpose -ariy- .obligation or duty, upon- the,

Coritractpr, i.ncludirig-,,but riot litniied fp,.xiyil,rights arid .equal
employmcnt'opporturiity laws. Ih addition, i.f this Agrccrrichl is;
funded in any part'by monies ofthc.Onitcd StattK, thoConlfactpf
shall comply with'all federal cxecutivc.'orders,jruies, regulatibris
and statutes, and with any rules,regulations and ̂guidelines as^the
State.df the United.Slates;issue;lo'implcmcnt ihcsc:rcgulations.
TK® Cdritracipf shall also comply .with all appHcable;intcllcctual!
property laws;
.6:2 Diifirig the terip of this Agreement, t he C6ritipc>6r,shall not
discriminate against .employees or apblicants fprempl^dyrn^^
because of race, color, religion, crCcd; age; sex, handicap, sexual
.orientation,;.or national origin and will,take affirmative action io
prevent'such discfifriination.'
6:3. The ebrilractdrlagrccs to.pcfmit;thc State or United States
•acc«s to ririy of llVc Goiitractbr's books, fe.co.fds:arid accduhts- fb'r-
ihc purposcdfasccAainingcpmpiiancc with^ifful^.rcgulal
and orders;, and the cpvchWl5'; terms'aii'd rcpriditions of this"'
Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL. ,
T.rThc.Coritractbrshall.al its own.cxpcnse provide rill personnel
ncccss^ tpypcrfor'm.,the'Sefvic«. The Cohtraclori warrants that
dll pcrsbriiVcl 'engaged Iri 'the Services ishall be qualified: ,10
perfcirrh the 'Services, and shail be rpropcrly licensed and
otherwisebuthorized to do so under oirapp^licablc laws.,
7.2 Unless oihcr\visc authorized in writing, diiringKhe tcrnh bf
this Agreement, arid for a period bf :six..(^y months after the
Complctidri Date-in block il:?; the Cp'ritractpr'shall riot liifc, and
[shall not permit any subcpntrrictpr 'o"r 'Other pcrspri, firm'iqr
corporation vvith. whom it'is-engaged fin a' combincd cfTort to
Iperform the Scryiccs.lb.hirc, any person who is a'Statc employee
or ofiicial, who is-materially.'involved in the procurement,
adrii'iriistratiori or performance, 'of this Agreement. This
pfpyisibrishall sufviyc.tcfriiinaiion of ihis.'Agreemcnt.
7.3The'Cbntractirig Oniccr.spM iri.block I.9,,df his or her
[successor,'shall be the Stalc-s fcpres'e^^^ In the cychl of an)'
dispute ;Cohccrnin^' the- iritc'rpretatidh :df this Agrcemerii;. the
Contracting OfTlcer-s decision shall be final for thb.Stale.
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8. EV^.Nt 6f DEFAUL^^
8;i ̂ y 'one pr more.of ihic foHowihg acis or omissions oT:ilie
Contractor sliali conslitute,an event of.dcfauit'hcrciindcr (-'Event
of Default"): '
8.1.1 failure to. perform' the S.eryicM sal.isfactpHly or on
schedule;
8.1.2 failure.to.submit any/cpd^^ hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 faiiure'lo.pcrfprm^^m^ term or'condiiion of
this Agrwmcnl.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any-Evcnt of.Default, the State.may
take anyone; or.morcj or al!, of the follovving actions:
8.1'1 giVe'the ContractoV a xyritten notice specifying the Event of
Default and requiring" it to Ik rcmedi^ within, Jn the absence of
;a greater or1e«scf?spwjficatiori of tinn.c,;thirt.y (30) days from the
date bf'lhe notice; and Event of peiauit is not limdy cured,
icftriihatc this Agreement, cftcciive two (2) daySiafter giving the
Contractor noticeof termination;,
.8!2.2give-thc Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Dcfaiili' and suspendlng-all payments -to" tTe made iihder this
Agreement and ordering ̂that. the pprtion pf the cphtract price
which -wo'uld '.otherwise accrue ,to the Cpntractbr :during the
period fipm thc. datc.'of such'notice until'Suc
.dctcrmmes ihat: the Cpntractpf h^ cured the Event of Default
shal) neyier be paid to the Cpntractpr;
.8.2.3 give the Contractor a writtcn noiicc specifyingrthc Evcnt'.of
I)cfaultrand.sd''oiT.against any othcr^obligations thc'State may

• owe "to.lhb cTpntractorahy.damagcs .the Statc.suffers by reason of
any Event ,of.Default; b.nd/or
8.2:4 giye the CoHtractbf.a wriUcn notice specifying the Event of
Default, t;t^t •tbp- -Agrccm^^^ (as breached,; terminate the:
Agrccmcnt and^pursuc any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both. ' •
8.3. bio.failurc by ihc'State to.cnforcc.anyprovisions hcrcofhncr
anyEvcnt of Default shall be deenied a.waivcf of il.s rights with,,
regard to. iha't . Eycni pf- Dcfauli, or any subsequent Evcn^
Default, Np.cxpress fall.ur.c;to;cn^^^^
be deemed a wajvcr pf Jhc rigHt'of the State to enforce each and
all'Of.tHe(provisjpns hcrebruppn.any further or other Evcnl-of
Default on the pait of the Contractor.

9.tERMlNA110N.
9.1 NotvvitK<rtahding phragt^ph- 8, thd State; may, at .its sole'
discfctiph, lenTiinalc-lhe Agre^ fcaMri,,ip whole or
in part, by thirtypp) days wntien-noliccito thc Gonlractor thai
the Staie-iscxcrcislng its.option,to tcrminaicithc. Agreement.
9'.2 'in thc cvcnt of,an early tcrrninatioh of this Agrccmcht for
any reason other .than the completion of the':S'cr\'icc's^^
Conlractbf sHail, ql the -Statc;S djscrclipn^ 'deliver ;to tlic,
Cphtraclihg Officer, notjalcftJfaiV^
of .icrntmjjtiph,- a repprt i("Tcrminatjpn: Report") describing in
'detail aij 'Serviccs:pcrfbrmed,*ahithc contract price.-carncd, io
and-including:lhc;dalc bficrminatibn.- The:form,,subjcci^matlcr,
content, and number of copies ofithe Terminalion Repprt-shall
be idcnticallo ihosc.of any.FinafRcpprt dekribcd in the ailachcd
E?CHlBiT3.;ln ndditibri,'aHhc(S)atc's;;discrcti6n,
shall, \viihih 15. days pf n'Qticfe.pf early icrminatipn, develop and

•Page .3

submit io the State a .Transition Plan- forsemccs under the
Agreement.

10. DATA/AQCESS/CONFiDENTIAtrn'/
'PRESERVATlbN.
10.1 As iiscd in tills Agreement,- the word.'ldata" shall mean all
information anS things dcvelopcd;or obtaincd.during the
performance of, or.acquircd or developed by reason of, this

, Agreement',;includihg,jbul hot limited .to,.all,.studics,.rc^^
fiiesi.formulae, 'surveys, maps', ch.arts, sound r.ccording.s, vidcp
recordings,, pi.ctprmlrcprodu'ctipnsvdra'u'in^,['analyses, graphic
rcprcsenlatipns, cpmputcrpfpgrams,Computer prjm
letters, mempranbaj papers, and documents, all.'whciher
finished or unfinished.

10.2 Ail data and any ,property which has'bcen received from
the State or purchased with funds'pro.yidcd,for that purpose-
under this.Agreemcnt. shalljbc the property bf.lhc'.Statc,'and:
shall be returned tp.the State upon defnand-o.f upo.n.teminm
of "this Agrwmc.ht for an'y.re^oh.
10.3 Gpnfidehtialily of data shall be governed by NTI. liSA.
chapter 9 l-A'or other existing law. toisclosurcioTdata requires
prior v\Titlcn approval of the Stale.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the
performance of this Agrcerhcht 'thrC.ontractbr is in" all respects
ah. indcpchdcht cbntractpr, aiid (is neither hri agCht; nor
employee pf lKc State. Neither the dontractor npr any':qf its
pfficefs, emplbyccS'/agcnts or mcmbcrs'shaH have authofily to
bind the Stale pr.receive any bcncfilSi workers' compensation or
other emoluments provided by the Siatc to ils,cmpl6yccs;

12. ASSlGNMEr^/DELEGATIpN/SUBCpNTRACTS,
12.1 The^Cpnlracibr'shall not'assign, or bthchvisc transfer any
iht.efcst in this Agfccment wjtKpul.lhc prior-written; noticcj-which
shall be provided lolthe Statc at IcastTihccn (15) days prior.to:
thc:assignment,- and a .written consent of.thc Stale. For puiposcs
of this, paragraph; a. Change of .Control shall constitute
assignmeni: 'Change, of Control" riicans- (a)' mcfgef,
consolidation, or.-a trmisactipn or s'cries.oTrelat.e^ lrahsaciipns(ih
which a third paTty, together 'wiiji its, afTiliates";:-bccomes" the
direct brindircct p\vm'cr of fifty"percent (5,0%). or more of the
voting shares 'or simjlar .cqui.ty..i.ntcrcstsi.or co'rribincd'voting,
powcr.pf the Contractor, or (b) the:sajc bf.all or substantially all
of the assets of thcContractor. *
12.2 iNone of the Services slialf be subc.o'htractcdj b'y-the

'Contractor without pridr writtch'ndticc and cpnsCnt of thc'-Statei
Cie Statcislch'titlcdto'copicspra^ andassignmcnt.
•agreements andishal! not be bound, by any. provisioms contained
in-a subconlracl ohan assigiimcniagrcementdo .which it,is not it;
party.' •

13.1NDEMN1FICAT1.0N. Unlc^olhcrwisc exempted
the Cphlractpf-shairindcmhifyianddirdjd harm
offi.bcrs .and employee, from arid'ogaihst' any and all. claims;,
ilabilitics'ahd cbst/.fpr any perSpnai;;ihjury or property damages,,
patent or cppyrighfinfringcmcni-, or olhcrxlaims.asserted against
the Stale;ritS:officera or employees, which arlse'diit of (or which
may, be- claimed io; arise-oul :of) thc.rticis dr-ibmi^qt^cffthe:

pf4-
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Contractor,-or siibcpriiracXprc, iriclucljhg but'hot .limits to'the
negligence,,rcckl,c5sj^ ihlcntiohaj cpridiict/ The StateJshalj;n^
W liable fbr any.costs incurred by the Gbhtraetor'prising under
this paragraph il Notwitiistahdihg lhe^foregoin^^^
contained shtiil be deemed to'constitute'a waivcrbf the sovereign
immunity of ihe'StntCi which immuniiy.'is'hcrcby rcservcd,to the
State. This, covenant :in paragraph 13 shall survive the
"tcrmihatio1i;of this Agrcemerii".

■ ,I4.;INSIJI^CE.
14.i The" Contractor'shall, -at its sole expense, obtain and
coniiniiously maintain in force, ^and shall require any
isubcontractor^or assignee'to obtain and maintain in force,-the
ifoliowing insurance:
,14.1 !l.-commcfcial:gcncral liabiliiy-insurance^agaihst ,oH .claims
of bodily ihju^, dcath\orprdpeiHy damage, in amounts of.not
less thah '$l';OOP,OOP'per occuirchce aridi S2,Op(),Op6 aggregate
pr'cxccssiah'd
14. I.;-2 special cause of loss coverage form covcringjall.propcfty
subject to-subparagraphvl'O.2 herein, in an amount not-less than
80% of the whole replacement value of the prbpcrty.
14.2.The.policies described in subjjaragrapH lJl.I ,herein.shall be
on policy fbrms'ahd.chdpfsemcnts approved for uw in the Slate
bf:Ncw.'Hamps.hirc.by thc^ Department of Insurance, and
•issued by insurere licensed in'the State oTNcw'Hanipshire.
i4;l The Contractor shall furnish to'.the-Go.ntraclihg 'OITiccr
identified in block 1.9Vor his or her successor, a ccrtificatc(s) of
insurance for all: insurance required under this Agrccmcni.
Contractor shallialso fumish to ihe'Contracting Officer identified
in block, l.p,,of his.or hcr:succcssor, cc,rtificatc(s) of insurance
.fo>.all rencwalCs) of Insurahcc rcqiiir^ undcrlhis Agreement rib
later than .leP 00) .^lays ̂ priprjlb the cxpirafibn date of each
insurance policy.' The bcrtificatcfs) of insurance; arid any
renewals thereof shall be attached and'arc incorporatcd'hcrcin by
'reference.

15. \V0IIKERS'.C0MPEN3ATI0N.
•| 5.1 By Signing this agrceriicnt'.thc Coritfactbr agrees,- certifies
arid Asiriprils thaUhc Cbritracfdri's iri.co^
from, the requirements of.?4.H; RSA;'c.haptcr 281-A (''IVorkers'
Co'mpihsdtidh'').
15'.2 To the cxteril the Goniractor is subject to the rcqiiifcmcnts
of W.H. KSA chapter 28J-A, Contractor shall^maintain,, and
Tcqliirc any subcontractor or, assignee to.:Securc and maintain,
paymcm pf Workers' CoriVperisatibri Jri,;cpriricciibn; with
activitiesAvhich the persori.proposcs to.undcrtakc pursuant to this
Agreement. -The Cbntracior. shall furnish the Cbnlracting OiTiccr
identified in block'1.9, or his ofhcr.succcssor, proofof Workers'
Compcnsaiibn in the manner described in N.J^. RSA chapter
!28lrA ;and,,.nny: applicable fcnewal(s)/thereof; which shalj be
'attached; arid arc incp'rpprat.cd herd by ibfercricc. The Stale
'Shall iibt be fcsppnsibjc fbf paymerit bf any" Workers'
Cbriipcrisdlori. prcmiums/'pr'.fc^^ claiiri of .behcfit for
.Corilfa'clbr,- or tiiiy Subcorilractor employee of Contractor^
\yhich might arise under applicable -Stale bf-New ;Hanipshirc
Workers' Gompcnsaiion laws .in connection with the
performance of ihc'Scrviccs undcr this Agreement.

16. NOTiCE. Any npticc-by a party.hcrcto'lb (he qlhcrjparty
^shaH. be deemed to have been duly deli vered or'glven'at the:ti.m"e:
ofmailingby certified mail, postage prcpaid,-.in a Unitcd.'Stafes.
Post Office addressed to the.parties.at.the addresses given in
blocks .1.2 and ,1.4; herdn.

17. amendment. This Agreement may bqam^^^^ >vaij>cd
br discharged only by an iristrufnent;in writing signed by the
parties hereto and only after approval 'of such amendment,-
waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive CbunciKof
the State of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to Statc IaWj-nilc or policy.

18. CITOICE OF LA>y;ANp FORUM. This Agreement shall
be gqycmed, intefpre.tcd .and cbristracd j fi accbrdari.cc Aviih the
laws of the State bf New'.Hampshird and is. hiriding upon ..and
inures to the benefit of the partics"arid their fcspectiye successors'
and assfgns; The .wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by ihe.pafties'to express ihcir:muiual intcrit, and noirule
of construction shall be,applied against or in favor .of any party.
Any actions arising out of this Agrecmcni shdl .be bfqughtari'd.
riiairitairicd in New Hampshire SupefiOr Cburt which shall have'
exdusiypjufisdidibri th

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In .the'event of,a conflict:
between the terms of this P-37. form (as modified in EXHllJlT
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, Ihc, terms bfthc:
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIES, The parli.cs hereto do not intend tp'
benefit any third parties arid this Agreement [shall not'be
constnicd-to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. Thc hcadings throughout the Agreement;arc,
for reference, purposes only, and^ thc words: coritaincd 'thcfcin
shall iri .nb way'be held tb-explairi, rpodifyi amplify bf aid in ,the
irilerprctatibn, cpnslfuciiph of meaning bf the pfpvisiqns .of this.
Agfeemeiit,.

'22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying-
provisionsisct forthiin the attachcd EXHIBITfA are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event ̂ y priKe p/byisions of Uiis
Agreement arc held by a court of competent jurisdiction", to be
confrary to any stale or federal law.'thcTcmaining provisions of
this Agrccmcnl.will-rcmain in fullTorcc arid effect.

24. ENTII^.AGREEMENT. TKis Agrccmci^^^ njay ,bc
dxeciitcd in a. riU'mbcf of bbiiritcfparts, each of ;wHich ■shall be
dcciricd' ri ri 'brigirial, -cpri.stiliitcs the •entire 'agreement arid
uridcrstariidihg .bclwccri thd parties;, and ;suF«rscdcs all prior
agrccmentsaiVd understandings with respect to Ihc subjccl-mattcr
hereof.
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New Hampshire pepart'm and Human Services
Neurbpsychology^Servicesi , .

EXHIBIT A

Reviisions to Standard Agreement Provisions.

1;. Revisions t6 Form P-3.7/GenerarProvfsibn

iA. Paragraph [SV^Effectiye pate/Qpmpletionjof Services, is amended by'adding
subparagfaph 3.3-asifdli6ws:
3!3. The parties may extend the Agreement for MP" to six (6) addiiipnai years

from the Gompletlon Date, contingent upon" satisfactory .delivery of
■sefvices, availabIe,fundibg,agfeerneht:of the parties, and approvarof the
'Govemor:and'Executive Council.

t.2. Paragraph /..^Personnel, is arnended by rripdifyihg subpafagfaphs 7.1 and,7.2,
to-r^d:'
-7.1. The- Gontractpr shall af :its own experise proyjde all personnel

neeessaiy itp perform the Services. The Contractor certifies, that all
persPnriei "ehgaged \n' the Services shall be qualified ^fo perfprrn the

■ , .Servibes,, and shair be^prpperly licensed and ptherwise aUthoiized to
do so under alt applicable Jaws.

7% Unless. Ptheiwise authorized jri .writing, during the terrn of [this.
Agreement; land fpr a period of six (6) mbnths after the Completion
p[^e |h block 1.7, the CohtractPf's personhei invdived in this project,'
shaii'hot'hire, andshall notp'ermit.any subcontractor or other person,,

■firm "pr corporatipn with ,vyhom jt is engaged |n a-combined effort to
pefforrh the Services to hire, anypefsori' who is.a State-emplpyeeor
official, .whois.rriaterially ihvplyed in the prpcurerpent. adminlstratiori
or performance of this, Agreement; This^ pfovisiph shall suivive
^tefriiiriatidh of this Agreement.

■  1.3. .Paragraph-9,.Termination, is arnended by,modifying subparagraph'9.2 to'read:
■9.2 In the. event of ah early terrfiihatioh of this Agreemehffbr ahy.reasoh

other than the Compleliori of.the Services,'the Contractor shaii; at the
'  ̂ .:State\s.dis.cretipn, deliver to the[Co.ntraCting Officer; not later than thirty

(30) ddys after the dateof teltriihation. a report .(Termiriatibn Report")
describing In detail all Services: perfprrned, and the ebptract price
earned, to and :lhcludihg the date of-termination. The form,, subject
imatte'r. cbntent, and number of'cppie.s of theTerm[iriatipn Report shall
■ be identical fP. thpse of apy final Report described-.In .the attached
Exhibit iB. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractbrshalli
Avithin thirty (30) days, of no.ti.ee'of early termination^ develop-and
subrnjt' rfp "th,e [S.tate a; Transitiph Plan 'for services under -the
Agfeemeht.

1.4. Paragraph 12, .As.signment/Pelegation./Subcp.n.tracts; is arnep.ded by. adding
subparagraph 12:3'.as follows;

RFP,-2022-NHHr02:NEURO-dl Mary Hiichcock Merhbrial.Hospilal Co'nlraclorlnillals
,  3/2/2022
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New.Hbmpsh'ire bepartmieht of;HeaIth and Kurnah Sei^ices
Neurdpsychoiogy Services

EXHIBIT A

12.5. Subcontra.ctp/s'are subject to the same cpntractual conditions jas Ihe
Coritractbr and "the- Gohtractdr Is 'responsible to ensure; subcpntractpr
^compliance with those conditions; The Contractor shall have written
■agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed
and how.corrective action shall be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
i^ubcohtractpr-'s performance' oh an ongoing basis andfake corrective
:action.aSnecessah/. The Gbntractor shall ahhually prbVide.the State with
a list of all subcontractors; prpyided .for under this-Agreement 'and ■nbtify

^'the State'of any inbdequate subcbnt'ractdr 'perfdrma
i .5. Raragraph i;4, insurance,Isemerrded by mbdifying.subsectiori 14:1.2. tbdelete

the textjn its.'entirety and .replace it to read:.

14.1.2. ;Prdfe.ssibnai 'liability insurance ih the amount-of !$1,000,000' per
occurrence and..$3,6ob,000. per annual aggregate.

1:.6: Paragraph 14, Insurance,' is amended by modifying subparagrap.h.14.'2'.to read:
14:2. The poilciesdescribed in subparagraph 14.1, herein shairbeon ppjicy

Tprms and :endo.rsernents approved lor use Jn; the Stated! New
Hampshire by. the N.H. Department of Insuranpe, and .issued by
insurers, licensed in the State of" New Harnpshire .or" registered to.
conduct business in the State of N.ew Hampshire.

1 ;7. Paragraph"17, Amendment,, is amended by adding subparagraph 17.1 ,.to read:
47.1 -In thelevent.th'e" .State.wisheC to change:'the locatioh{s):lh which the

services-are performed by the Qontractor.h.ereunder; in whole orin
part, the.'State shaltprovide Cbnlractb'r with reasoh.able.adyah.ee
written" noticecf the. same. Thereafter, the parties shall meet Iri good
■faith in-order to mutually agree upph possible adjustments to the
Terrns and conditions, if required, which .dhall.be documented-in the.
form, of dn, amendment to .this Agreement in accordance with
paragraph'17'.

;~D8

^RF,P-2022-NHH-02-NEUR0^01 ^Mary HilcHcock:Mem6ri3l Uosj^.la' Cbrifracloj; Initials
'  ' • " " . 3/2/2027
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New^Hamp.shire'Departmerit.bf H and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBjTB

Scope of Services

1. :Statement of Work

. 1.1. the-Gontractbr shall provide heuropsychblogy servibes at New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH)'and the planned New Hampshire, Rorensic Hospjtal (NHFH)V

1.2;. For the purposes of this agreement, all referenced tp;days shall mean calendar
days.

1;.:3. :Fpr the purposes of this agreement, all references 1o business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday, from ̂8 AM to 4 PM. .exbludirfgstateiarid federal
holidays.

1;4. No.servicesfn thjs agreement carr be subcontracted by the CbntractorV

1;5. The'Departrneht supports training :and .educalidhal jpfbgra'ms'fdr 'unlicensed
.staff^and/orieduc^tibnal trainees;:but does, not lri.tend to incur any expenses as
:the result of unlicensed staff .and/pr educational trainees\learning In State
facilities.- Th'e Contractor 'shall iprovide all supervision of unlicensed,
etaff/educa'tipnal .trainees, including coverage" during :the primary superyispr's
leayetirne.

i .6. ■NeurbPSVchblbqv'Services

1.6.1. The, Contractor shall, prpyide.. 1.5 full-time" equivalent (FTE)'
.  , ineurppsychblbgists who are physically present at^NHH Monday-

through Friday during .npimal business hours, unless .otherwise
apprpyed. by'the." Department. The Cpritract6r shall eh'sure each
:heufbpsych6Iogist:-

I.e.iiVHas attained a .Doctor of phjlpspphy (Php) degree: Jn
Psychblpgy or a Doctor of Psychology ;(PsVD):de'gfee;

1,.6.i:2. Has.a minimOm bf;twO:(2)'years of post-fellowship:experience
'in:

1.6.1.2;. T. Neurocbgriitive. scfe'eriihg;

i'..6.i.2.2. . Comprehensive ;neuropsyeh6|pgica.I .asses.sment
.pfptocpls; and

1.6.1.2.3. Comprehensive neuropsychological report
\yritlng; :and

•1 ;6;1.3. Has.experience in the iritegfatlbh of cognitive test results With-
.data.from structu'ral and functional brain imagipg:^and

1;6:1 ;4y Has, at all tirnes. anyactiye Psychplogist license-issued by the
; N H Bpafd of Psychbiog i sts.

t.6;2. At the request of the Contractor, the Departrpeht's Chie(^Executiye '
Officer, of"'the Inpatien't'Mental ■Health System may,- at their djspreflfo^^

RFP-2022-NnH^2-NEURp-pl CbhlrBCtoflniliah
3/2/2022
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New Hampshire Department of .Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBltB

waive the requirement regarding two '((2) years of post-feilovvship
experience, referenced.in Subparagraph 1.6/1.2. above.

1.6.3> The Gcntractor shaii.ensure the heuropsychprogists. meet with various'
■ jhpatient psychiatric; lahd/or forensic patients-,, primarily adults,, to
conduct ne.urppsycholpgical assessments and testing.

1.6,4.^ The -Gontractpr' shall ensure heufdpsychologists: analyze' results^ of
neuropsychology (assessments and complete- neurop.sych.ology
reports 'in the format requested by the Department within six (.6)
business, days of completing patlent'testihg.^which includes but'is- not
limited .to:

1.6;4'1; Reviewing al) past psychiatric;' medical records;
meuropsychplogical testing and behavioral incidents; and

t.6,4.2. 'Providing recprnmendations for treatment.,

1.6.'5. The Confraptorshaii ensure neuropsychoiogists.,participate in a team-
ibased-Cafe.model, which includes but i.s not limited to;-

1.6,5.1.,Actively contributing to patient treatment p|ans and
discussions.

1.6,5.2. Developing andl maintaining ppsitiye .relationships with
Department staff, patients, famiiieSi advocates, ̂ community
pfdviders..and :other interest groups: vjtal to, the'functioning 'of
the. Department's system of care/lnciuding fpr the purpose;of
transition plannihg by adhering to the department's ,policiWs
and; standards;

1.6.6. ■ the Gpntractor .shaji ensure neurppsychologistsibavG the capacity fp
act as internal corisuitants to other providers, .as identified by the
Department, relative to neuropsychoiogy ,and Jts: potential appli^tipns
and uses "inthe cpntext paXi.ent.pppulatJpns,

1.6.7. The ConVactpr shall (ensure heurdpsycholdgists :have the ̂ability to
appear and,testify in all .opurt and.admihistratiye hearings, asrequired
-bViheDepartrfieht.

1,,6.8. the Gontractorshall'deiiver ne:urppsycho|ogy.seryices to NHH and.'the
planned;h)H.PH"by:

■  '1 ;6.8.1. Providing highly qualified personnel; and

:1.6.8.2. iVVorking with fhe New Hampshire pepartmeht of Health and
' Hwman (Services ("pepartment"| ta continue deVelopihg ahd
refining an integrated mental Jiealth jcare: system by :appiying'
principles of:managed care tor cijnjcal treatment;.

-D8

RFPr202"2-NHHX)2-NEURb:01 Mary Hitchcock MemoriarHospilar Cohtracior Initials'.
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'  EXHIBITB

1;6.'9. The Cqht'ractor shall recrijit and retain qualified" "Individual
;(^Cbritrabt6r; Persohhei'') to fulfili ihe requireijfehisi described herein
within siy (6) months Of ihe eontract effective: date. The Gontractor
ehairerisUfe;

1.6.9,1. Contractor Rersprinej are employees of the Contractor.

1,6.9:2. No-Gpntractbr Personnel are' considered :emp|pyees of'the
'State of'New Hampshire..

i;6.T0. the-Contractor agrees that one (1) PTE isOqual to one (l)'fui!-time
employee-whp works forty:(40) hours per week.

1 ;6.11. ■ The'Contractor shall ensure all Contractpr.Personnei meetand adhere.
;to:

1.6,11,1, The'codes of ethical cphduct applicable to their license
■category:

1.6,11;2, 'Behavioral policies of the Department;
1.6,'11.3. 'Department Information seedrit'y and privacy policies and

,use agreements, which have' been provided, to, the.
Gontracipr; :and

1p;l1,4. All other human resource-related expectations 'of the;
"  .Department, NHH, and NHFH; as.well as,;New Hampshire'
.Department of Information Technology ,(DolT) security
policies.

1.6:12. The . Gontractor shall ensure all staffing" positions, provided are
.  iCX)htinuousiy filled of in actiye^recfultmefil. The COntractdrahall:
i,6:i 211. 'Provide the appropriate :Department;d.es]gnee lA/ith monthly^

updates on the recruitment prpces.s, for all unfilled, positions.
1:6.4'3v The. Cpntfactbf shall be splely responsible for providing, at no,

.addltiOrial 'cost'to the. b.epartfnent, qualified, credentlajed, 'Sufficient
etaff coverage to'fiij any gap;in: coverage-during any anticipated, leave
:time, ■including sick leave, yacatfo or continuing m"^edical education
leave lasting 'more; than .three (3) consecutive :days. unless otherwise
agreed uhofi bh a caserby-case ^basis b.y";the NHH .CEO, arid for
:prOviding lapprOpfiate transition between" staff c6\/ering for, those; on
.leave... Qualified sufficient' staff, coverage means persGnhei; who . meet
ibr -exceed the qualificati^ of the vacating .staffimember who have.
current'Credentia'Is^tp work ;at NHH;

T,6:14.: The G'ontractprahall trackand report staffing levels by.RlE ;uhits on a
rnohthly" basis to,the Department. The COhtra'ctor shall hot be required
•to provide hourly tihiecardsTor clinical staff.

:RFP-2022-NHFHJ2-NEURO-01 Maiy;Hltchc6ck Memorial Hospllal Conlfactor-lniilals.
•3/2/2022
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New Hampshire Pepartment.oJHealth
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EXHIBIT B

l .eiis. The Contractor shall ensure the; care needs of- patients are-fuily
addressed by modifying the:numbef brhburs;per week by FIE
and/or PartVime PTE staff, as requested iby the Department The

.  ' • Cohtrabtor-shall ensure Fart-Jime FTE staff .work t
nu'rribenof hours in accordance with FTE aHocation.

,1:7. Additional Reauirements

i j.i. In'.lhe event of a healthcare ■system .emergency, including bjut hot
.  limited to; .a ideal epidemic, pandemic;, Tacility closures.'or mass-

qUaTanti'nd in. Which -additional staffing .or resources are fequired due
to a.surge.pf'ihdividuals requiring sen/ices',, the.Contractor may-also-be
required fe adjust the totalnumber distaff, both full-tirnferandpart^time,
toTully address the/carejneeds of patients,

1.7.2. All personnel provided by the Cohtractbf shali be subject to approval
.  by thepepartrheht. The. Department will inform the Contractor of any

applicable Department desjgnee^forlhis purpose perpbsitioh.
1.7.3. The Department, at.its sole ■discretion, mayjescind,,either perrnanentiyor tempdrbriiy, its approvalrof any ContractorPersprinelproyiding any

services for apy of the;fpllpwing reasons:'
■1:7.3.:1. ISuspehsioh, revocation- or -other loss .of a required- license,,

certification: or other contractual requirement.to perfo''rm-such
'serylpe.s .under-'the contract;

1.T.3.2. Pfovisibh of uhsatisfactory service, based-on..malfeasance,
.rnlsfeasance, rlhs.ubord|nation or failure to -satisfactorily,
provide require'd'Services;

1.7.3:3'. Arrest or" corivictlon of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or
elcphol related offense;

i17.34. Abolition -of the , role due to' 'a charige ' in ;organl2ational
istructure, lack of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

i.7,/3.5. Any other .reason that Includes,, but- is "not .liniited to::
rniscbhduct; violation of pepartrnentF'Plicy;. yiolatipn of stpte
or federal lavys and regulations-pertaihjng tbthe applicable
pepartment service- 'area; or .a .deterrnlnation made by the
bepaftment that The 'Individual presents a risk to The. Health
and:Safefybf any, staff member-of any ihdividuai.served by the
Departrneht.

1.7:4. In the: .eVeht. of :such. rescissipn, the Department will, to The exteht
pos^ible'cproyide the Cpntracfbr "with reasdn'able adyahced :notice and
the^apjpli^tjle reason. The; Gbntfactor shall, ensure the applicable
md^b;ef(s):-are prohibited fromproyiding^seryices for th^^^
that the Department exereiSes This right. ■No ."adciitibnal paymp^ji^ill

RER-2b22-NHH-02iN£Ueb-bi Mafy Hitchdodc' M^orial.Hps^tal .Cbnlractbr InJUais
372/2022
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New Hanipshire Department of Health and Human Services-
Neiuropsychoiogy Services

EXHIBit B

be paid -by ;the, 'State of f^Jew Hampshire 'fpr any staff :rernoved frorri
duty by-the Department for any reason.- The Gontractpr:

i7.4.i..::Shall, unless the Contfactof Pefsohnei was removed frprri
providing, services .under Section 1.7.:3.4-. proyi.dje:

. replacement personnel who meet all ,pf the: ;appljcable
■  rdquirertierits under the, cohtract/inctudirig but hot limited to
being .subject to^Departmen'trapproval;

17,4.'2; Shall furnish within ten (10) business days replacement staff
who. meet :all of the, requirements for the. applicable position
tunder the resulting cpntract(s) if the duration ."of a .temporarily

j. rescinded, approval is greater than .seven (7.) cal'ehdaf days;
The'Contractor ehall be informed by the Department 'the
enticipated duration for which";approya,l wijj remain;fe,s,cinded.
The. "Cbhtractor shall de resporisible for providingV at- ho.
ladditlonaf cost "to the.' Department, transition services to 'the
Pepartnient.toavoid service interruption;

i7.4.3/;May Initiate, at the sole dispfetidn of the. Cbntractbr, any
iinterhal personnel actions agajnst its own employees'.:f:Jothing
'herein prohibits the Cbhtractor from sepking information ifrorn
the Department regarding the Department's decision,: unless
.;such:iriformationis ptherwise restricted frptTi;disclosure:by the
Department based on 'internal" Department :^llcies of tulesj
State of New Hampshire personnel policies,-rules, collective,
bargaining agreements! or olher state or federal layys,.

17.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior; to prbvldrng the applicable
services for the appllcabjeypepartmentr.serVice area. or. facility, all,

■  required Ijcenses.-ceiiifications, privileges,.or other specified nriinimurn
.qualificatibhs ;afe met ter all "staff, .arid where applicablei .afe
maintained thrpughout.the provision of services for the full terrn of the
cbhiract^ The Contractor shall .provide the appjica.ble pepartment
designee with a copy of ell such dbcuments. the Pbhtracto'r,shall hot,
hold the' pepartrnent financially liable Tor any .fees or" .costs for any
iicenses, bertificatlons or renewal of safhe, iriofTor any fees; o'f- costs-
incurred for.prpyiding copies-pf. said licen.se.s pr-certifications.

1 ;7.6. Ihadditibh to ahyappfdvals required by the Cbhtractor Tor ert)ployees,
the bontractor,'shall' ensure stafrprovide-tirhely; pffbr nbtification to the
ajDplicabl.e.'Deparlment deslgnee foeany anticipated leave .time, unless
otherwise sfated herein •■fbp'a. specific position of- service erea. The-
Cbhtractor shall-ensure that sill staff provided have, a standard amount
of vacation and sick, time, subject to the norrnal .and 'customary
employee benefits arid pbllcles of the bbrit'ractbh ,Hbwev^,'Jthe
Contractor sha ll eo.sureistaff labide by the State'holiday .schetredfile;.^ ,

RFP-2022if^HH-62-NEURO-Oi Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hosptal Contractor Initials
,  •3/2/'2p.22-
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New-Hampshire''pepartment pf Health and Human Services'
Neuropsycholbgy Service

EXHIBITS

1.7.7. The. Goritractor shall .ensure annual- perforrriance. .reviews, are
completed .for ajl Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall
Incorporate feedback frbrh' the :appliQable iDepartnierit desigriee for
,suph reyijews; The.'Gontractor shall ensure that goai.develppmentand
perfprTha'nce irnpn|tpring is resppnsiye to the eyplying needs of thp'
■bepartment over the course of fhe contract.penod.

■i .7.8.. The: Gpnlractor shall be": responsible for managing all employee'
relatidhs and performance rnanagerrientiIssues fpr the staff provided,
in accordance with the :Contfactor's' policies 'and applicable NHH,
NHFH,and/or State of New Harnpshire•policies..

1 ;7.9. Priof to- cohimericihg work, the- Contractor shall ensure ajl personnel
provided . undergo the .following crihiihar background., registry,
screehing ahd medical examinations:
■1.7;9.1..,.Gnmihal Background ^including New Harripshife criminal

background);
-1.7.-9.-2,; Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;
i;7.9.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry;

and

1.7:9.4. Physical capacity examination.

i .7.10., The Contractor shall ensure Gohtfactor persohhel assigned to perform
services under- the Agreement comply With all Department
requirerrients, pplipies', and procedures relative tojn,fection;p,revehtipn,
mitigation, and control to mitigate the risks of disease 'transmission
prior to the-comrriencement of services.

1.7.11. The Contractor shall ;ehsure that the cfiifiirial background, registi^,
screening and medicai exaniinations above are kept, current, as.
required arid in accordance with ithe Departrnenfs. confidentiality
policy; the-D'epartrnent: receives copies bf all>required dbcumeritatiori
prrpr to the cpmrnentemerit of services; and the Department is not be
responsible for any costs Incurred In obtaining 'the dpcumentation.

1,7'.f2. The Gontractor shall :not' utiljze any personnel, . Including
Subconffactprs, to fulfill the obljgatipns of the cpntract, who haye been
convicted of any crime of dishonesty, including but not lirTiited. to
.criminal fraud', or otherwise convicted, pf 'any felony or .misdemeanor
offense for which Incarceration for .uprto- one:{ 1 j yoar ;is-an authorized
pehafty. The Contractbf shall 'Ihitiate/a crirriinai background check re-
ihvestigation of all personnel provided -every \five '(5) years. The
Contractprshall ensure the five (5) year p.eripd is, based pnfhe date pf
the: last criminal .background check conducted by the Contractor or
their agents.

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-0i .Mory Hitchcock Memorial Hospital ConlrBCtor Initials-
•  ' . . . - , 3/2-/2022
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EXHIBIT B:

1-8. State^Qwffed Devices.- Systems and Network Usage'

Eoritractbr .pefsdnriel must use a staterissued device, including, not
limited to cpmputers, tablets,, pr mobile telephones, in fulfiliing. the
requirements ;bf the contract. The Cpntractpr shall ensure all
Contractor Persohnei;

1.'8,1 Use'the ipfprmatipn that they have permission to. -access
solely Tor the pfovisiph of servicesihereunderl or conducting
official State business. Ail pther use or access :is. strictly
forbidden includihg, but not limited, to peYspnar^or other,
private and noh-State.use, and that at no time shall, except as
necessary to, provide: sen/ices, hereuridef, Cohtractbr
workforce pragents'access or attempt to access information"
without having the express-authPrity of the Department'to dp
so;

1.8.1.2. Not access of attempt to access information jn a manner
■  inconsistent yvith the appfoved policies;; procedures,, and/of
agreement relating to system entry/access;

1.6.1.3. Not 'Cbpy; share, distributei sub-license, modify,-'.reyerse
•engineer, rent, orSeli software iicehsed, d'eyelpped, of being
■evaluated by tho'State, At^air.tiiries the ContraPtor must,use
utmost care tO: protect- and 'keep such software .stnctly
confidenhal in 'accordance with ;t.h:e .license. Or any pthef
agrPement executed by the 'State; Only Pquipment'pr
sbfti^afe owned, iicensed, of beihg"'evaluated py the:$tate of"
New, Hampshire, can be used by the: Contractor.. Non-

.  jstandafd software shall not be installed on; any equipment
unless authorized by the- Depaftmeht's IrifPfmatlPh Secufity
Office:

1.8.1.4. Agree: that erhail and, other electronic cpmimunicatipn:
m.essages created, sent, and ,received 'on a State-issu^
Prhail system arethe.property of the 'State.i of New Hampshire
land-to be.used:for'busihess;purpos:es'brily;. Email is defined
;a,s "iriternal' email systems-- or "State-funded email Systems;'-
the Cohtractbr understands ,ahd. agrees that use fbf email
shall 'fplioy/' .Dppahment and, State, of, New Hampshire,
standard pblicies>ahd

1.8.1.5. lUse.-the Internet and/orlhtranet for ac'c'essrtb and distfibutioh-
of ihformati.on'in direct support.of the business-of-the Qate, of
:New Hampshife accprding to, policy of, the:pepartment. At no"
time should theJntefnet be.-used for pefsonai.us'e.

1::9, Key Performance Indicators

RKP-2022-NHH-b2-NEURO:0i Mary Hitchcock Memofial Hospital Contractor Ihlljals
3/2^2022
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EXHIBIT B-

The Cohtractor shall ensure "neufopsychblogists comply-with the
following'Key Performahce Indicators:
1;9:T.:T. Neurppsychplpgy Reports

1.9.1.1.1. Gompieted, as'noted In" ^an Individuai Progress
Note, in ;the patient's medicahreco.rd, and* hard
copy of the report submitted, for fi ling with the
Medical, Records technician, within isix (6)
bustnesadays of completing patient-testing.

1,9.1.1r2: Contents within assessment summary reports are
cOrripliant with ,all Cehte'rs " for'Medicare and
Medicaid .Services. (CM;S.) and pepartment
documentatiOri requirements.

1.9.1.2. Standardized Process

1,9,1.2.1, CpmRlianee with aH existirig and future
staridardized work processes with tha :goal of
reducing'variation,in care,

1.9.1.3. Annual Reviews

.1.9.1.3.1. Annual reviews are documented on all staff
prp.vided by the 'GOntractpr. The Qontractor shall
ensure peiformarice-- ^ evaluations are. in
compliance with professional standards. for
evaluations per GMS, an'd'the Joint Commission
guidelines.

1..9.t.4'. NHH and NHFH" Policies

T.9.T.4..1. Adherence Xo NHH. and NHFH policies includihg,
but hot limited-to poiicies^oh Medical Recofds
bocumentation and Progress Notes,

2. Exhibits incorporated

2.1. The Contfactof shall, use and .disclose Protected Health .Inforrha'tion in.
cpmpliance; vvith the" Stari.dards- for. Privacy of IndiyiduaHy identifiable Health
Inforrhation (Pnvacy Rlile) (45 CFR PartS' 16.0 and 164).'under the. :Health
Insurance. Portability. ;and Ac.cp.untability Acl (HIRAA)' of 1.99B, and in
accordance wjfo the atiached.Exhibi Business ̂ Associate Agfeement, Which
has been executed by the parties.

V  '

'2.2. The Contractor shall manage .all confidential data related to'.this Agreement in
accordance with'the terms of Exhibit K, 'DHHS Tnfoifhation iSecurity
Requifemehts.

2:3. The Contractor shall compjy'with all Exhibits D through K, .vyhich.are/atta^ed

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 - Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospllal 'Conlraclor Initials.
"  , 3/2/2022

B-1.0 Page.BofH Data ^



DocuSign Envelope ID: C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

DocuSign Envelope ID: 28FBb2"5O-ACO9T42CA-9C7D-9B5907B5A5A9

New Hampshire Human Service$
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBITS

hereto arid incorporated by refererice herein.

3. Reporting Requirement's
' i S' ''

^3.:! . the-Contractor sshall provide mprithly .staW reports tp. the ̂ Department to
sufficieritiydpcumerit actua apd services rendefed-'Mohthiy staff
reports sh'ali include thetoll'owing:

'3.A;1. ,MQnthly:Staffing:schedule:

3.1.2. Acfual'F^E:wofked within the monthly reporting,period;.arid

3.13. Actual FTE:a!lbcated to sick tlme, leave time, or any other npn-clinical
time within-the monthly repprting period.

4. Perfbrmarice Measures

'4.1. the; Department will monitor Contractor .performance by ■.reviewing the
C6ntractor>"pprnpjlance.with'the key pertprinarice indicators described!abbVe,
iarfd the riibnthiy staff reports provided by the.Contractor.

4.2. the-ContraQtorehall actively ;and regularly collaborate with the, Department to
enharice cpritradt management, improve^ results, arid adjust'pfpgfafri .delivery'
arid pdlicy based.on successful outcomes.

4'.3. the. jibntractpr-may be required to provide-other key data arid metrics to the'
■DepaHrhent, [ricluding client4evel dertipgraphic, performance, erid..service;
data.

4.4. Where applfCabje. the Contractor shalj cpHect- and, ishare^ .data: .With the
Department, in a fbrmat specified by the Departrnerit.

5. Additional terms

S.l i Jrripacts Resulting frprn Court Orders or Legislative Changes
5:1.1. The Gdritractor agrees that, to theyextent future state* or .federal

'  legislatldn or court orders may -have ' an •impact on thfe •Services
described,hefdin, the State of NeW Hampshire has the/ight-to riiddify
Service,priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement
sp;as itp achieve coiripliance therewith.-. Ih; the .eVepl thatoriy Tutufe
state or- federal legislatiori or dourt'order impacts, .the' Services;
dp>cHb:e:d herein, the Department shalf pro.yjde: the "Gpntractor wi.th
reasdnable adyaribed notice of ariy-neGe'ssary.modiflcatidri to Service
priorities ari'd :experiditure requirements. The' parties, agre;e? to
.copp.erate in the' Impjementatipn (and planning of; any such,
modjficritibrt and ;the Departririent shall cPrisider' Cdrilractor's"
rea'soriable requests ' with irespect !tb .such, rrio.difi.eatipns.
Nph/VithstandJrig: the; foregpihg, the 'Department shalj^retairt fhe final
righttb"riiodify^Service pridrities-and'experiditUre.fe'quifetobrits^
■Ihis-.Agreement ;so as to: achieve cdriipliarice, with'any future.^^alfi. pr

;RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEORO-01 .MaiyHilchcock Memorial Hospllal .Gontraclorlniliais^
;3/2/2Q22
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New Hampshire^Pepirtment of Health and Human Services
Neurbp'sycliblogy Services.

EXHIBIT B

federal iegislatidh or^cou'rt brdefs that have an litipact bh the Services
descnbed herein.

5.2; Gfedits and Copyright

5.2.1. All dbcumerits, notices, press releases, Tesearch reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the. performance-of the
■seiyices.pf the-,Agreement shajl include the following staternerit, "The
•preparation of" this (repbrl. dbcUmerit etc.) was firiariced under an
pontract yyith the/State of New Hampshire,■pepartrnent of Health and
Human"' Services; with funds. provided iri part by Ihe State: pf New
Hampshire land/or such other funding sources, as v^'ere. available or
required, e.g.; the United States Department.of Health, and Human
Services."

5.2.2. ,AII materials purchased und.er the .Agreement shall have prior
:apprpyai from .the Department before printing, pjpductjpri.'djstributipn
or use.

■5.2.3, The; 'Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original;materials produced, including,- butnot jirnited to:
■5.2.3.1. Brochures.

■5.2:3;2. ;,Resource directories.
.  :5.2.3.3, Prptocpls or guidelines,

■5.2.14. .Posters.

5.2.'3;5. 'Reports,.
5.2.4. TheiGohjractqr shall not reproduce ariy majefials^pfpduced uhder the

Agfeemeht-without prior writteh apprbvaLfrbm\the'.Departmeri
5.3. Eligibility Determlnatio

5.3.1. If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
detenriine: .the eligibility of individuals such' eiigibility idetermlnation
.shall" be rh.ade iQ.-accordance.vyith applicable'federal and; state laws,
-ireguIatTons, orders, guidelines, poIicieS:and procedures:

'5.3:2. :E)igibility determinations shall be made; on forms provided by .'the
DepaKririerit fbfithat, purpose arid shall be hiade and'remade at such' .
tirries as:are prescribed by the Department.

5.,3;3. :!n addition to the;delermination fomnsTequired by the pepartment, the
Contractor shall mairitaih a data fi le bh eacb recipient; orsefvices
hereufider, which file'shall include: all irifp'rmiation nece;ssary to
eupport an eligibjlity.determination^ such othepmfonnation as the
bepartitierit ireas'oriably requests In writing. The': Coritractbr shellfurnish {he pepartment with all forms, and 'dpcumentation' r^P^p^

RRR-2022-NHH^2-NEURO-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital . Contraclor lnlllals
37.2/202,2;
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exhibit B
^ ̂  .

.T . . ' . * . .. ^

eligibiiity-determlnatlohsThat.the Departmeht rnay requestor require.

5.3.4. the Gontractor understands that all applicants' for services
hefeunder,-as wej] as individuals declafed Ineligible have a right,to a
fair .hearing Tegafdirig 'that .detefmihatibri. The: Conti'actor Hiereby
cbyeriarits: and agrees, that all, applicants for^ services, shalj; be
perialtted to fill/qutan application fofni and thataach applicant,'or re.-

/appiicaht shall .be' Informed of his/her right .to' a; fair hearing -.In;
a;ccorda,nce with Department regulations,.

6. Records

6.1. the'"Cohtractorehall keep-records that inclDde, bCit.'are not limited to:
■T? -, " ^ '

6.1.1. Books, .records, documents arid other; electronic of physi^l -data'
evidencing and,'feflectihg, all costs and 6thef'expenses: incurfed."by" the
Contractor in' the perfofmance'of the .Agreement,, and alj income
received or collected by the Gontracton

6;di2V All/records ..iTiu be mairitaiiied in accbfdahCe with .accouritirig
pfbcedu'fes and practices, which sufficiently and properly feflectallrsuch
costs'ahd/..expenses;,and;w are acceptabloto the pepartrnent,-' and
to. inGlude.-withbut lirfiitatlon, all ledgefs, bbbks; records, .and' original
evidence of costs;such asrpur.chase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
fequisitlops for rn.a.ten.als; inventories, yaluatlphs of In-kind .cbiitributibns,
labbf tirhe'cards. payrdlis, and other recofd.s requested or'.requi'red;by
the:Departmeht.

7. Continuity, bf Services and Liquidated Damages
•.7.4. ^Liquidafeddamagea.are specified in, and may be assessed In acQprdancewith,

Exhibit.G, Rayment'Terms;. Section 14.

f—'.0?'

[m
rRFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 Mary Hitchcock liteMorial Hospllal Contractor. Initials
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;New Hampshire Oepartment of Health and Human Services
NeuropsychoIdgy'Services

EXHIBIT C

Pavmerit Terms

This Agreemerit is funded by;

T.1. 36% General funds.

1.2. :64% Other funds'(Provider Fees).

For the purposes of'this Agreement:

,2.i. The Department .,has identified :the Cohtractor as a .Contraotbr, .m
accordance with 12 GFR 20d.-33T.

:2.2;. The Departrnenl has Identified this^ Agreenient as. NONiR&Q,; ip'
accordance.with:^ .CFR §200.332.

The: Oo.ntractpr ,sh.a|l provide; services un.der this- Agreement ba.sed op the
Budget below per applicable Service .Area arid State Fiscal Year. The
.Contractorshall,he coiripensated to provide "arid .deliver the services described
Tn. Exhibit BVS.cqpe df.Seryices, on the ,bas|s of this Budget:

Budget

Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year
'  3/1/2022-6/30/2022 7/1/2022-6/30/2023

$lb8ii92

3.1. TheiGdntractorshailprbvi.de.'.the Department a detailed persdnnel listing
for all staff performing services on an'arinual basis for each":State Fiscal
Year, or .more frequ.ently as required by the D.epartment, to .ensure, the-
acGufacy pY ipformatiori cpritain^ thereiri land'.prbpef cb'st allocation.
The Contractor'Shall.ensure the.lis.tings:

3/1.:1 ■.Irictude ipforimatidp that jricludeSi but isapit,limited, to:-
:3.1.i:T. Staff names.

■ 'r3l1.v1i2-. Staff titles..

;3.f.1,.3. ^Personnel costs inclusive Of salary, cost's, fringe,
benefit coats, .and Indirect rates.

3.1.2. Are in a format as determined ah'dappfoved by the:Departmerit.
'3.2. The. Cbritractpr shalivautoma'tically reduce invoices by the apprppfiate^

:amount 'i'mmediateiy upon a position becoming vacant and not being
. backfilled with a loctim.

-3.3.- The Contractor shal|..ensure all providers and/or clinical staff are fiilly
crederiti.aled'and enrolled" with :ins.u!:a.nce carriers 'prior to beginning,
work.

RFp.2022-NHH-02rNEURO^)1

C-1.2

Mary Hitchcock-Membrtal Hospital

Page 1 of 6
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New, Hampshire^pepatiment of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXrilBITC

4, the;e.ontractor shall..subrTiit an' Inyojce in a form'satisfactory to the^ Department
by the'twentieth:(2Qth) wbrkihgday of.the'following:^^^^ Ideritlfies'and

.  requestsjreimburs'emen for .authorized expenses incurred 'in, the prior month,.
with;lheexception .pf-dune Invoices, whlehehall besubrnitted by the lenth (:10"^.)
of ihe fojlowihg^hiphth : The .dohtractof ■shall ensure the'invpice" is complefed,
:daied andreturned'to the:Departmenl-in order to initiate payment.

-6- In lieu .of hard copies, all invoices, may be assigried an electronic signature and •
ertiailed.to NHHFrnahciaiServices@dhhs.nh.aov. or invoicesrhay be. malled to:

Financial Mana'ger .. '
Dep0ment of Health and Hurn.an Services.
New Harnpshire Hospital
71 ^S.d.uth Fruit Street
Gpncpfd,-:NH 03301

6. The Departrrieht shall rhake paymeht'to the Contractor within thirty (30) days'
of receipt of .each-invoice;.'subsequent to approval of,the s.ubmi.tted invoice and!
"if sufficient, funds are ayailable. subject to .Paragraph 4 of the .General
:Provisiohs FOr'm.Number P'-37 of this Agreement.

7. The .Cpntractpr shall designate a contact, person .to resplve any questipris .pr
.discrepahcjes regafding invoi The Contractor shall:
7.1. Provide: the Department with the name, title, telephone number, fax

number.and erhail" addres.s of the contact^person;.,
7.-2;. Notify/the Department in the eveht the designated cohtact pemph

changes.

8. The^firiar invoice'Shall be due to the Department no later than forty (40) days
after the^cpntract;Completioh date specified in Form P-37.,, General .Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

9. The Contractor must pro.yide' the services, in pxhibit- B, Scope pf Services, :in
cbmpliahce withfuhdlhg requifeme^^

10. The Contractor agre.es that funding pnder this Agreement niay be withheld,-In
yvhble pr In p;art; i.ri .the event of hoh-corhpliahce with the-terms and cbhditlbns
bf.Exhibit.B, .S.cope.ofServices.

11;- . Notwithstanding anything tp' the contrary herein,, the" GbhtfaCtoY agrees- that
Tunding uhdehthls/agreemeht maylbC withheld; in whbleior ih.p'art, Jh'tfie event
of non-compliance vvith ;any. Federal or State law, rule or regulatipn .abplic#je
tO'the.-seiyices orpyided, prlf the. said services or prbduCts'^have Cot-been
satisfactofily icompleted in accordbnce with the terms and, conditions of this
agre.em.ent.

-D3

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 Mary Hilchcock MomorialHospital .Contraclorfniltals
13/2/2022
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New-Hampshire DeDartment of^ and Human Sen/jces
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EXHIBIT C

12. NotA^ithstahdihg 17 of the Geheral Provisions, Form P-37, changes
(irpitecf to '3dju$.lipg :am.ounts within the price limitation ''and adjusting
■encumbrances.:betweeh State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the
B^dgel^^Office may be made by written agfeemeht of'both ■parties/w^
pbtalning; apprbyal of the Goyernor and Executive .Council, if needed arid

Justified.

1:3, Audits

1,3-1; The ^Cpntractpr- rnusl .email ari .annual audit to'
hlelissa:s.mdnnf3>dhhs.n"ha6v If ahy.of the,following dppditions exist:
i3;i .1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in

Tederal.funds receiyed.as a subrecipient pursuant tO'2 CFR Part
200,.during the mbstfecehtly completed fisc^^ year;

T3;1.2. Condition; B - the Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to th'e
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, IM-b, .pertaining tb .Charitable
organizatibns.receivihg support-of.$1.000,000 ofmore.

1,3;1_.:3'; Condition C - the Contractor is a public company and required
by Security and Exchange Commission .(SEC)' regulations to
submit.ah annual financial audit.

13.2. If Condition A exists,.;the Contractor shall submit an annualsingle audit
petformed hy an jndependentCertified Public Accountant (CPAj to the
Departn^ent^Withih 30 days after the, cbnipletioh of the single-audit of
uppn: ,s.ubniission of the Contractor's single-audit to the/FedOrai Audit
Clearinghouse ̂ conducted in accordance with the requirements :of 2 CFR

200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative Requiferhents, Cost
Pfihciples, arid Audit Requirements for Federal awards.

13.3. If Condition .8. or Condition C exists,, the Contractor shall eubmlt -an -
■annual fi .noncial audit performed by an independent CPA'Within 120:
dsys the close of the Contractor's flscaj year;

1,3.4. 'In additibn to, and .not, in any way in limitation of obligations of the
understood and agreed by .the Contractor''that the,

Cohtfactof ;shall be: held liable for any state: or fedefaj auditexceptipns
and shall, return to ;the .Depaftmeht all payments made under the
■Contract to which exception has been taken, or which bave been
disallowed .becausedf such an eyception.

14. Liquidated Damages:
14.1. Cohtiriulty Of Services:'

i4:i:i. The-Contractor and Department agree; that the Gontfactofs
^silure tp|proyide required staffing,, re.quired services, Of ̂ rheet
the .perforrhahce standards an.d reporting requirerrient^ as

RFP-2022rNHH-b2-NEUR6:0i Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospitial Conlra'ctor Inllials ■ ■
rvo "37Z72te:^•^^2 Paoo-3 6f6 Date '
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EXHIBITS

■described ,jh Exhibit ,B, Scope of ■Services, -shall result .'in
liquidated damages.

:14.1i2. The.Gontractorend the Department .agree that:
'It' will be extremely impracticable and .difficult |to
■detenriine actual damages that thefeepartrfient'^^^^^
sustain in the event that'the Contractor breaches.this
Agreement by failing, to maintain the requjredetaffing
levels or by failing to dellvef the required seryices. as'
descnbed in Exhibit.B, .Scope of Services;.

14,12,2: Ariy such ;breach by the'Cpntraclprwili: delay and
.disrupt the Departrneriie; operatiohs'ahd impact its
ability to meet its'obligations.end .lead to sTgnificant
damages .of an uncertain amount; as 'welf as a'
reduction of .services; and

) 4.t:2-3, The liquidated damages as specified .in thjs Exhibit Gi,
Payrheht. Terms, are reasonable and fair and not
intended as a penalty. *

14.2, Notification:

14.2.1. The^t Department shall make alj assessrnen.ts of liquidated;
;damages. Prior tdihe imposition pf liquidated damages, as
described herein, the.'Dep.aftmehtrshal! issue a^ritten notice .of ■
iremedies that will include, as,applicable, the fol'loWifig:
14.'2;ll A,citation-of:ihe Contract provisioh'Vibjated;'
14.2.1.2, The rernedies to" be applied,- "and the: date the

Terriedies. ,shall be im^pbsed. ;(cure peribd). A
reasonable cure period will be: .determined .by'the-
.Depadment.based ;on service ■type, arid to: the-exten'tpbssible, the hbtice:'will not be.'less thah '36 days';

■14,2.1.;3.; The basi.s,fQrthe^Pepa:rtmeh'l'sdeterm1hatibn.'thanhe
remedies shall be imposed;

14.414; A request for a written Correctiye Action. Plan from
the Cbhtractor below] and

14.2.15. The.lirheframe ahd prbcedure .fbr the Cbhlra'cto'r to
dispute the pepartni.ent's determihation.

14.2.2. The.'Contractor-shal! s'ubrhit the written Gorrectivei Actiph, Plan
referenced.ih Subparagraph 1ji.2.l'4above:b the.'Dep^^^
for review, within !fiye :(5) business days.of receiving notification
:^s"spe,cified in Subsection 112:.Npt|ficatibri.

•D8

RFP-2022-NHH-02:NEUR0^01 Mary HH'chcpdi Mefn.oriat Hospital Contractor Iniilals:
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EXHIBIT C

-14:2.3. The Cbhtfactoragrees that the.e6rrective;Actidn Rah is subject
to the Department's approval pridr.to its jmplemehW^^

14;2.4. No liquidated darnages will, be; assessed against; Contractor if
the parties have agreed ;t6 a :Corrective, Action Plan and the
Contractor is In compliance with the terms of the Corrective
Action Plan.

14.2.5. if,the failufe to pertdrm.by the Cbhtfactor-;is-riotjesblvedrwithih
the cure period as specified in the.:eorrective Action; Plan, -as
approved by -the. Department,, liquidated damages may ;be
imposed retroactively to the date of faijufe to perform and will

^ ^ntinue until, the failure is cured-or'any resulting dispute is
/resolved in the'Cqntractor's favor^

.  14.2-.6. the Contractor's dispute of liquida'fed darhages or .rerriedie's
shall not stay the effective date of the .proposed' liquidated
damages-orfemedies.

1.43. Liquidated Darhages:

14„3.;1:: Liquidated damages, If assessed, .shall, be jn thej amount of
$i;op9 per day for each day the Contractor fails to rpeoVth^^
general and specific, service requirements for each^S.ervice
Areaes identified in Exhibit'B, Scppe^of Services.

14:3.2. Liquidated darhages, if assessed, shall be In the ambuht of
$i-,bbd 5per day for each day. the (Contractor fails to meet and
rriaintaip the staffing levels identified; j"n iExhlbil :B„ Scope of
Services;

1'43'.3. Liquidated .damages, if assessed, Chall h.e in the amount Xif
$1';P00 per day for each day-.the;-Contractor fails- to rheet the
perfofniahce standards ideritiified in Exhibit B. Scope of
S_ervices., ^ ■

14.3A. Uquidated damage.s, if :assessed. -shall be in the: amount^Of
, . ,$1iOOO per day for ■each day the Contractor fails to meOt the

■ reporting requirements .identified In Exhibit „B. Scope -of
Service's^

14.3,.5._ Liqljlclated damages^ if ;assessed.^ .shall iapply until ;the.
Contractor curesVthe failure citedlh the-hotificatlori described in
Subsectibn 14,2, or until the resulting "dispute is resolyed Inithe
C,ontractor:S favor.. .

14.3.6. The ;ampurit of liquidated damages assessed by the
bepartmerit.:shall nbt:exceed;-the:prlce limitatibhln; Fbrm..;P-,3.7,
General Provisions, Block 1.8. r- Price Li.mitation...

-05'

P*2P22-NHI:I-02-NEU.RQ-01 Maiy Hilchcock Memorial HosoUal Conlra'clor Initials:
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EXHIBIT G

14..3.7; Guripg the term ̂of this Agreement .and the period for retention
hereunder;: the Depadment; the United iStates P.epa'iiment. of
Health and Human Services, and ianyVbf ;their:'designated
/spr^ssntatiyeS'shalj .have access to'all reports and records
maintained pursuant to the -Agreement for purposes of audit,
exarriination, excerpts and transcripts. Upori;the purchase"by
the Pepartrnent-Qf the"maxlmum',riump^^^ proyidedfor In
the Agreement .and upon . paymerit lOf' the price llrnitalion
herepnder. 'the Agreement and ali theebfiga'tibns of the parties
hereunder (except such obligations asi 'by. the teiths of the
Agreerhenf at^e to be-petfbrmed after the ericl of th.e-terrn efjhis
Agreement and/pr survive the fermlnatibh -.of ■the A^reehferit)
shall temiinate;: prbvided, hpwever, that if, upon; review :of the

. Final Expenditure Report the DepartrTient shall disallow, any
expense.? claimed by the-Gontractor as cosfs herednder the
Departrhent shall retain the .right', at its discretion,,to deduct the

. ,amoun"t;pf such expenses as are disallbwed.ortb' fecoVef isuch
-sums frpm. the Contractpr.

14;4. Assessment:

14.4.1. The rDepartment shall be entitled to assess and recover
liquidated darriages cumulatively under'each section applicable:
tb any given incident;

14.4:2,,'Assessment and recovery of liquidated damages by the
'Department shall be in -addition to, :and not excl.Usive of, 'ariy.
other remedies, .including actual damages, as may be available

,  to .the^ Departrnent for breach of Cohtfact. both 'Pt lavV and ih
equityiiand shall not preclude the DepartmenTfrprn. recovefing
■darnages related to othef acts or Pm'issibns by. the, Contfactof
undei: this Agreement. Impositipn of iiqujdated .damages:, s^hall"

-ribt.limit the fight of the pepartrnent to terminate the G
for default as provided in 'Paragraph 8 :df the General PfbvisiohS

.(^-37).
14.5; :Pamages Related to Failure to Document Medical Necessity:

14:5:1. The ;Qqntractpr;shall be liable to fhe Department fpreny .Ip.sses;
,:in'cuffed by "the; Department which arise out of the failure- of
Contractbr staff to proVide the: required! documentation, tb.

.  support medjca) necessity as [denjjfied in :Exb^
;Services.

Gos
RFP-2O22-NH|:<-;p2-NEpRp-:01 Mary Hitchcock M^oria! Hospital " Conlrac5or'lniiiais
no: K i.' r« 3-7^20^p-1-?' Page6of6 Dalo___ "
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ISIew Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit b

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The yendoT [dentifi^ iniSeciion"1.3 of the General Provisiph's agreesto comply with the pfpyisio.ris of
Sections 515)fSi60 of thfOrug-Free Workplace Act.of 1988 Title y.iSubtille.Dic^l"
.U.S.C; 70Tet.seq;), ;and further agrees to have the Cpntractor^s representative,-as identified in ̂
1.11 ahdr1.T2 6f:theGierie>al Provisions execute the following Certification; "

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES PTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

-US DEPARTMENT OF H^LTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARtMENT OF EDUCATION - CbNTRACtd^^^ '
US bEPARTMENt OF AGRICULTURE - CdNTRACTORS:

This.certificatioh.is required by the regulations implehiehting Secti6ns:5T5T-5160.;of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of-1988 (Pub.,'L. 10.0-690; Title V. Subtltle'D; 4i;U.S;O\7.01 et-se'q.). The January-31.
1989Tegulati6hs were amend^ andpiiblishedas Partllofthe May 25.1990 FederalRegister (pages
21681-21691^.and require certific^^^^ graniees (8nd by infeferice",,s.ubTgfantees ahd.sub
contractors), prior to awa.rd, that they, will maintain a'drugTfree.vyprkplace. Sectjpn 36.i 7;.630(c) of the
regulation provides'that a grantee (and by Inference, sub-grantees and.sub-contractprsTthat \i a State
may elect1o:make one certificationHo the Department in each federal fiscal.year i'njieu o'f certrficates for
eadh grarit dufing the federal fi^al year covered by the certification. The certificate set but'below^ls a
matenal.repr,esentatibh:of'factppoh*whic relianceJs placed when the agency-awards the grant. SFalse
pertiificatioh or ylolatio'ri of the certificatibri shall be. grdurids for suspension of payhierits; suspension or
lerminatiph prgrahts, orgpyemmeht widesuspension of debarment. COhtractors.usihg this,fofrh should
sehd.jt.to: ', '

/

Commissioner

.  ' iNH Department^of Heallh-and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,",

, Concord. NH 03301-6505

i - The grantee^dertifies that it will or .wiji continue to,provide a'drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Pubjishing a staternent notifying employees that the urilayrtui manufacture, disfrfbutioh,-

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's,
workplace and specifying the actions that, will be taken against employees for violation of such
pfbHIbitibri;

1.2. Establjs.hihg.ahVorlgoihg' drVg-free;avya prpgfam to irifp'rrh employees about"
1:2.1. The dangera;bf dm^^ al5use In the workplace:
i;2;.2'. fhe^grari^e's policy:bf"maihtaih[^^^ drug-free, wprkplac^^
1,2:3. Apy/availajDie drug counseling, rehabijitation, and employee'assistarice'p'rograrnsi .an
1.2.4: The penalties that may be imposed'upon employees for drug abiise-violations

occurrin'g-Wthe workplace;
1.3.. Makinbjt'0 rebuirerrierit.that.each employee;td,be engaged in the performance bf-.the.graht.be

giyeh'a copyjof the''staterherit required ̂
1.4., Notifying the emplpyeej'n the slatement/equireiby paragraph (a) thal,„as a conditibn of

employment under the grant, the employee will
•1:4.1. .Abide by thelerms.'bf the statement; and.
1:4.2. Notify'thebmj)lbyer in writing:of his:or her conviction"fof:ayiolati6n;of'acriminal.drug

, slatute.b^ufhng in'the wbrk^^ later than fiye calehdaKdays after:SucH;
cphyjctibn;

1.5., Nptlfying' the agency in wnljng, withi.n.ten calehda^^ recejyihg hbtlce under
subparagra|5h%4.2;frpm an emplpyee;pr pthbrv/ise.receiyjng,'actual nptice .of s.uch cpnyictlpn..
Employers-ofcpnyicted employees niustprpyide npticei Including ppsitipn Wje.ito.eve
officer on whose grant,activity the convicted empioyee^was"working, unless the Federal agencyGOS,

,  _ . , , - •' V"'",'
.Workpiace.Rcqufremehis . - - .3/2./-2d22

a«pf^ib7i3[ Pa^"llor2 bale .
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■ has designaled a central point f6r the;receiptof such notices. Nptjce-shali Include thp
'iyentlficajton number(sj of each \

1.6. taking one;of the following actions,'w 30 calendar days of receiyingpotlce under
.subparagraph i.4.2. :with respectlo any employee vtio is.so convicted " '
:16:'1. ■Taklng^appropnate personnel action*against,such an employee; up to and including

termihatiph, consistent with the requirementSiOf the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,-as
iamended;;6r ' -

1,.6;2. Requiring sucl^employ^^^^ participate satisfactorily in a drug abuselassistance or
rehabilitatipn,program approved for such purposes bya Federal..Slatej.:or ideal health,
law enjprcement' or other appropriate agency;;

1.7.. Maklnga.good.falth effort to continue to maintain'a drugtree workplace through
I'ihiplementatibn of paragraphs 1.1,1'2,1.3,1.4,. 1.5; and 1.6;

2. The grantee rnay Insert in the-space provided below the site(s) for the peffofniance.of work dohe ih'
connection with" the specific grant,

Place of Rerforrnance (street addre^ city, county, state, zip code) (list each, location)

Check D if there are;wo"rkplaces on-'file,that are hot idehtified.here.

Vendor Name:

Ooeuflgnw) by:

3/272022

Date J • Mercens,, ;Mp
Title. ^ ggy

~6s

Exhibit D -:GertifiMtioh regarding Drug Free Vehdor Iriilials,
Workplace'Requlremehts •3/2/2022

cu/DH[}S/tro7'3 ■ ■ ■pflgf2qf2-" ' ' IDate _______
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

Jhe yendof ideritified General Prdvision's agrees to comply with the provisions of
CectiOri 319 of Public Law ipi-l!21, 'GpyerhmVrit wide;Culdahce for Ne^ Restnclions on Lobbying, and
31 y.S.C: 'i3.52„and further agrees to have^he Contractor's represehtatiye'. as idehtifiedjh Sections 1.-11
and 1.12 of the Gerieral ProvlsJons execute;the .following,Certificaliori

US DEPARTMENTiOF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION -.CONTRACTORS

US DEPARtMENTOF AGRICULTURE - contractors;

Programs (indicate appllcabie-prpgram covered):
^emporaiy'Assistahce'.td NeedyjFarniiies uhderTitJe jy-A
Xhiid Support Enforcement Progrann underTide iV-p
•.Sdcla! Services Block G'rant Pro^gram under title i<X
*Medlcaid RrpgTam'under Title XiX '
■•ComXyhity Se'rvices^lock Grant under Title VI

■'Chi[d Cafe peveldpmeht:BI6ck^^(3rantdnderTrt

The undersigned certifies, to-t.he best of his of her knpwiedge and beilef; that:

1. 'No Federal appropriated:funds have been paid.or yyjll be paid by or on behajf of the undersigned, to.
:ahy person for influencing of attiempting to influence an-officerrpriempioyee of any agency, ;a Member
of Cphgfess. ah officer orempioyee.of Cdngfess, or ah employee of:a Member of Congress'in
^connectiPn'^with'the awardihg'bf ahy Federai cohtfactiiCohtihuatioh renevyai„arhendmen'ti or
modiflMtion'of anyFederai contract, grant,: loan, or cpope'fative agreement (and. by. specific mention
sub^raniee or sub-contractor);

'. 2. If any funds other thanTederai appropriated funds, have been paid or vyiii be paid to anyiperson for
ihfluencing.or atterripllhg to influence an officer or employee:of any,agency, a Merhber pf^epngress,-
;an officer o'r enlployeepf Congress, or an eitipioyee of a.Member ofiCbngresslin cdnnectipn with this
Federai contract, grant, loarh. of cpoperatiye agfeement (and by-specfflc mention sub-grantee or sub-
■scohlractpr), the uhdersighed shall cprhplete and subfriit'Stahdard Form LLL, (DiscldsufeForm to
Repprt'Lobbying,- in accordance withjls irtstfuctl.Pns; att.ached.ahdjd.entified.as Stahdafd,.Exhibit-E-l.)

:3. The undersigned shall require'lhat the ianguage of this cedificatipn be inciuded.ln the award
docurheht.for sub-awards at all tiers (Including subcontracts, sub^grants,- and contracts:uhder gfapt's,
.(dans; and cpopefative agreements) and thaLali sub-:recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly,

This certlficatipnls^a'matenal. repr^esehtatioh of fact upph which reliance was^piac'ed .when thjs;trahs'actiori
•was made or entered.into. rSpbniissipn'ofjhis certlficatjpn iS.a.prefequlsite for makirig pf ente'rihg.ihtofhl^
.transaction imposed by.'Sectibn. 1352, Title 31',. U.S. Code.. Any person Who fall to flio the required
pertificatidh shall be,'subject 16 a civil pehatty of not less than $10,666 and not more.than $100^666
,each;SuPh;failure,.

Vendor Name:

-DecySlpnidby:

,3/2/2022: "BJji/JiirJy J, /kuvuuS) Atp'
pate" Merrens. m

Ghief ;Cliriical Officer

Exhibit.EvCertlflcatlonRegarding Lobbying VendofinitialsV' ■ —
3/2/2022'

cy/pH>^iio7i3 Pago\i:of1 Date" '
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CERTIFICATiONiREGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
" AND OTHER RESPONSiBILITY MATTERS'

The Conjractor'^ Section 1/3 oUhe General Provisions agrees io comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the/Rresid^ Order-12549:and 45,'CFR;Pai1-76 regarding bebarment,
Suspension, and Other Respo'nsibility/Matters, and further agrees to,have'the-Contractpr's
repjresentatiye,' as'identified in Sections,i'11:and 1.12 of the General Provisions,execute.the fdilowing
Certirica'tipn-

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERtiFICATION
1.' .By sigriing' and subhiitting this^prbppsal (cbhtractj, the'prospective:pr|rnary participant is proyidjn

certificatiph set out below.

2, The inabiljty of a person to provide.the certification required:below,.will hot riece'ssanly result ih'dehial;
of participation in this dovered.transaction. If hecessaiy. the.pfospec,tiye;participant shall.subhriit an
explanation of why lt;canhdt.provide,.the certification. The certification or explahaUpn'will bd
cohsidered'ih cohnecliph with the NH^pepartrheni of Health and Hunian Seryices' (DHH
.petenTihatiooVwhether to enter,irito this transactipn. However, faiiu/e'of lhe prpspectiye primary
pa'dicipant tbTurhish a certification or an expianation'shall disqualify such person from participation In
.thisJtransaCtibh.

•3. The certification in.thisxlause is a material represehlatibn of fact upon'which reliance.wasiplace'd
whenOHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it ls:laterdel'errnined that,lhe prpspecliye
;prirnai7;participant knowihgly'rendered an.erfbheous certificatibn, in additipn to other rerhedies
!ayailable;to the Federal GoverniTenl. DHHSJrnay terminateThis transactipn for cause or defaull

4. The.prpspecUye printajV pafiipipa'^f shalj provide immediate written notice to the OHHS agency to
whotin this;proppsal (contract^ if at.any:time the prospective.prirnary participant learns,
that its certificalipn was erroneous when submitted or has becorne errbheous by reason of changed
circumstances.

,5.; The.terms:"cbvered transaction;' "debarred.' 'suspended,' 'ineligible,"lower tjer covered '
Transaction;" 'participant." "persph;" "primary covered.transaction;" "princjpal," 'proposal," and
"-yblu'ntafily exclude thjs clause, have the rneari^ set out iri the Definitions and
Gpverage sectiOns of the rulesjmpiernenting Executive brder'12549: 45'CFR'Part-76. See the
'attached defirijtions:

6; The'prospective:primary participant agrees by submitting this.;proposal (c6n;trac0 .that,.'shpuld .the
.proposedicoyeredTrahsactibh be ehTered.'intb,. itjshaii hbl knowinglyenteLihtp anylpy/er tiericoyered:
trarisaction With Cpersph who is debarred, suSperidedl de'c|aredjheiigible, or ypjun.tarijy. exduded
Trbm Rarticipatipn)n""this c upless'authorized byDHHS.

7; The prospective primary participant further .agrees.by. siibrhltting this RrbpoSalthat it will. Include the
"clause.Titled'-Ceftificatibn Regarding Debarment., Suspension. lneligibi.liW;and Vbluhtary;'Exc
Lower TierGovered Transaclioris.' provided by b,HH4 "Withbut mpdi.flcatipn,. In .all .(pwer tier-cpyered
IfansactibhS^arid-ln ail sblicitatipns.ifpr fbwer tjer cpyered trarisactipns. .

8. pajiicipant m a cpyered transaclion may rely upon "a certification of a ,prospective;participaht inr-a,
joNyertler covered transactipn that it'is not debarred,'suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily .excluded
from the^covered transa^ unless it.knowsThat the.certification is'errbhebus. • A particjpant rhay
decide the melhod.ahd frequency by whjchjt determines the..e.ligi.bility;.pf its principajs, *Each'
participant may;-but Is-riot required to., check;the Nonpi;bc.u7ehienl List (of excluded "partiesj.;

9. Nothihg':contame.d j'n.-the foregoing shalLbe construedTo iequire establishmept of a system of records
in 'order to render'in gopdTaith-thexerbficab^ required'by. this clause. The knowledge.ahd

Exhibit F - Certifteation Regarding Debarmenl, Suspension Contractor ihillals
?And!otheVRespon^^ ':3/-2/2d22

cwoHH3/no7i3'. Pago1,of,.2 Date
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Infprrnation of a participant Is hptraquired .'to exceed that which is hormally possessed by.a' prudeht
person In the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Excepl.for trahsactibhs authdrized.uhder.paragraph 6';df these instructions, if a participant in a
cpyered transactiph khowihgjy .enters into a ioweftier^ transaction with a person who is;
susp.e[nded, debarriad.^irieligibje; pr^^^^ excluded from part'cipatioh Jn;thls tfahsactiori, In
addition:to'pther,remedies ayallablelo the Federal gpyerhment, DHHS may termihate'this trarisactibri
for cause or,default-

PRIMARY CqVEREDTRA.NS^^^^
11. The prospectiye primary par^dpant certifies to the best of its.kno^edge and belief, that it^and Its

pHricipalsi ■ ''
1.1:1. ̂ afe^hot presehtlyjdebarfed, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared Ineligible, or

yoluntarily>xcluded;ffb1h trahsactibhs by any Federal department or age'ncy;
,11,2. tiave notwithin^a three-yearpehpd pfecediiig thls^ been cohvictedpf or had

•a ciyii judgment rendered againsythem.fprcommi of. fraud or a criminal bffehse ih' - ,
conneciipn.with obtaining',: attempting to pblajn, or, perfpiming a'public (Federal, State or local)
transaction bna'cont'ract un.der a.public ̂ nsacti.on; violation of Federal or State antitru.st'
statutes or cbmmission of embezzlement.-tiieft, forgery, bribery,- Jaiyificatipbpridest^^^^
"recbrts. rhaRlrig felse statemerils, or receiving stolen property;

1-1.3: are'h'otbresentiy indicl'edfpr otherwise.crirhinally of civiliycharg by agoverhrh'erilal entl^
(Federal,iState or lo.cal) with commission of any of the b^nses-'enurrierated in. paragraph'(l)(b)'

,  ,dTthis.cert|ficatiPh;,ahd
.11.4. yavemot within a[three-yeaf.p^^^ preceding thls applicatlon/proposal h'ad one or iHofe public

barisactions (Fedeia|,.Staty.6r ipcal) terniihatedjor pause bi:'default.

12. Where.the. prospective prihiary participant is unabie-to certify to any of ̂e-staterrients m this
..certlficatibri, .such prospectiye pa'ftlciparit shall attach an explanation to this proposal>(cbhtract).

LOVVER TIER COVERED JF^NSA^
13. By signing arid^subniitting thk^^^^^ proposal (ajntiacl), the prbspectiye-lower tier partidparit, as

defined.lrr 4.5 CFR;,Par176, cprtifies.to .the bbst of its knowledge and .belief thai.itiapd.Its;
13.1. are not presently, debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared Iriel.igible, or

voluntarily-excluded frorn participation in.this-transaction by any federal department or agen
13.2. where the prbspecbye lower tier particlpantis unable to certify to any of the'above,-.such

prbspective participaht shall attach an explanation to-'this proposal ̂contractj,

l^i; Jhepfospective'lowef tier'p^^^ furlheragrees.by submlttirig this. p'fbpbsal (cbnlrect) that it will
include this clause entille^ Regarding Oebar'rTierit, '^spehsi.qri, Ineliglbility, and;
Voluritary Exclusion- Lower Tie^COvered Tr.a.nsa^^^ wijhput;rh(^ificalipr1,ih all lower tier covered
transactions.and in all soiicitations for ibwer^tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name:

«^OoeuSion»d by:

, J-. M}3/2/2022

■Date ^ Me'rrehs., :md
chief :CTihical Officer

—ps
r,

Exhibll-F - Certificalipn Regarding Debamieni, Suapanslpri Cqntra'dor Initials^ —
AndOlhe/Res^^^ .3/2/2622

CUipwisriidrii .Page 2 of 2 Pal0_
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO
FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION..EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The.'Cohtractpr Wehtified in S.ectiph: 1 ;3 of the General Provisibhs.-ag'rees by signature of :the Cpntractpr's
;repre>e"ptative>s identic and 1/12 oMhe Genera! ProvisiPjs,- to execute the fpllpwlng
'certification;,

Contractor wli) comply, and wiil.require.any. subgrantees onsubcoritraciors to comply, with.any applicable
federal nondiscriminaiion^requirem'ehts.'which rhay include;

- .'the OmhIbus'Crime .Control and !Safe Streets,Act of 1968 (42 U.SIC. Section 3789d) .which prohibits
.recipients of federarfuhdirig;'urider t^ statute from discrifiriinatlng, either ih empidymerlt practices d
th;e;deiry,efy :Pf.'seryices.pr'be^^^^ origin, and -sex, The Act
:reqyires;certair^^^ tp;prpdu"ceon EquaJ,.EmR!ciym Pjan;;
- the;Juvenl)e Justice pelinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b})'which adpptis by
reference,'the civil rights obiigatibns'of 'the Safe^Streels Act". rRecipients of federal funding.under. this
.statute -are prohibited frorn.discriminating, either in employment practices or in the deiiyery of seivlces or
^benefits, on the-basis of race;-c6lor, reilgiori. national origin, ahdisex. The ActJnciude's Equal
Employment pppdrtuhity Plan fequirerne^

- the Ciyii RighteAct pf.-1964 (42:.U-S.G. Sectiph .20p0d, which prphibltsjecipients of federal financial
assista'n'ce.frorn d'isOTminatlng pn'thetbasis of race, color, or naiionajorigin jh any-prpgram or acliviiy);

the RehaViiita .1973 (29 U.S.C. Sectipn 794j, \yh|ch.pro^h"iblts recjpientevof Federal financial
assistance from discriminating'oh the'bas of disability; in regard "to employment and the deiiyery,of-
•services or benefiisi in any program or activity:

^ the Americans with Disabilities Act of .1990 (42 U.SiC. Sections 12131.-34), which prohibits:
•diisCriminatioh and ensures equai'oppdrturiity'for persons with di'sabillties'ih empioyrhent, State:arid local
gbvemmehl serViceSpPUblic accommodations, commercial facilities, and transpprtaliph;

- the.Ediicatldn Amendmehts of-1972 (20 UJS.C. .Sectiofis 1.681 1.683,1685-86),. w,hic.h pfbhibits
!discrlmi.h.atipn pn the'JjaSls'of sexTin fejieraiiy assisted education prograrhs;

- the Age-bis,crimlrialion Acfpf 1.975 (42;U.S.e. Sectipns 61.p'6Tp7), which prphibits discrimination, on the
basis of age ip prograrns or activities receiving Federal firianci.a| assistance. It does not include
'employment discrimination;

-:28'G.R.R. pt. '31 .(U.S. Department.of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Prograrhs);:28 C;F.R. pt. .42
.(U.S. bepartment of.Justice'Regulatlons ̂  Klondi'scfimihation; Equal Empioyrhent Opp.ort'un.lly; Pbiicies.
•and Rrocedure's); Executiye'Order No. 1327.9 (equal prbtectlph of Ihe,law's for faith-based ahd.CP'mm.uhity
jorgahizatiohs); Executive Prder-Wd; 13569, 'which prpyide fundamentai principles .and pPljcy-rpaklng'
'crltenaJfpr.partners'hip.s'yMthTajt^ anlJineighbbrliPod orgahizaUpns;;

28 .C.F;R. pt. 3"8'(U.'S. D.epartrheht of Justice Reg'ulations;- Equal Treafmeht for Faith-Based
Orgahizatlbhs): ahd WhiStie.blb>yerpr6te"cti.ohs41 U.S:C.'^7,12 and.The Nati.onal.pefense Authorization
.•Ac.t;(NDAA) for Fiscai;Year.20j3:(Pu.bJU, 112;239. .enacted Januaiv 2,'2dl3) th^^
Enhancement of .Conjracl. Employee Whist[ebiower Protections-,, wtijch protects employees aiigainsl.
reprtSaiforcertajn whistiei)jowing;actlyitJes-in cpnnection-wlth'fedW^

the ceriificate set'out below isia m.ateriai representation of fact:upon which reliance is. placed when.'the
^agency awards the' graht. False certificatiPn or violation of-the certification :shaii be grounds .for
.'Suspension.of ;paymenia,-suspehsion of termination-of grants, or'government wide suspensibhfor
deba'fm'erit.

Exhibit G

'C.ontractbr.lrillials^
CwtiOntkn of Con^aAe*iU-J)'r«gJr«mooU pivulniflo (0 F^al NbrKlkrimkwllarL TrMbritnt 6^

'■oa VVhittMlMMr proMctMni .
.6/27/14. . , ^ . 372/2022:
,R«v.i{(«i/i4 .Page 1 of 2, .Paja
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inihe"eyeht^l'.F^^ cdurt^orF.ederai.or'^Sta.te admihlst^^^ a pdi.hg.df
discnniinat[pn;aftera du onihe grounds ofTace, cplo^ .reijgioh.hatipnal'origin; :pr,s^^^
against a;recipient of fun^ds, the'.recipient wlil fqrwardia cppy'pf the'finding to the Office.fpr Cjvil
lhe,;applicabie;Contractjhg agency.oriiJivision within (he Depai^ent of/Heaith and Humyn'Servlces, a^
to t^ie;Pepartrhent of Heaith and .Humari Services Office of the Orribudsman.' =

The' Gohtractpr. identjfiedAh Section .3. of the. Genefai provisions agrees by .signature of the .Cdhlfactbr^s.
representadye as Identified'in Se 1.,11 and Tl^nf the'GenerarPrbvisiohs. to execute theToHowihg'
certificatipn:-

.1. By. signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply .with thenroyisions
indicated above;.

Contractor Name;

>7^0oeuSt9n»d by:'

3/2/2022 J. Aum^S) M-p
Pate Namet^dvvSrd^'j;. Merrens MD

Chief Clinical Officer

Exfiibit G "•

Coritraclb'r Ihilials^
Cbnricsllcri~o(Ccmp(iaiSc«wiUir»<iuirwMhup«rlidfi(ri9.io'r<^alNa^ ot F«iV>-Ba»«d Oi^wtuUorw

. irid VMsbdUowtr protictfont
yp.n* • ' ' . : ' 'r/2l2022

Page2;Of2 Date



DocuSign Envelope ID; C25C7CB3-7E60-4900-9F56-DBFDDFDE587C

bocuSlgn Envelope lb:.28FBD250-AC6942CA-9C7D-9B5907B5A5A9

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit H,

CERtiFiCATibN regarding environmentaltobacco smoke- '

■publjc.Law 103-227j Part C ^Environmental Tobacco Srhoke; also known as.the Pro-GHIIdreh Act:df'1994
(Act), requires that smoking'hot be permitted In iany portion of any indoor-facility: owned of leased 6f
contracted for by an ehtr^ and.used routinely or re'gulariyfpr.the provision of health, day care, educatipn,
or libfary;servlces..toxhildfen under the age of'18. if the services are'tupded by Federal programs either
.directly or through Estate or ioMl gpyernrnents, by Federai;grant,rooptract. joan, or loam.guaranle.e. The
.lawdOes not apply to children's services provided in private residences; facilities funded.soleiy^by'
Medicare'or Medicaid funds,-and portionSiOfTacilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol.treatment. iFailur^e
to comply, vyith the provisions of the lawmay result.iri the'.imposition ofa civil monetary penalty of.up^to
:$iOdCi per.day.and/brtthe impbsitiph of an adi^lnistfativecbmpliance ofder'bh the^fe.spbnsibleen

The bpntfa'ctpr identified jh" Section:. 1;3 of the G.enefal Prpyisiphs;a^ by signatureiOf the Cpntraclbr's
represehtatiye.as identifiedln Section 1,11 and. Tlirof the General/Prpvjsipns, to execute the fbllowing
'certification;' .'i' '

1". "By sighing arid subrriitting:this contract, the Contractor agrees-to-make reasonable efforts'to corriply
•withallapplicable provislons'of PubliCiLaw 103-227, PaftC, known as the,PforChildren Actof 1:994-

Contractor Name:

-OoeuSigiMd by:

3/2/2022 /Ux>ruics, M
Date Merrens. md

Title; Chief clinical officer

ExhibjlH-:Ceftincation'Regarding Conlracibf IniHals-
EnvironmenlaJ tobacco Smoke 3/2/2022

CLi®:HH^no7i3i PagVliof I Date
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BUSINESS ASSOCIATg'AGRFFMFNT

The;^ntractpr jdentified In Sectlbn -1:3'6f the Geherai Provisions of the,-Agreement (Form P-37)
("Agreement") agrees; as.a Business Associate, to comply with the Health insurance Portability -
and:Accountability Act, Public Law 104-V9llthe Standards.W'Privacyiah Security of'
Individually IdentifiatjIe.Health'Jhfortnatioh, 45 CFR Parts '160, 'i62,:and 164 '(HIPAA)!^
proyisipns of the HITEGH, Act.Title X.III. Subm Parts 1&2:df the Anierlcan Recovery" and
Relhyestmeht Act of 200,9, 42 USG 17934. et sec., applicable to business associates.-ahd as
appIicable.;to bp bound by the "proyisions:oif the Confidentiality of .Substance-yse'bis^
Pat|ent^Records,.42 USG s. 290=dd-2, 42 GFR Part 2, (Part 2), as any may be amended frorn
time to time.

.(1) Definition's.

a, "B^usiness" Associate-shall mean the Gontractor.and its agents-who receive, use, orhave
iaccesjs to, protected health information (PHI) as-defined in 'thls Business. Associate
.AgfeementyBAA"j:and the.Agreemeht, and "Covered Entity shall mean (he-State of New
. Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services. "

,b., the following termsihaye tHOame meaning as defined in HI.PAA.- the HITECH Act. and
Part;2.^as they rh'ay be amerided.from time to time:

"Breach,"■^Covered Entity;- --Desighated Record Set,"'"Data Aggregation;"
■ besighated Record Set;"-Health ;Care .'Operations,''' HITECH Act," "Individual;"

"Pnvacy.Rule,"'"Required by law," "Security Rul and*"Secretary;'

c;. '"Protected'Health Information'' (■PHI")as used in;-this^Agreement means protected health
Information defined in" HIPAA 45 GFR i sp. lbs.-limited to .the information created, received,
-or used by Businessi Associate ffoni of on behalf of .Covered Entity; end jhcludes any part"
>2 records relating to substance use disorder, if applicable, as defined.belOw.

d. "Part:2 record""mean.s any-patient "Record," relating to a "Patient;"tand "Patlent--.ldentifyirig
Irifofmetion.''as defiried in 42i.CFR Part 2.11.

e^. "Unsecured Protected Health Irifbfmatioh'Vieearisprotected health information that js npt
secured bye;technology.etandard that renders'protected health.lriforrTiatioh.unusable',
unfeadable, pT,indecipherable'tp.,unauthprized;individua^ is developed orendPreed by•
a standards deveioplhgprganization.that is accredted,;by.the,Arr»erlGan National Standards
InstitLiCe.- '

.(2). .Buslhess Associate:Use of Protected- Health Information,

a, Business Associate shall hot use, .disclose, maintajh; store,..ofTfahsmIt Protected Hgilth
Infprmatlpnf(PH!) except as reaspnably.'necessary to provide the-sefvices outllnefdrundPi
Exhibit B. Scbp,e:pf Services, of the Agreement, fjurther, Business;Associate,- Ihcr-*^^

•ExWbki. Controctbr'liiitiils

HeaUh Insurance PortabilTtrAct 37,2/2022''
.DusinesX^socbte^re^^ Date. ' '
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but nol^iifViited tp all itsidirectors, bfncers,:employees, and agents, shall pro^ any PHI as

;  hy HIPPA and 42 CFR f^rt. 2.*and not use, disclose, maintain, store; cm- fensmrt
any mannerthatMould,constitute a violation of Hi'PAA

b. ■ .BusinessAssociatemayuse:or;disclos0 PHI, as applicable:;
\, Fer tile proper rnanagernenj :an,d;adfT!inistrat^^
li. ,,As required by law,, pursuant to the termsset forth in paragraph c. arid d

below;;

III. According to the, HIPAA minimurn necessary standard; and:
-  ' i V- For data "aggregation purposes for the health careioperations of the Covered

'x '

iC. To the e)dent;Business Associate is:perrnltted under the BAA or the Agreement to'
discjose PHJ, to any third party or subcontractpr,' prior to making any disciosure, the
BusJ.ness;AsSOciate.must obtain,0 business assoclate.agreement .with the third pa^^^^^^

that cbmplles'with HIpAA and ensures that all fequiremehts and
^restrictions: placed on the'Business Associate as part of -thls BM wjth the^Covered Entity ,-
are .Included in;thpse;business associate'agreements vyith the;third party or Subcpntra^^

'd- The Business Associate shall hot, disclose any PHI in response to a feguest or demand
;fof, dlscIosurei:Such' as by a subpoena,or court order, on the basis that it is required by
:law.;withput first notifying.Covered Entityeo that,Covere^^

If ̂ vere,d:Ehtity objects.to the disclbsure, the'Busihess Assodiate,agrees.
jto refrairiTrbm disclosing the" PHI and shall cooperate withrthe:Covered Entity In any.effort
^the Covered Entity undertakes Jp contest the request for disclosurei subpoena^ or otfier
I.^Qaf prpcessiilf applicable reiating to Part.2 recPrds, the Business Associate shall resist
any efforts to access part^2 record in ariyjudlciarpfoc'eedihg. ' •

(-3)

a. Associate shall irhple'mertt appropriate safeguafds.'to prevent uhauthoiized
use.or disclosCifeof.all PHI in accordance vvith HIPAA:Privacy-,Rule and'.Security Rule
with regard tpdiectrpnic, PHI, and Part 2',>as appK

■ .b- The.,Business AsSoplate.shall Jm notify.the Covered' Entity's:PriVacy Officer at
the fpllowlrig emair.address. "DHH'SPrivacvOfncPr@dhhs:rih.aPv after the Bijslness;
-Associate hasdejerm^ use of disclosure hot'provided for by Its. coritract,
'including any khpwm.bf "suspected^ p or security incident or-breach has.pccurred
,potentially exposing of cprnprpmi'sing the .PHI. This Includes^inadvertent or accide.nt^
uses ordisciosures of breaches.of unsecured protected health i'rifprifhatjoh.

0- .lo.the event o.f a breach,- the'.Business Associate shall comply with.'the.terms ofthis
Business^Asspciat all appiic.ab.ie.etate:and federal laws.andVreguTatlons;
ahd any-additiodal requifemehts of the" Agreement.

Exhibjt I Cbntract'orinltlals.

••—pi

Health insurance Portability Act '3/2/202 2
BusinessAVsociatpAs^eemerit Oatc
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d. The"Busihess ;AsspcJat^^^^^^ perfprm^a risk as.s.essmenl, based on^the information
ayailabie:at tHe'tlme It becdrhes.awafe of any known or suspected" prlyacy .or security
breach as described-above arid cbmmunicate the risk assessrilent -tP the Covered

.Entity. The risk ̂ assessment .shall Include,- but not.be lirhlted to:

I. Thelnature and e)dent:pf the'protected'health InforrnatTon involved, including-.the
types of Ideritlfiers and the likelihood of re-lderitlficatlbri;

l|; The'unauthprized person who accessed, used, disclosed, or- received the
protected'jhealth'info^^

III. VVhetherthe:pro.tected;health:lriformatiori w/as actually acquired oryiewed: ,and
.  iy.. How the risk'ofloss of confidentialitY'to.the protected health

iinfprmation;hasbeen rnlflgated.

e. The Business Associatershall complete a risk assessriieh't 'report at the conclusjon of its
ijncldent pr breachjhvestigation and provide the findings ih'a writtenjeport.to thO
Covered Entity aS;Spon as p.racticable after the cpncjuslon of the Business Associate's
iriyestlgalloh.

f. BuslnessAssociate shall rnake aVailable.all of Its irilernarp6llcles.,ahd procedures, book's
end recolds reiatlng tp^he us,e and disclosure of PHI received from, or created of
Tecelved'by.the.'BUslri'es On.b'ehairof Cbvere^^^ US Secretary of
'Health and'HUman^Servlces.for.purposesdf.deteriftiningthb Business Associate'send
^theCoyered .Entity's compliance with HIRAA.and the Privacyerid Sebufity Rule, arid
Part'2..if appiicable. . -

:g. 'BuslnessAssociate shall fequlfe ail of its business.asspciates.that receive, use.pr have
access tp.PH|,under.the BM or'the Agreement, to.agree in writing to adhere to the
same' res.trictip.ns and'Cpnditipns on the use and disclosure of PHI contained he'relri;

. ;including.the;duty;to,return or destroy the PH'i as provided under Section (3}n, and an
agreerfienl th"at.the:Coyefed-Entity shall be considered a difect third party beneficiary of:
the'Business Associ.ate's;business associate agreemerits with Business Associate's
ihtended business as.s(xiates,^ PHrpursuantto thls BAA, with'

.Tights of erifp'fbem'ent apd.indemriiftcatlon from such business:associates vyho'shall be',
goyefried by standafd'provisiori #13 of this. Agfeemehf for the purpose:;of-use; and
disclp,sure'pf.:prptected .health information.

h. Within .ten;.(l6) business days of receipt of a vyritten request from Govered'Entity,
Busiries's. Asspcialte'.Bhall,m'a.k^ normal business hou.rs at Its offices all
re^Oofds, books; agreemerits. .pdlicies.arid procedures relating tb tine, use and disclosure
of .Fyni io the^Cpyered'-Entityi for purposes of. enabling;Goveredl.Entity'to: deterrnine'
Business Associate'scomppance with Iheterms Of. the. BAA andithe Agfeefnerit.

j. ^ Wi.thln ten:.(;i 0) buslhess.days of fecelving.a writteri request ffom,.Cpyered Enti^,.
Business Associafe ,shall:proyide;access to PHI in a Designated Re.cofd Set'to the
Govered Entity, or as .directed by Covered. Entity, to.,an Individualjn order to fneet the
requifemerifs uridef':45 CFR Section " '

ExNbit I iConiractorlnltlalj

Health Insurance Portability Act: 3/2/-2622
^Business./Associate Agreement bate " ' - .
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]; Within'ten" (10j;busine;ss days"of receiving ,a:written re^uest.frpm; C6vered,Ent_ity for an,
am'ehdment ofPHI or a record about an indivjdua! contained In a Designated Record
^Set; the Business'Xsspclate shaji rTia^e'SUCh PHI available to Cpyered Entity fo/'
Ompridment and incorporate any such arnendment to enable Coyera^^
Obligations urider'45;CFR"Section 164,'^

k. BusinessiAssociate shall document any dlsclosures of PHI and'informatipr)' related to
any disclosures as syould be'required for ̂ vered,Entity to respond to a request-by an
'Indlvlduai'fof an accounting of disclosures of.PHI ih accordance with 45 CFR'Section
■1.64:528.

,1: Within fen (1 Oj 'business days^^ receiving ia>'rjften request.frpm Covered Entity fora
xequest fof^an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall.rnake available.
,;to,Covered Entity sucH lnfofrhatioh as.'Covefed Entity'may require to-fulfill its obligations.
:fp; proyide' an-adcppHting of disclosures vvlth respect to.PH) in accordance vyith 45 CFR
^Section; 164.528.

rh; .In-the event any.:ihdividual requests access to. aniehdrneht of, or accounting of PHI
■- -directly from ifeBusiness. Asspciate, the Business Associate shall vyithjn.fiye (5),

•business days'forward such" request to .Goyered Entity. Covered' Entity shairhaye. tb'e
responsibility Of resporidihg to 'fonwarded requests; :HQweve^ If forwarding the
iindividual's.fequest to Cbvefed'Entity would cause Covered Eritityof the Business

■/Associate to vjplate HIPM and the Privacy and Security Rule, the BusinessAssociate
ishall instead respond id'the indivjduars request 'as r by such'jayy and notify
Covered Entity, df.such'respohse as soon as practicable.

in-.; . Within thirty (30) business days of termination of the AgreeniGnt, for any reason, .the
'Buslhess AssoCiWte.shall return or destroy. as specified by Covered Entity; all PjHI
fecejved,;fromldr createdphrecelv.ed ;by the. Business Assdclale In conneclioh'with the
Agreement, and shall nofretain anyTCopies or back-ups of such PHI in any foTrfi or
plaffprrn.;

I. .irreturnorde'structipn.ls hot.feasible, orthe dispbsltlpn.of.fhe P has
•been plherwiseragreed/tointhe Agfeemeht, Business Associate shall

■ continueito:e>dend the:protections:df the Agree aqd limjt
further uses arid discjosures-pf such PHI to'those'pujposes that make" the
retOrn ordest'ructiohJnfea.sible for as long.as the Busilnese, Asspciate
malritams.such PHI. If.Cb'vered Entity, in its sole discrefloh, requires that
•the Busiiiess Associate destroy any:6r all PHI,^the Business Associate
shall certify to Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed,-

:(4) ;0blidatl6ns of Covered Entity

^^vered.Entity-shall notify Business Associate of any changes-or ljrnitation(sy in 'lts;
•Notice of Privacy Rractices proyld.ed to indiyrduais in accordance with AS/CFR ^ePt^
164;.520, to the e^eht-that-such change Gnliniitatibn m'aylaffeet Business Assbciate'a
lusepr. disclosure of PHf. A" currenf.version of Covered .Entity's Notice of Privacy '

Exhibit I Cohiractorlhlttols-

:Hcalth insura_n;ce_Po^^^ ^3/2/2022
Ousincss Associate Agreement Pate ' '
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Pracilces and any changes thereto will be posted on "the Covered Entity's website:,
httPs:/yviA^.dhhs.'hh.qovyoos/hiDaa/Dublications.'htm

b. Covered Eritity shall promptly nbtify-Bu'siness Associate oif anyvchangesin, or revocation
of permjssion prpylded to Cpyered Entity by individuals.whose PHI may be used or
disclosed byrSusiness Associate under t)ils BAA. pursuant.'to45 CFR'SectionI64:506
or 45 CFR.Secti6h;i;6.4;5d8.

'c. Covered.entity shall promptly notify Business Associate pf any restrictions on the.lise or
;disciosure of,PHI that Covered Entity hasagreed toin accprdance.wlth 45 CFR;i64;522,
Ito.theaxtent.th'at suph restriction rhay'affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
:phi. ■ ■

(5)

jn additipn; to'Paragraph 9'of the General Pfovislons {P-37) bf the.Agfeerheht, the.
•Coyered.Entlj^ may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Cov.e'red!Entity's
knowiedge ofa materlal\,breach by BusIness Asspciate.of.the.Buslness'Asspci^
•"Agreemeht. The'Covered Entity"may either Immediately terminate, the Agreeriieht or
proyidevan.pppprtunity for Business Associate to cure the alleged breach;Within a
timefrarne specified by Covered Entjty.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Defihltions. Laws, and Regulatory References. All laws.and regulations used, herein,
shall refer to those laws and regulations as arriended from time to tirne.-A reference in.
•the Agreemeht.as amended to include this Exhlbit'l, to,a-Section in HiPM or'42:Pari 2,
imeans tVie Section as In effect or as amended.

b. .Amendments Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is;
hecessaiy Ib arrieridStha BAA, from time to.'time.-as. is necessary for Cpyered Entity
:and/or Business Associate to comply with the.changes in the.requiferriehts of
HIPAA, 42 eFR:,P'aft:2 other applicable federal and statejaw.

c. Data Qwhershio. The-Business Associate acknowledges that it has no pwr;ier;shjp rights
with.respect'tOithe^PHI provided by or created :oh behalf of Covered Ehtiiy.

d. Interpretation. The partles;agree that,,any ambiguity in the'BAA.and the Agreement'
shall be resolved to permit Covered .Entity arid the Business Associate:^© comply with
HIPAAand42CFRPaH2..

Exhibit r Xbhtractorlnltlals

Health Insurance Pofiabjiiiy^ct 3/2-/2,022'
Business Associate Agreement Oatc
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e. ..^greaation.. If anv; term orgbbdltion of this BAA, brthe.application thereof.to. any
pbrboh(s)-:bf,circumstahce.is held Invalid, such Invalidity shalhnpt affect other terrns or
conditions whlch:can^be:giyen effect vyithout.thejnvalld term br cpndjtlon; to this ehdihe
teirns and cpnditlorls'of this Exhibit I are d

Survi\^al. Prbvlslbhs Ih thls BAA regarding the use/and disclosure of PHI, return or
'destfuctibn'.pf PHI, extensions pf-the prptectlpns'df the BAA In s^ctipn'fsjj; the"
'defense and indemnltet|on provisions of secllpn'(3) ;e arid Paragraph. 1 'i, otthe
General Provisions (P-37) of the Agreement, shair.survive the termlnatlbn of the B^A

IN vyiTNESS.WHEREOF, the partles hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

Oepadmcnt.pf Health and Human Services D'artmbuth-Hitchcock

1".

^fpu9^»^biCpn.tractor

SignatiireoTAufhorized Representative -Slgrtature'bfAQthorlzed.Representaflye- '

Joseph T. .eari'sti Edward J. Merrens, md

Name.bf Authbrlzed.Repfesehtatlve

chief Financial Officer^, nh Hospital

Name of Authorlzed'Representative'

Chief Clinical officer

Title pf Authorized Rep'resehtatlve

3/2/2022

Title of Authorized Representative

3/212022

•Date :Date

Exhibit:! Contractorlnliials G
Health'Insurance Pbrtabj
lOuslness Associate Agreement Date.

3/2/2022.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCQUNTABILtTY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT IFFATAI COMPLIANCE

The^ Federal Funding Accbuntability''arid Transparency Act (FFAIA) requires prime awardees of ihdivTduai
Federal grants equal.to or greaterThari S25,0,0,0.,arid awardedv0h;0r after October .1, 2dl0/to report on
data related to executive comRen^^^^ arid associated firstttier sul>Tgrarits,of.$25.000.dr rnore. If lhe
Iriitial award is beJow'$25;Ciob but subsequent grant modificatipns. resuit in a total av^rd equal:tp .or over
$25;000,ithe award Is^subjisct to the FFATA reporting,requirements, as of the date of the'award..
In accordarice,with'2 CFR Part-170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation irifonmation).*the
pepartmerit df Health and l;furrian:Services.(DHHS) niust repbrt:the folfpwing InfprmatipnTor any-
sUbaward pr Mritract award sutjject'to the'FFATA reporting requirements:
1., Name of entity
•2, Ampuntpf award
3; !^Funding'agency'
4; NAIGS a)de for contracts'/CFpA program number for grants
5". . Program source" /
6. Award title descriptive of.the purpose of the.fundihg action'
7: Locatiph of the entity-
8.. Principie;placeofperf6rman^
9., tJniqueidenbfierof^t^^^^^
i d. Total compensatipn:and names of the top five executives if:

idfl, MpreitH.an .80®% of annual grpssT^^^^ are;from the Federal gbverrirherit. and those
revenues'are :g reater than;$25Me

'10.2. Goriipehsatlbn.infbrrhaUpn is not ajready avaiiable through reporting to the SEC.

Prirne grahtTecipierits must subrriit FFATA required data.by the end of themonth.,plus'3d'days, in which
.the award prawardameridm'en^^
The Gpntractoridentified jh of,the General Provisions agrees to cbriiply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accouritabiji^ Transparehcy Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law Tl0?252i
and 2;CFR Part1,70 (Reporting Subaward and Exe'cutiye C.orhpehsation information), and further agrees ■
to have the Gontractoris repfesentetiye. as identified in Sectlpns i. i' 1.:an'd 1. i2:of.the'Generai Provisions
execute the follovving •Gertificetlon:
The below.named Conlractbrayees provide needed information as outlined above to ,the,NH
Departmerit.of Health'.and Huriiah Services, arid to conipiy with all applicable provisions of the-Federai
Fmanciai.Accpuntabiiity and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name;

by:.

,3/2^2022
Date ■" ^ md ^

chief Clinical Officer

,  j -7 CertifKalton R^arding tho FoderalFundlf^ Cohtra^or IhiUab
Accouhlability AndTrahsparericy Act(FFATA) Compliarice' 3/2/2022'

:cuonn5/iio7t3 Pagelbf?;" paie -
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FORM A
1  , •

As.the Cpntractprldenlifjed.in Section i.3.of the General Provisions, I certify that the responses to tlie
below listed questjpns are true and accurate.^

qVl>(6RHDAql4;
1. the DUNS number for your entity is: ;

'2. In your, business orprganizatiohls preceding compteted fiscal year, did your business or organization
'/eceiye{1).8p.percent br.mpre.of your annuai,grosS;;.reyenue In U;S;.federajc^
loans,.grarits.'SUb'-grarits. and/pr cooperative agreements; and t2);$25,bo0.'000 or more in annual
.grqsVreVenbe's frpm u!s/federarcontracts. subcontracts, loans; graritf,:subgrarits, and/or '
■cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer tO;#2 above Is;.n6; stop here

Itthe answer to #2 abpye is-YES, please answer the following:

:3. Doesihe public tiave access .to information.aboutthe compensation :6f,the executlyeelri your- •
buslheiss or organization through periodic reports filed under sectjon 13(a) or 15(di of the Securities
Excharige.Act df'l934 (15 U:S;C..78m(a); 780(d)) Or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

,n6 YES

If the answer to;#3 above is'YES, stop here

If the:answer to #3 above is NO". please:answer the'fOllowing:

4. The hames and .compehsatibn of the fiy.e most highly cpmpensated officers jri your business^or
organization are" as follows;

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

■Amount:^,

Amount:.

Ampuht:..

Amount:.

AnrKiunt:

:CWOHHS/110713

E^jbjt.J -i.Certilication Regaining the~Federal.Fun"ding
.A^u.nlabllity^A^^ Transparency;Ad (FFATA);.Cornp!iahce .

Page 2 ,of 2: -

Conlractor Initials-

OS

Date
rnnoii
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= New Hampshire bepartmeht of Health and Human Seh?ices

DHHS Security Requirements

ExHlbit'K

A. bcfihitions

' Thefollowing tenns may be renected and have the^described meaning in this.documeni:

1. ''Brcaci^^me^s the loss ofcbntrbl,/compromise,:uhaiithorized disclosure,.
"nauUibrized acquisition, unaudiorized access, or any similar term'referring Iq
■situations >sdTere persohs other than authorized users and for ah othcrthan'aUthorized
jpurppse have accessor potential access to personally identifiabieJnfonnatiO
whethertphysicaj or electronic. With regard to Protected Heajlj/lnform^^
"breach" shall havc.thc'Samc meanihg-as'the term "Breach" in section.I64.402:;of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. Compuier.Security Incident" shall have the samc meaning "Computer'Security
Incideht'Mn^seclion two(2).ofNIST Publication 80"0-'6fedmputef'Sechnly"Ihc "
.Handling Gii.icie, National Institute o'f Standards and Technplogy,' U.S. Department
ofGommerce; ' '

"Gohfidentiai Inforhiation," "Conndeiuiai Data," or "bata'"(as defined in Exhibit K),
mean.s-aU.cpnfidentialjnfprmatm partydp the other such as all
medical, healths/financial,public assistance benefits and personal informatibn,
includirig Avit^put liraitatioh, Substance Abuse Treatm'ent Records, Gase Records,
Prptected Health Information and Personally Identifiable Inforniatipn"
Confidential Information also;hicludcs any and^all information^owned or managed by
die State of:NH -.created, received from or onbbHalf of the D.epartment.of Hcallhand
y  5?i*vice_s (DHHS) pr accessed in tlie course of perforrning contracted.services
- of which coliectiohjdiscloisure/,protection, and disposition is governed by^state or
federal law or fbgulatiph. This ihfonnatioh ih^ but iS not limited to Prptected
Health Ipfqrm (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Informatiph
(P-FJ)/ iPedcraf ̂  (FTI), :Sbcial Security Numbets (SSN), Payiherit^Gard
.hjdustry (PGI); and orpther sensijive andtonfidentmlUnfor^

■End .Usef";mean's any person or entity (e.g., contractor's employee, business
assPCiate, subcpntractpr, ptHer downstream user, etC;)That recei ves,bHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the-tcrms of this Contract-

"HIPAA" means the Health Insurance PPrtability and Accountability Act of 1996,and
thp. regulations: prpmulgafed

6-, ap act that potentially yiplates a seeurity pblicyjAvhich includes^
success.fufaltempts)Tb gain access tO;a systemqr its data, iinwianted
disruption .pr.denialqf service, the, unauthorized use o'f:a.systcmTpr the proces^^r:

ExWbll K' Contractor Iniilats
.D^HHS Infomiallbh
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storage of data; and changes to system hardwarCj'firmware,/or software
characteristics withbut .the owner's.kihbwlcdge, instruction, or consent, incidents-
■;ihclude,the loss .of data, through theft or device misplacement, lessor misplacement of
hardcopy documentSj andhnisrouting of physical orclectronic documents or mail.y

' * V

7. •■'•*Open^Wirelcss Network" rneahs;any:hctwork orscghicnt of a network thafis:
,riOt: designated by the State, of New :Hampshire's Department/of rnformation
TTechnologycor delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, ahd-approved,
by means.of the State, to transmit) :\viU be. consi'dered an ppen .network and not "

.  adcfluatply seeure the .transmission of uneticrypted PI, PFI^ PHI or
confidenliaii'DHHS data.

8., . "PersOhal Ihformalion" (or "RI") means informatfOh whjch cahibe.used.to, distinguish
trace" qnlndiyiduat's identity,;,s as.lheir name, social securilynumbcr, pemonal

.information as'defined, in New Hampshire RSA'359-C;i.^, biometric records, fctc.,
:albhe,vbfwhen^ or identifying inforrnah

«"linked or Ijnkable. io n'specific individual, such as dale and place of birtli, mother's
maiden name, etc.

■9. "RrivacyiRuic" shalfmean the Standards forPrjvacy of individually Identifiable
'Hdpl.th lnfprmation at 45 G.F.R. Parts 160'and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the ,
United States Department ofHcalth and Human Services.

10. "Prbtected Health Information" '(or "PHI") has,the same meaning asr.provided in the
definition/of "Protected Health Infomiation" in the HIPAA Pfivacy Rule at 4iG F R
§; 166.-103.

11. "Security Rurc'^shalLmcanUie'Security.Sla Protection pFEIcctronic
,Prpiecled.Health Infonnation al.45 G.F.R. Pail 164.,Su'bpart d,"^ahd ^ibendmehts
•thereto.

.12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means,Protected Health Ihforihatibn.4hal.is
hot' "secured by a technology .standard that renders Protected Healih Information
MhSablc, .unfeadaW^^^^^ unauthorized individuals and is/devcloped

■or endorsed by-a"standards-developing organization that is,accrcdited-by,the American
National Standards. Ihstilhtc.

1. I^SPONSIBILTTIES PF pHHS AND THE GONTRACTOR

A- Business Use and Disclosure of Gonfidential Ihfofmatioh.

-I. The Gontfactof-must hot use,.disclose, mainlaih;br.transmit ^ Infortrfon

'^^'' 2P2P , Jxhibll K ContractorinlHats
DHHSJnformallon.
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3.

■except as reqpircd^pf pCrmitied under this Contract or required^by law,; Fuilher,
:Contractor,;inp!udihg:b^t not limited icalMts directors, oflicers, employees,and
lagents,.must not,use, disclose, maintain or transrhit PHI ih-anyimanher-tiiat'^v.buld
bpnsti.bte a violation pf tbe Privacy and Security Rule.

Cohtfacior must hot disclosc'any Confidential Information in response.to'a-
request fbrdisclpsure oh the basis.that'il isfequired by law, in response to a'siibpberia
etc-i .withoutIfirst notifyingpHHS so
object to the [disclosure. '

ThejCoritractbr a'gre^^ thai'DHHS, Data;0r dehyati ve there from disclosed .to ,an End
Usehmust only be used pursuantto the teims of this Contract.

ll: METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Appji-cation ;Encryprioh. If-Cphtractof is tranMittihg DHHS Data ,0-ohtaining,
■Cpnfidentini.pata^betAveen applications. fhe^C the:applicatip^^^^®y?',h3ted by an expert knowledgeable in cyber 'Seciirily'^.and. that' said
application.s ehciyptioh capabilities,ensufe sccure.trahsmission Via the internet.

2. Cbmputer.Dishs ahd'Portable Storage Devices;. CohtractorThay ho't;hsc computer dibks or
portable; storagc:dcvices,;Sup^^ a thumb drive, as a methpd;pf.trahsmitlihg DHHS. Data.

.3. Encrypted Emqjl: Contractor'may oiily employ email tprtrajismirGonfidentiai Data if
email is encrypted and being sent-to and.beihg received by emaikaddresses of persons

.authbfized to receive such'.ihfbrmation.
■4; .Enqry-pted Web; Site., iTC^^^ employing'the Web to transmit Confidential

Data, the:securc:spckeMayers, (S.S.i;) musl be used and .the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data .transmitted via a Web site.

Hosting Services, :als6 known as File [Sharing Sites. Cohtractor ihay hot usc. fi ie
hosting services, such-asDfqpbbx or Google Cloud Storage,'to transmit ConFidehtial
Data; -f. -

Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
fS'Ound.mail witHih the cohtiheiital U.S. and \vheh,seht.tO;'a'riamed ihdividUaj.

?•, .Laptops ^d ,PDAv ;If Gpntraclor is; employing 'portable d'evjces to transmit
Confidentia] Data; said/devices must be cncrypted and passwordrprotectcd.

'S: Dpen-Wireless.Nefworks. Contractor may not transmit Confldential Data via an open
wifeless' network. End User fniist employ a virtual, private- network' (VPN) when
,femptely,;irarismittih'g.yia.an vvireless; network.

9r, .Remo.te User Communicatipn. If Gontfactpr is emplpying/fempte cpnhnuhjcalidajtp

^4I.:2020 exhlbilK Contractorlnlllals
DHHS infoTOStion '■
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■access'or transinit Confidehtial Data, a secure.'method of.li'ansiTiissibn orrverhbtc-
acc'fess,!which complies with the terms and condition's 6f;Exhibit:K, must be used.

10:;SSH:'File transfer Prbtbcb^ Secure File'Transfer ,Pfotpc
;Gohtractpr;is;employing aji,SFTP tO.t'ransmit'Confid.cri^^
structure"the Folder and access privileges to preveni inapRropriale disclosure of
information. '.SI^P'folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data wiji
.be coded for 24diour:auto^delelion:cycle (i.e. Confidential Dat'a wiil be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Deyices.Tf Contractor is tfarisiiiittihg Confidential Data via wireless devices, ail
data:must be encrypted, to prevent ihappropriatc disclosure ofinforiilatiOn.,.

III. REtEIVTION AND DISPOSITION GF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

th? Contractpr'iwill only retain pHWS Data and any deriyaiivepf the data for the duration of
dhisLCbntracL After such time, the Contractor wiil have tiii'rty (3.0;i days to, destrpy ihedata
and imy derivative ihAvhate fOriti it may exist,.unless, o,ther\viiie,i^quired by law or,- if i,t is
rinfeasibje tp return, or destroy DHHS Data. 'prpt^iions are extended to such information,- in
.acCordahce with thc-termination provisions in this Scctibri. to this end, thclparties hiust:

A. Retention

I - The Coniracloragrces;it will not stoje, transfer or process data collec,ted in
connection wiUiTlie services rendered under this Contract outside of the'Uniled
•Sta'tes; This physical location requircmcht shali also apply ih'thejmpierhehtatioh of
cloud, computings cloud.semce or cloud storage capabijilies, and.ihciud'es backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. "The Contractor agrees to ensure, proper security mphitoringpapabilities.^Om^p^
to detect pptential security events that caii.impact State.ofNH systems and/or
Dcpartmehfcohfideritiai infQnViatiOii.fpr cOnlractor-pmyidcd systems accessed,or.
utilized .fprpurppses of carrying put this contractr

3. The Contfaclor agrecs to prpvide security awareness.aridicducatibh fof-ifi'Erid Users
jri S'uppoh ofprOtccting,DHHS Confidential information.

4. '-The Gpntractor:agrecs to retain-all electronic and hard copies of GonfidcntihTData
•ih.a secure iocaiibh and'idehtified in section IV. A.2

5. 'The Contractor agrees:Cpnfidemial Data stored in a,C!oud must be in a;
Fedl^MP/HlTEGH compliant solution and comply.with,all applicable statutes and
fegulatiohs.regarding the privacy'and security. All scivefsiend.dc^^^
cufrently-supppft^^ and hardened operating systems,,current; updated,

I
Aprt!,;2020 Exhibit K Contraclor.lnUlab "
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mmntaiiied anli-rrialware (e.g; anli-viral,.anti-hacker; ariti-spam, anti-spy\vare)
ulii.iiies. The: environi.Tierit,;aia whole, miist have aggressive ihtmsibh-det'ectio'jva^
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees Ip .and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Infonnadpn Officer in the.detection of any security vulherability'of the,
hosting infrastructure;

B.. Disposition

Ifthe Gpntractormaintains any Confidential .InTbrmationioh its. systems (or its sub-
.contractor systems) ;and it lias not dpnc.so previously, the Gpntractor will implement
policies and-procedureS|.to ehsureithat any storage inedia pii which such data niaylie
rccorcfed will be rcndercd-.unreadable and that the data will be un-rec6Verabic, wheo
tlie storageJmediMs disiiosed oT. Upon request, the GohtractprAviirprpyi^^ the
Pepartment with copies.Of these policies and.with Vvritteh documehtatiph
demohstfating cpmpliahce wiliinhfe ppHcies^ The wrilten documcntatipn wilfinclude:
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained in the'storage rncdia Kas beeh
rendered unreadable and un-recovcrable. Where applicable- regulatory and
professional-standards fofretehtiori requirements ihay be jointly evaluated by the
State and Gpntractpr prior to destmction.

1. Unless ;pther\vjse speci (led' within (hiriy (30) days of ;thc. tenninalibn of this
Contract,. Gontfactor agrees to destroy-all hard cppies of Gonfidential Data using-a
secuio-melhbd.such as shredding;

2, 'Unless otherwise specified,-within thirty (30} days orthc.'tcrmihatioh bfthis
Coriiract, Contractprragrees. to compietely destfoy^all electronic Gonfidential Data
by means of dtita erasure, also knp\yn as securc-clata wiping.

IV, PROCEbURES FOR^SECURITY

-A. Contractor;agrees to safeguard the DHHS .Paja received under, this Contract; and any
derivative data or,filesj;as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security conlrbls to:protect Department
confidential-infprmation: collected, processed, managed, aiid/6r;storedjh^the delivery
of contracted services.

2, The CQntj:actp.r .will maintain pplicie,s and procedures .'to protect. Department
■cpnfidemial information throughout the-infbrmation lifccycle, \vhcVe applicable, (fibm
creation, frahsfbrmatibh. us^^^ secure destrLictjpn) regardless^ofthe me

April, 2020 Exhibil K Contractor Inliials-
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,usea to store tliC'data (i.e., tape, disk,;paper,.etc.)..

,3. The CpnU-actpr will maintain appropnaie authenucotiPh and access controls to
■  contracior systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential infomiation

syhere applicable.

.4. If the .Contractor will be sub-contracting any.cpreifunctions ofthe engagement
suppbfUhg theservices.for State ofiNew Hampshire, lhe;Contractor,\vilI,ensure End-
User will maintain an internal process or processes that defihesspccific seciirity- '
expectations, and;m^ compliance to,security requirements tiiat at a minimum
match th6se.-forthe Cdhtractor, including breach notificatibh requiferiiehl's;

5. The Contractor, will work with the Department to sign and^cpmply with alXiapp'Ipabje
■Statc-of-New Hampshire and-Departmenlsystdra access and'authorization policies and
■prdcedures, sysfeihs-access forms, and computer useagfeements as part bfiobtaihing
:and mainlining access.to any Departm system(s). Agreements will be cdmpleted
'and signed by theieontfacldr and any applicablc sub-con'tractors pribf to system access
being authorized.

6. If the Department dctcrmines lhe Contractor is a Business Associate-pursuant tb:;45
CFR 16.0.1.03; the Cohtfactof will bxccutc a HtPAA 'Business'Assbciate-Agfcemeht
(BAA) with lhe'Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor w'ill .npt store any State'bf New Hariipshire of Department data"
offshore or outside'the boundaries of the Unit^ States-unless prior-cxprcss written
con'serit is obtained from thelnfomiati'on Security OffiCe leadership m'embcf within
the Departrnent.

'8. Data Security Breach 'Liability ,In the.evehl of any co.mputeraecufity'incident^
incident, pr'.hreach Contractor shall make.efforts to investigatcthe causes of t
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breachiand minimize. any damage or
Joss" resulting; frOrn the breach. The 'State shall'recpyeffrofh the^Qbhtfactof all'c^^^^
response and recovery from tlie breachj includihg:6ut not limited ib: credit,mbriiip.nng
'ser\'ices, mailing costshnd cPsts asspciated with website and telephpne call center
services ne,ces'safy duCdp thc breach.

9. Cohtfactof must, comply-with all.applicable statutes and regulationsTCgardirig^lhe
ppyacy.and.s;ecurity of Qonfidentiai Iriformation, aiid must in all plh'et rC.s'pec.ls"
mainlain the privacy and security ofPl and PHl-afaJeycl and scope that isnpt less
than the level and.scope of, HIPAA Privacy "ahd:Securily:Ruie$ (45 C.F.R.,Pait$ 1,60.
and; 1,54) :and 42 .G.F.R.^Part 2 that gbyern protections forindiytduaHy idehtifia^ds

April, 2020 ExMbltK Contractor Initials ,
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^health jnfp.nPa.tion and as.applicable under State law.

10. Gorilractor agrees to establish and nTa.iniaih Appropriate admihis.tralivc, iecli^
physical sareguards to pjoleci the cpnfidentia|Hy of the Confidential Data and to
preyent;unaiithori2ed'.use!or access to.it. The;safeguardS:musi prp^^ a leveLand'
Acope of securityiihat is not jcss.than the level and scope of security requirements
eslablislied by ̂thc-State of.New Hampshire, Dcpiarimcnfiof Information TecIinOlogy.
Refertb;MendorResourccs/Pfocurerneni"alkttps:/Avww.hh.gov/dpi^vendor/ind
for'tke-Department of Information Tcch^^ guidelines, standards,-and
procurement irifdnnaUon relating io vendors.

M.- Coritfactof ogfeelto maintain a dbcum^ breach hotificalion;and,incident'res^
process. Jhe Cpntraclor must nptify the DHHS Securit'yi'Officc and<the.Prograrh]
Contact'. via the email addresses proyided. ih ,Section VI of this Exhibj t, iitunediately
upon the Cdhtfactor detertnining'that a' breacii or sccunty.incident has occurred and'
that DHHS confidential Iiifprmaiion/data may have been exposed pfCompfoniised.
This.includes.a confidential information biCach, computer secikily incident, or
suspected Breach which afreets or includes any Stale ofNew Hampshireisystems that
connectto the'State pfNew HampsHire;nelwork.

' 12. CohtractOr rnust,restrict access to ihe Confi.dehiial Data obtained under'this
Coritracl:tp ohly/thpse authprized End Users-whp:need such DHHS.Dala to pcffonti
their official duties in connection with puiposes identified in this Contract;

1,3,. The Contractor is,re'sponrible for Enb User 'oversight-and coinpliancc with the
terms and conditions pfilhe^contract and Exhibit K.

DHHSjCservcs.the right to cpnclucl onsite inspections.to monitor compliance:with this
Contract, including-the.privacy and security'requiremcritS;provided in herein, HIPAA,
and otherApijlicable laws.ahd 'Federal reguiatiohs uriti.l such time the Gprifidentia)P9ta
is djsposcd of in'accordance wiilr this Contract.

V; LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must immedialely.nptify the State's Privacy Officer, Information.
vSeciJrity Office and Program Manager of any Security Ihcidents and BrcachcA?as
specified in Section ly, paragraph,! 1 above.

The ConlTactor must further.handle and fepprt Incidents arid Breaches involving PHI'in
iaccordahce with DIrlHS/s'boCumented Incident Handling and Breach klptification
procedures and in accordance with^ the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules, in ad^j^pn

April. 2020 /Exhibit K Cbnlreclor Initials,
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tp,-^d np'tvyithstanding, Contractor's compliance with.ail applicable obligations and
pfbcediires, Cbntractor's procedures.rnUsl aliso address, how !die Contractor w

1. identify incidents;

2. petemiine if personally identifiable infomiatipn is involved in Incidents;

3. JFteport suspecTed or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and detemine nsk?bascd responses to Incidents; and

•5. 'Dbterniine^vhelher Breach noiificaiibn is required, aiidi if sp,.identify appropriate
, .Breach notification methods/timing,,source, and cpnlcnts; from among djjTerem

options, and tjcar costs associated with the Breach notice as well as.any mitigation
measures.

.•Incident's an^of Brea^ implicate Pl musl be addfessed.and reported, as
applicable, in acCprdahce with RS.A 359.-.C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS "contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:

DHHSIhfonhaiiphSj2curity6ffice@dhhs;.hh.gP.y

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues;

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

.0. DHHS-COhfaCt for Information Security issues:

i)HHSJnf6nnatjonSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh,gpv

p. pHHS c'phtact for Brcachpotificarions:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhlis.nh.gov

PH HSPrivacvOfficer@dhhs.Tih.gov

•o«
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